
COMPOSITE OF ADATA FILES IN ONE FILE 
 

         ADATA.001   THE ANDREA COLLECTION ON THE WOODWARD FAMILY 

         (WITH ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY ROBERT HILL SR). 

 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: THIS DATA WAS COMPILED BY LEONARDO 

         ANDREA (now deceased) OF COLUMBIA, S.C. IN 1953 FOR THE 

         FOLLOWING PERSONS... 

         Mrs. Maude W. Bogges             Mrs. Julian L. Johnson 

         Jackson, Mississippi             748 Euclid Ave 

                                          Sullins College 

         Mrs. John Winters Julian         Bristol, Virginia 

         1801 West 35th Street 

         Pine Bluff, Arkansas 

 

         Mrs. Pauline Woodward 

         2501 North Talbot Street 

         Indianapolis, Indiana 

 

         MR. ANDREA OFTEN MADE COMMENTS TO THE ABOVE AS WELL AS 

         COMMENTS REGARDING DATA HE FOUND...ALL SUCH COMMENTS WILL BE 

         INCLUDED.   MY OWN COMMENTS WILL BE IN BOLD PRINT.  (VIZ: 

         THOMAS WOODWARD). 

 

                        WOODWARD FAMILY OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

         1 

          This data has been compiled by me from the South Carolina 

         State Archives in Columbia...Plus some data sent to me by 

         each of the clients..plus some additional data which will 

         later be added as it is taken from the various S.C. County 

         Seats...The surname is spelled as 

                   WOODARD         and           WOODWARD 

         and the first form is used by some Woodward Families and 

         mainly in the coastal areas of S.C. 

         2 

          The wide margin is for punching and for a binder...The 

         margin numbers are for cross references...This work is what I 

         term a "Kittypot" in that each client takes a carbon copy as 

         a work sheet...Then as the study goes forward, each client is 

         to make her comments on any item number which she thinks may 

         help in clearing her line...The Archives data is far from 

         complete and has to be aided by work in the county seat court 

         houses...The will abstracts are from the WPA copies, on file 

         here in Columbia. I usually find these with the original 

         wills on file in the county court houses. Also in the files 

         with the original wills are usually some very helpful data 

         which supplements the wills. 

         3 

          Mrs. Pauline Woodward of Indianapolis, is not in this 

         kittypot..she came to Columbia and engaged me to work with 

         her in trying to find the WOODWARD lineage for her two 

         daughters...I will add this data to the paper however for it 



         may give an excellent clue for some of you...Mrs. Pauline 

         Woodward was originally from New Orleans, La...She married 

         WILLIAM ARCHIBALD WOODWARD, a native of Barnwell County S.C. 

         and a former resident of Columbia, S.C....He was born 18 May 

         1885 and by his marriage to Mrs. Pauline Woodward had issue 

         of two daughters and it is their lineage Mrs. Woodward was 

         trying to prove...Her Woodward line removed from Fairfield 

         Co., S.C. to Barnwell ca. 1800...The famous writer Woodward 

         of Aiken S.C., who died recently, was of the same family. 

                      Her line is as follows: 

         1.  WILLIAM ARCHIBALD WOODWARD born 1885 wed as his 3rd wife 

         Miss Pauline____________ of New Orleans, La. son of 

 

         2.  JOHN BUNYAN WOODWARD and his 2nd wife, Mrs. Reedy nee 

         Eugenia Isabelle Boughman...son of 

 

         3. WILLIAM LUCIUS WOODWARD and his wife, Margaret McLemore of 

         Barnwell County S.C....son of 

 

         4. JAMES ALLEN WOODWARD and his wife, Louisa Walker who 

         resided in Barnwell County S.C.....son of 

 

         5. JAMES WOODWARD SR. and his wife, Annie Fasler who moved 

         from Fairfield County S.C. to Barnwell Co., S.C....son of 

 

         6. RICHARD WOODWARD of Fairfield County S.C. who wed 

         ANNE_____ and her death in 1804. 

 

         7. THOMAS WOODWARD, the Regulator, wed 1st Jemima Collins and 

         wed 2nd Mrs. Elizabeth May nee Stokes...Later data shows her 

         as Mrs. May nee Simpson. 

 

         This data clarifies itself later on when I type the main data 

         of Mrs. Pauline Woodward as made from our findings. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: The above genealogy that implies that 

         Richard Woodward was son of Thomas (Regulator) Woodward is 

         wrong...I notice that Andrea stopped short of saying Richard 

         Woodward was son of Thomas, (Regulator) Woodward...HE WAS 

         NOT. Thomas was my 5th great grandfather and he had no son 

         named Richard... 

 

         4 

          Mrs Eula Terral Julian, 1801 West 35th St., Pine Bluff Ark 

         sends me her line as she has it...Mrs. Isabella Woodward 

         Johnson Terral is alive and aged 93 years...She knew her 

         parents: 

              1. EULA TERRAL wed John  Winters Julian. 

              2. ISABELLA WOODWARD JOHNSON wed Nathaniel 

                 Terrel..daughter of 

              3. ELLEN STROTHER WOODWARD wed Robert Thomas 

                 Johnson...daughter of William Woodward & Levica 

              4. JOHN WOODWARD wed Patsey Axham....son of 

              5. JOHN WOODWARD SR. wed Esther McDonald...son of 



              6. THOMAS WOODWARD wed Jemima Collins...son of 

              7. ABRAHAM WOODWARD wed Mrs. Margaret Ijous nee Waters. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr...The above is wrong| Ellen Woodward not 

         same as daughter of John Woodward, thus not part of 

         Regulator's line. Also father of Thomas was not, repeat was 

         not Abraham Woodward....I have documentary proof of this 

         fact....Reference: "Annapolis Maryland Families" by Robert 

         Henry McIntire (from Parish records) shows that the Thomas 

         Woodward, that was son of Abraham Woodward, was not born 

         until March 10, 1732 and died in April of 1799, which was 

         about 20 years after the Regulator was killed (May 12, 1779 

         in S.C.). 

 

         5 

          Mrs Maude W. Bogges of Sullins College, Bristol Va. has a 

         Woodward line from S.C. as follows: 

 

              1. MAUDE WOODWARD wed Bennett M. Bogges...daughter of 

              2. ISAAC CALVIN WOODWARD, born 22 July 1879 in 

                 Louisville, Mississippi, wed Jane Hathorn...son of 

              3. NATHANIEL WOODWARD born 5 June 1834 in Green County 

                 Alabama, wed Jane Hathorn ??? born 10 Feb. 1842...son 

                 of 

              4. GEORGE WOODWARD born 11 May 1800 in Fairfield County 

                 S.C. and wed Elizabeth Smith...George Woodward died 

                 in 1814. 

 

         QUERY....Mrs Bogges I am returning the chart you sent me for 

         it is evident that you have something wrong on this 

         chart...Will you please CORRECT it and return it before I 

         begin further research...I KNOW IT IS WRONG....i.e. the chart 

         you sent me...The dates do not allow this to be true neither 

         did you place in the wives correctly...You have Jane Hathorn 

         in two places, once as wife of Isaac Calvin Woodward and 

         again as wife of Nathaniel. 

                                    Andrea 

 

         6 

          Mrs. Julian L. Johnson sent me her chart but not her 

         lineage. ELIZABETH WOODWARD, born 2 April 1808 and married 16 

         December 1828 to Andrew M. Hanns of Fairfield Co., S.C....She 

         was probably the daughter of GEORGE WOODWARD who died ca. 

         1811. 

 

         7 

          FURTHER data as sent to me by each client will be added as 

         the study progresses....I will add at the top from when it 

         was sent me or given to me and from what source. 

 

         8          LAND GRANTS FROM LORD PROPRIETORS OF S.C. 

            The Lords had control of S.C. from 1669 to 1720, but not 

         until 1728 was the Province made a ROYAL COLONY....save for a 

         short interval ca. 1711. 



 

         8-a 

         ???? October 1672...130 acres land laid out for Richard 

         Chapman and adjacent to the lands allotted to HENRY WOODWARD. 

 

         8-b 

         ???? October 1672...150 acres land laid out unto HENRY 

         WOODWARD north of land laid out for James Jones. 

 

         8-c 

         3rd January 1677...laid out 250 acres for HENRY WOODWARD in 

         right of himself and his wife, MARGARET WOODWARD. 

 

         8-d 

         3rd January 1677...laid out 2000 acres for HENRY WOODWARD. 

         gentleman. 

 

         8-e 

         1679...HENRY WOODWARD...Joseph West...Andrew 

         Percivall..Richard Conant...John Godfrey show as Members of 

         the Council and for several other entries. 

 

         8-f 

         8th September 1677...10 acres laid out for PIERCE WOODWARD. 

 

         9    2ND VOLUME...LORD PROPRIETORS...LANDS 

          HENRY WOODWARD, Joseph West, William Owens, William Fuller 

          show 11th October 1679 as Deputies of the LORDS PROPRIETORS. 

 

         10   3RD VOLUME...LORD PROPRIETORS...LAND BOOKS. 

 

         10-a 

             28th October 1704...1000 acres land laid out for JOHN 

             WOODWARD 

         10-b 

             6th February 1707...500 acres land laid out for JOHN 

             WOODWARD. 

         10-c 

             26 January 1701...500 acres laid out for RICHARD WOODWARD 

             SENIOR. 

         10-d 

             2nd August 1704...laid out 500 acres and 500 acres 

             additional for RICHARD WOODWARD. 

         10-e 

             28 October 1704...500 acres laid out for RICHARD 

             WOODWARD. 

         10-f 

             6th February 1708...200 acres laid out for RICHARD 

             WOODWARD. 

         10-g 

             24 December 1709...120 acres laid out for RICHARD 

             WOODWARD. 

 

         11.                COLONIAL COUNTIES 



              South Carolina had four Colonial Counties...Granville, 

         Colleton, Berkeley and CRAVEN....Each county began at the 

         Atlantic Ocean and went to the North Carolina State Line 

         entirely across the state.....CHARLESTON was the county seat 

         for each of these four counties...ALL South Carolina Records 

         up to the REVOLUTION (some as late as 1785) are to be found 

         in the Court House at Charleston. 

 

         11-a 

             The Regulators had as one cause of their uprisings, this 

         fact that all of the up-country folks had to journey to 

         CHARLESTON to have their legal papers, deeds, wills and 

         estates recorded in Charleston. 

 

         11-b 

             During the time that S.C. was a ROYAL COLONY, the land 

         was allotted by head rights...A man as head of the house got 

         100 acres some years and other years got 50 acres...Then for 

         a wife he got 50 acres more...for each child or dependent 

         under the age of 16 years, he was allowed 50 acres for each 

         of these...Up to ca. 1752 he was allowed lands for slaves or 

         servants...Each boy or single girl could take either 50 acres 

         or 100 acres (Depending on which year) for him or herself as 

         a grant...No married woman unless a widow could take a land 

         grant from the King...Often additional land was granted for 

         "Increase in Family" and 50 acres for each new son or 

         daughter born after the original grant...Often a man if a 

         surveyor was paid in land...OFTEN a man who came in late was 

         not able to find any free land where he wanted to settle and 

         hence he bought land rather than take a grant...STUDY 

         carefully the land grants and you can estimate the number in 

         a family. 

 

         12 

           Lands which were original grants or sold to someone 

         else...Had a special tag and was called a "MEMORIAL." 

 

         13                      LANDS 

           Lands granted after the Revolution were not by head rights. 

         Where ever free land was available, a man could apply for the 

         land and if he paid for the surveying and costs of title, the 

         land was granted. 

 

         14            LAND GRANTS FROM THE KING. 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: The ones marked in bold print suspected 

         to be Thomas (Regulator) Woodward. 

 

         John Woodard, 200 acres Jackson Creek, Craven County on 21 

         May 1772 (Fairfield). 

 

         Elizabeth Woodward, 245a on Ashepoo River, Colleton Co., 5 

         December 1725. 

 

         Elizabeth Woodward, 1050a Edisto River, Berkeley, 16 March 



         1732. 

 

         John Woodward, 644a, Ashepoo River, Colleton Co., 28 April 

         1733. 

 

         John Woodward, 960a & 214a Fuller Creek, Colleton Co., 1 

         February 1706.u 

 

         Richard Woodward, 200a Stono River, Colleton Co., 18 April 

         1717. 

 

         Richard Woodward, 200a Stono River (Colleton?) 16 April 1716. 

 

         Richard Woodward, two grants 270a each Folly Creek 1 February 

         1706 (where?). 

 

         Richard Woodward, 500a, Colleton Co., 2 July 1715. 

 

         Richard Woodward, 1 lot in Beaufort, 8 August 1717. 

 

         Richard Woodward, 2 grants 500a each Ashpoo River, Colleton?, 

         2 July 1715. 

 

         Richard Woodward, 500a Colleton Co., 2 August 1718. 

 

         Richard Woodward, 500a Colleton Co., Ashpoo River, 20 March 

         1705. 

 

         Thomas & Elizabeth Woodward, 1100a Colleton Co., 16 March 

         1732. 

 

         Thomas Woodward, 200a Cedar Creek, Craven Co., 22 January 

         1759. 

 

         Thomas Woodward, 50a Craven Co., on Cedar Creek 20 December 

         1762 (Fairfield). 

 

         Thomas Woodward, 2 grants 100a Cedar Creek & Wateree, Craven 

         Co., (Fairfield) 18 January 1765. 

 

         Thomas Woodward, 100 acres Craven County, Mill Creek, 22 

         August 1771. 

 

         Thomas Woodward, 100a, Craven Co., Austin Mill Creek, 14 

         August 1772. 

 

         Thomas Woodward, 2 grants 300a & 100a Mill Creek, Craven Co., 

         31 August 1774. 

 

         William Woodward, 50a Colleton Co., Rocky Creek, 14 September 

         1777. 

 

         14-a          LAND TAX MEMORIALS ....see # 12 

                             (number each had?) 



         Elizabeth Woodward 2          John Woodward 1 

         Richard Woodward   1          Thomas Woodward 7 

         William Woodward   1 

         Richard Wright for Sarah Woodward 3 

         William Woodward 2 for Sarah Woodward. 

         These Memorials can be photostated or abstracted...They often 

         have much genealogical data...sometimes none. 

                                                        Andrea 

 

         15       LAND GRANTS AFTER THE REVOLUTION..INDEX II 

         James Woodward, 237 a Barnwell Co., Polecat Branch, 3 July 

         1820. 

 

         James Woodward Sr., 64a Rosemary Branch, Barnwell Co., 7 

         March 1814. 

 

         William Woodward, 729a Edgefield Co., 7 Feb. 1814. 

 

         Toom Woodward, 635a Richland Co., Congaree River, 7 July 

         1817. 

 

         James Woodward, 8a Little River, Fairfield Co., 5 March 1821. 

 

         James Woodward Jr., 305a Barnwell Co., Jackson Branch, 7 June 

         1819. 

 

         John Woodward, 18a Camden District, Little Cedar Creek, 2nd 

         Feb. 1795. 

 

         John Woodward, 132a, Fairfield Co., Camden District, 2 July 

         1798. 

 

         John Woodward, 89a Fairfield Co., 2 May 1803. 

 

         John Woodward, 461/4a, Fairfield Co., Wateree Creek 7 July 

         1806. 

 

         John Woodward, 30a Fairfield Co., Taylor Creek, 3 Sept. 1810. 

 

         Osmand Woodward, 20a & 2a Fairfield Co., Simpson Branch, 7 

         May 1821. 

 

         Richard Woodward, 20a Fairfield Co., Wateree Creek, 4 Jan. 

         1802. 

 

         16        LAND PLATS AFTER REVOLUTION....see # 15 & # 17 

                         (number each had?) 

         Charles Woodward  2           Hartwell Woodward 2 

         Isom Woodward     2           James Woodward 10 

         James Woodward Sr.4           James Woodward Jr.  4 

         James Woodward Jr. Et.Al  1   John Woodward 12 

         John Woodward Jr. 1           Joshua Woodward  1 

         Osmund Woodward   1           Richard Woodward 2 

         Samuel Woodward   1           William Woodward 2 



         William Woodward Et.Al 1 

         Any of these can be abstracted or photographed. 

 

                                                     Andrea 

 

         17   LAND GRANTS AFTER THE REVOLUTION...INDEX III 

         James Woodard, 443A in Horry County, 22 DEC. 1802. 

         James Woodard, 320A in Horry Co., 7 Dec. 1802. 

         Charles Woodward, 150a in Orangeburg District, 3 Sept. 1787. 

         Hartwell Woodward, 80s Orangeburg District, 1 April 1799. 

         H. Woodward, 500a Marion Co., 12 Sept. 1814. 

         Isaac Woodward, 150a Georgetown District, 7 Apr. 1788 (Horry 

         Co.) 

         Isaac Woodward, 974a in Georgetown District 6 Feb. 1792. 

         Isaac Woodward, 243a Georgetown District 7 August 1796. 

         Isaac Woodward, 1500a Georgetown District 7 July 1794. 

         Isaac Woodward, 500a Georgetown 7 Aug. 1797. 

         Isaac Woodward, 500a Horry Co., 6 March 1809. 

         Isaac Woodward, 250a & 1000a Horry Co., 24 Feb.1816. 

         Isaac Woodward, 500a in Horry Co., 26 Feb. 1816. 

         Isaac Woodward, 300a Horry Co., 27 Feb. 1816. 

         Isaac Woodward, 200a Horry Co., 28 Feb. 1816. 

         Isaac Woodward, 661a & 1000a Bull Creek, Horry Co., 1 June in 

                         1818. 

         Isaac Woodward, 1000a Georgetown Co., 23 March 1824. 

         John Woodward, 200a on Wateree Creek, Camden District, 11 

                        July 1784. 

         John Woodward, 136a Cedar Creek, Camden District, 21 Jan. 

                        1785 (Fairfield Co.) 

         John Woodward, 242a Moore Creek, Camden District, 1 May 1786. 

         John Woodward, 250a Wateree Creek, Camden District, 1 June 

                        1786. 

         John Woodward, 38a & 121a Camden District (Fairfield Co.) on 

                        4 May 1789. 

         John Woodward, 500a in Horry Co., 20 Feb. 1816. 

         John Woodward, 1000a in Horry Co., 6 June 1836. 

         John Woodward, 1000a in Georgetown Co., 10 March 1824. 

         John M. Woodward, 1000a in Horry Co., 4 Nov. 1837. 

         Michael Woodward, 420a in Marion Co., 11 December 1838. 

         Richard Woodward, 300a Little River in Camden District 

                           (Fairfield Co.) 21 Jan. 1785. 

         Samuel Woodward, 379a on 2nd Creek of Congaree River, 3 April 

         Newton Woodward, 1000a in Georgetown Co., 22 Nov. 1817. 

         Sammie Woodward, 1000a in Horry Co., 4 May 1829. 

 

         18          1790 CENSUS FOR SOUTH CAROLINA 

            The first number indicates all males over age of 16 and 

         included the husband, if any....The second number indicates 

         all boys in family under the age of 16 years...The Third 

         number indicates all females in household and includes the 

         wife, if any. 

              a.         Orangeburg District 

         Included Barnwell, Orangeburg, Lexington and parts of Aiken 

         and Bamburg (Counties) and a portion of Edgefield and 



         Newberry (Counties). 

 

         Charles Woodward   1-4-3       David Woodard 2-0-1 

 

              b. Georgetown District 

         Including Horry, Marion, Georgetown, Williamsburg and a part 

         of Florence and Dillion Counties. 

 

                Jacob Woodward     2-0-3       James Woodward   2-3-3 

 

              c. Union County of NINETY-SIX (96) DISTRICT 

                William Woodward   2-0-4 

 

              d. Richland County of Camden District 

                Samuel Woodward    1-2-3 

 

              e. Fairfield County of Camden District 

         Mrs. Elizabeth Woodward   1-2-3 

         Burbage Woodward          1-0-1         John Woodward  1-1-4 

         Richard Woodward          1-6-5         John Woodward  1-1-3? 

         William Woodward          2-0-4 

 

         This includes all WOODWARD households showing in S.C. in 1790 

 

         19         SUMTER COUNTY S.C. 1830 CENSUS 

         Thomas Woodard           Elisha Woodard 

         William Woodard          John Woodard Jr. 

 

         All of these were heads of households. 

 

         20         FAIRFIELD CO. S.C. 1830 CENSUS 

         John Woodward Sr.             Thomas A. Woodward 

         John Woodward                 William T. Woodward 

         Osmand Woodward               Isaac C. Woodward 

         Vicey Woodward                Richard Woodward Sr. 

         Randel Woodward               Richard Woodward 

 

         These were all Head of Households. 

 

         21    3-223 (VOLUMES???) OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA HISTORICAL & 

                              GENEALOGICAL MAGAZINE. 

         Col. RICHARD WOODWARD was a son of DR. HENRY WOODWARD, the 

         first white man who was a permeant settler in South Carolina. 

 

         21-a 

             JOHN WOODWARD was a son of DR. HENRY WOODWARD. 

 

         22         PAGE 70 PRINCE FREDERICK PARISH BOOK 

             SAMUEL WOODWARD...Paid 30 lbs by vestry...25 Feb. 1730. 

             This Parish Church was in old Georgetown District. 

 

         23         FROM HISTORY OF BAPTIST OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

             The Lower Baptist Church of Sandy River was called 

         WOODWARD (BAPTIST CHURCH) and is situate along the Fairfield 



         and Chester County lines. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL SR:   Rev. William Woodward, my 4th great 

         grandfather and son of Thomas (Regulator) Woodward, helped to 

         found this church and it is named after him.  It is still an 

         active church in 1987. 

 

         24         FURMAN (MAGAZINE??) Pages 60-62 

             Dr. Joseph Howard deeds 4 acres land for the High Hills 

         Baptist Church near Stateburg in Sumter County, which was 

         organized 4 January 1772 ....and deed made to trustees as 

         follows: 

         THOMAS WOODWARD            John Wheeler 

         John Perry                 William Rees 

         including myself also...being managers of the Meeting House. 

 

         25 

           The REV. WILLIAM WOODWARD, as an early Baptist minister in 

         S.C. is mentioned several times in the History of the baptist 

         of S.C...He shows as a Chaplain during the Revolution...in 

         1791 he was Pastor of the Sandy Run Baptist Church which 

         later became known as Woodward's Church...i.e..the lower 

         branch... Because of the long distance from upper Sandy Run 

         Meeting House, a meeting was organized at lower Sandy Run in 

         Fairfield and this is the meeting house which became known as 

         Woodward's (Meeting House).  Rev. WILLIAM WOODWARD was pastor 

         of this lower church until his death. (In 1820) 

 

         26          S.C. REVOLUTIONARY PENSIONERS 

           Thomas Woodward of N.C. (R. 11844) moved to S.C. 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr:  This was NOT the Regulator! 

 

         27         REVOLUTIONARY INDEX...S.C. ARCHIVES 

         Charles Woodard          James Woodard 

         Simon   Woodard          Thomas Woodard 

         Burbage Woodward         James Woodward 

         John Woodward            Joseph Woodward 

         Richard Woodward         Samuel Woodward 

         Thomas Woodward          William Woodward 

         William G. Woodward 

         These names may be for service...for supplies furnished or 

         merely as witnesses...I will have to examine each file to see 

         what the first name on Woodward indicates...OFTEN several men 

         by the same first name show in the same file...As soon as we 

         get the lines back, we can then check the Revolutionary files 

         to see if your ancestor has service. 

 

         28                  WILLS 

         This data from a typed paper or rather a script paper on 

         WOODWARD.....I break it into sections. 

                                               Andrea 

         a 

         WILLIAM WOODWARD of London sent three sons to Maryland these 

         son were as follows: 



              Henry Woodward   Abraham Woodward  William Woodward 

 

         These Woodwards are early Maryland and in Anne Arundel and in 

         St. Mary's Counties. 

 

         b 

          ABRAHAM WOODWARD wed first to Elizabeth Firloe (Finloe) and 

         second to Mrs. Priscilla Orrick...children were: 

              William Woodward         Rebecca Woodward 

              Martha Woodward          Abraham Woodward 

              Thomas Woodward          Mary Woodward 

              Farris Woodward          Priscilla Woodward 

              Henry Woodward           Elizabeth Woodward 

              Eleanor Woodward 

              The paper does not state which children by each wife. 

         c 

          THOMAS WOODWARD was born near Annapolis, Maryland...He was 

         married twice...His first wife bore him several children and 

         died..Thomas Woodward then removed to Fairfax County 

         Virginia and there wed a Scotch lady, Elizabeth Simpson, who 

         bore him one son, THOMAS WOODWARD JR. who at the age of 46 

         years removed to S.C. He was the famed REGULATOR...(See land 

         grants # 14 where a 1st land grant in what is now Fairfield 

         County S.C. was dated 22 January 1759. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr:  The above information is very important 

         but incorrect in this fact....The mother of Thomas Woodward 

         (Regulator) was named MARY SIMPSON and not Elizabeth...She 

         and her children, Thomas & Ann, were named in the will of 

         THOMAS SIMPSON, deceased, of Prince William County Virginia. 

         Thomas Simpson was a Scotsman...and the only known Woodward 

         to be in that area at the proper time was a JOHN WOODWARD. 

         Note that Thomas (Regulator) Woodward named his 1st son John 

         and not Thomas...indicating his father was named John...Also 

         MARY SIMPSON WOODWARD, was named as a 2nd wife of JOHN 

         ROBERTSON, whom Elizabeth Simpson Woodward was said to have 

         married.  The above data was arrived at from land deeds and 

         the will of Thomas Simpson. 

 

         d 

          THOMAS WOODWARD, the Regulator ...Many of the early and also 

         later histories of S.C. have much on the Regulator, THOMAS 

         WOODWARD, who in the year 1764 with Joseph Kirkland and 

         Barnaby Pope, organized the Regulators in what is now 

         Fairfield Co., S.C. 

 

         e 

          CAPTAIN THOMAS WOODWARD in the Revolution...There is much 

         written data on him and his company...His company was known 

         as "The Rangers"..His superior officers were Lt. Col. William 

         Thompson of Orangeburg and Major James Mayson...Capt. Thomas 

         Woodward was commissioned 18 June 1775 and was killed by 

         Tories in May of 1779. He had resigned as Captain in the 3rd 

         S.C.  Continental Regiment on 30 January 1779....His eldest 



         son, JOHN WOODWARD succeeded as Captain of the Rangers.... 

 

         Note by Andrea:  I have visited the grave and Family Cemetery 

         of Captain Thomas Woodward on the Road from Ridgeway to 

         Winnsboro, S.C.....I copied all grave inscriptions several 

         years ago but I cannot locate that copy I made...There was a 

         large marker erected at the grave of Captain Thomas Woodward 

         some decades ago and it still stands. 

 

         f 

          THOMAS WOODWARD (1698-1779) was born in Fairfax County, 

         Virginia and died in Fairfield County S.C....He wed 

         twice...First to JEMIMA COLLINS and 2nd to RACHEL STARR...He 

         had two sons: John Woodward and William Woodward and also had 

         four daughters. 

 

         Note by Robert Hill Sr:  Incorrect. Thomas Woodward (The 

         Regulator) was born in 1729, he did marry Jemima Collins, and 

         had the above children BUT his 2nd marriage was not to Rachel 

         Starr, but to a widow, Mrs.  Elizabeth Stokes May and they 

         had 6 more children, all in S.C. 

 

         g 

          JOHN WOODWARD (son of Thomas (Regulator) Woodward & Jemima 

         Collins) lived to an advanced age....He was commissioned as a 

         2nd Lt.  on 1 July 1775 at the age of 28 years, having been 

         born in 1747 in Fairfax County Virginia...He died in 

         1817...He married in 1772 to Esther McDonald and had two 

         sons:  Osmond Woodward (1795-1863) married Martha Williamson 

         and John Woodward, who married Martha (Patsy) Axem. 

 

         28 (Continued)               BOGGES DATA 

                       son of # 28-g 

 

         h 

          JOHN WOODWARD wed Martha Axem called Patsy in many places. 

         They had these children: 

              George Woodward               James Woodward 

         The son James, was a Methodist Minister. 

 

         Note by Robert Hill Sr: This data is wrong!  John Woodward & 

         wife Martha Axem did not have the above children! 

 

 

         i           son # 28-h 

              GEORGE WOODWARD wed Mary Smith...He shows in Fairfield 

         County S.C. as Head of Household in the 1800 

         CENSUS...Children: 

              Nathaniel Woodward       Isaac Woodward 

              George Woodward          Elizabeth (Besty) Woodward 

 

         George died  when the son, Nathaniel was aged 10 years. The 

         son George Woodward Jr. went to Mobile, Alabama and later to 

         New Orleans and there wed a planter's daughter and died of 



         the yellow fever....Isaac Woodward was a minister and was 

         living in McMinnville, Tenn...One of his sons was Fletcher 

         Woodward...Nathaniel Woodward moved to Winston County 

         Mississippi and in 1835 homesteaded 1000 acres of land. 

 

         j           son # 28-1 

             NATHANIEL WOODWARD was married 18 Nov. 1825 to Miss Mary 

         McMillian in S.C. according to his family bible...His 

         children were as follows as taken from the Bible... 

              John Woodward born 18 Nov. 1826 m. Margaret Hemphill. 

              William Woodward born 3 July 1828 m. Josephine Boswell. 

              George Y. Woodward, born 2 Dec. 1830. 

              Francis Marion Woodward, born 22 July 1832 m. Elizabeth 

                                                            Coulter. 

              Isaac Calvin Woodward, born 5 June 1834 m. Jane Hathorn. 

              Elizabeth A. Woodward, born 17 Feb. 1836. 

              Benjamin F.  Woodward, born 5 May 1838 m. Mollie 

                                                        Chapman. 

              Ann E. Woodward  born 16 October 1842. 

              Jane Woodward, born 16 Dec. 1844. 

 

         WILLIAM WOODWARD was married 12 Feb. 1857 to Josephine 

         Boswell and she was born near Louisville, Miss. and died 20 

         Dec. 1884. 

 

         NATHANIEL WOODWARD first came to Alabama and later came to 

         Mississippi. 

 

         k 

          WILLIAM M. WOODWARD was born in Fairfield County S.C. 3 July 

         1828, died in Mississippi on 20th March 1912...He wed 

         JOSEPHINE BOSWELL and see above ....children: 

             Edward Everett Woodward born 3 April 1858..never married. 

             Solon W. Woodward born 30 July 1860 m.Halley Fox. 

             Robert Lee Woodward born 5 Aug. 1851..died age 3. 

             Robert Lee Woodward II born 17 Sept. 1864 m. Musette 

                                                          Colbert. 

             Irene Woodward born 10 Oct. 1877 m. Virgil Homer 

                                                 Cunningham. 

             John Winston Woodward born 7 Dec. 1866 died single in 

                                                 1942. 

             Florence Woodward born 4 July 1869 died single in 1947. 

             Katie Woodward born 19 Jan. 1872 m. Rev. D.M. Hawthorne. 

             Sellie L. Woodward born 8 Jan. 1874 m. Dyalthis Brigance. 

             Bessie Woodward born 28 Jan. 1880 died single age 18. 

 

         Robert Lee Woodward wed a 2nd time to Manette Winters...no 

         issue by her. 

 

         l                 OTHER DATA 

          WILLIAM M. WOODWARD had the following brothers and sisters: 

            a.  John Woodward was a great mill man. 

            b.  Marion Woodward was a Captain during the Civil War and 

                later he moved to Cuba where he died of yellow fever. 



            c.  Calvin Woodward was a merchant and a farmer. 

            e.  Jim Woodward a farmer. 

            f.  George Woodward, a doctor of medicine (M.D.). 

            g.  Frank Woodward, an M.D. but moved to Texas. 

            h.  Ann Woodward..Mandy Woodward...Jane Woodward. 

 

         Evidently in this list some in List j are listed by middle 

         names. 

 

         29                 WOODWARD WILLS 

           JOHN WOODWARD...his will signed 21 Nov. 1734, no probate 

         date..no wife listed...children: Henry Woodward, Mary 

         Woodward and John Woodward. 

         Brother: Joel Woodward...m. Elizabeth Cortney (a sister??) 

         Exs: William Martin and Henry Lucas. 

         /Wit. Robert Sheard, Henry Odom & Elizabeth Courtney. 

         Overseers of will named as Edward Salter & John Odum. 

 

         30                CHOWAN COUNTY NORTH CAROLINA 

           SAMUEL WOODWARD...His Will signed 13 March 1752, probated 

         April Court 1752...Wife, Sarah Woodward...children: 

         Samuel Woodward Jr & Ex.    Edward Woodward 

         Richard Woodward            Elizabeth White & Ex. Luke White. 

         /Wit. Charles Robert, Richard Woodward & James Craven C.C. 

 

         31 

           These S.C. Will Abstracts are WPA copies and not entirely 

         accurate...The File numbers do not show...I will have to go 

         to the County Seat to obtain the File Numbers...In the county 

         seats will be additional data in files. 

                                                Andrea 

 

         32            COLONIAL WILLS 

           RICHARD WOODWARD of Berkeley Co., S.C....his will signed 13 

         April 1725, probated 3 Dec. 1725...wife, Sarah Woodward & 

         Ex....Children:  Elizabeth Woodward, Mary Woodward. 

         Other legatees named in the will were: John Woodward, brother 

         & Ex.; sister, Elizabeth Wilkins; Nephew, William Wilkins; 

         Nephew, Richard Woodward, son of John; William Wilkins Sr., 

         Brother-In-Law & Ex.; and Thomas Sannyarn, Brother-In-Law & 

         Ex.; Mary Williams and Martha Williams, daughters of John 

         Williams; Mentions lands on Ashley River by "my Cousin, John 

         Godfrey" and also lands on Saltcatcher (River) bought of John 

         Palmer and lands which formerly belonged to William Kimbell. 

         Wit. John Herne, Charles Armstrong, Charles Odingsells, 

         Matthew Smallwood & Nicholas Smith. 

 

         34                 COLONIAL WILLS 

           JOHN WOODWARD of Granville Co., S.C....His will signed? 

         ???in 1726 (date not legible) probated 25 Feb. 1728...wife, 

         Elizabeth Woodward and Ex....children: John Woodward Jr & 

         Ex.; Thomas Woodward, Richard Woodward; Mary, wife of John 

         Gibbs & Ex.; Elizabeth Woodward  ....(see # 33 as Wilkins) 

         Also Ex...Thomas Stanyarne 



         /Wit. Jacob Wright, Barnabas Gilbert & Rand Evans. 

 

         34-a 

             ELIZABETH WOODWARD...her will signed 19 June 1738, proven 

         27 August 1742  "Widow of John Woodward Sr."  children: 

         Mary Gibbs, wife of John    Elizabeth Flowers wife of Joseph 

         John Woodward & Ex.         Richard Woodward 

         /Wit.  Martha Barnwell, Thomas Weaver, Wm., Amy & Richard 

         Muncrieff Grand daughter Elizabeth Gibbs. 

 

         35             COLONIAL WILLS  (WOODWARDS) 

           RICHARD WOODWARD of Berkeley County, will signed 14 

         December 1742, probated 21 September 1744, wife Elizabeth 

         Woodward & Ex....Children, Elizabeth Woodward.  Other 

         Legatees named as 

         Sister, Elizabeth Flowers, Niece, Elizabeth Gibbs, daughter 

         of sister Mary Gibbs; Mary, the daughter of Isaac Chardon; 

         Benjamin Godin and David Godin and Robert Brisbane...Exs. 

         /wit. Thomas Baillie, John Good, Samuel Davidson & James 

         Drummond. 

 

         36                  EVIDENTLY WIDOW OF #33 

           MRS. SARAH WOODWARD of Granville County...Her will signed 

         18 October 1748. probated 20 April 1750...child 

         Mary, wife of William Hutson & Ex. 

         Grandchildren named as Sarah Shardon, Mary Hutson, Richard 

         Hutson & Elizabeth Hutson. Other Legatees named as: Elizabeth 

         Flowers, my niece...(see # 34), Woodward Flowers, great 

         nephew; Mary Flowers, great niece; Benjamin Stanyarne, 

         nephew; Samuel Stock, orphan of Thomas Stock; Hannah Stock, 

         orphan of Thomas Stock.  Other Executors..Clerk Barnwell, 

         Col. Nathaniel Barnwell, John Barnwell & Hugh Bryan. 

 

         36-a 

              Comment by Andrea:  Elizabeth Flowers is called "my 

         niece.." Question is this SARAH (the) widow of Richard 

         Woodward, sister of John in # 34 or a sister in law? 

 

         37             CHARLESTON COUNTY 

           WILLIAM WOODWARD...his will signed 6 Nov. 1797, probated 18 

         Nov. 1797, no wife or children...Legatees: Cibell Woodward, 

         my mother; Abel Hudson Ex.; & James Clark, Ex. /Wit.  George 

         Gibbs, Joseph Sibley, Ribe Fisk 

         38              CHARLESTON CITY 

           MRS. MARGARET WOODWARD....her will signed 28 Sept. 1797, 

         probated 6 Jan. 1798...one child, Susannah Pierson. Exs: 

         Frederick Wolf & John Ederley. /Wit. William Cunnington, 

         Garvin Scott & William Jones. 

 

         39              HORRY COUNTY....GEORGETOWN DISTRICT 

           JAMES WOODWARD...his will signed (not legible) 1820?? 

         probated 4 September 1820...wife Mary Woodward & Ex. 

         Children: James Woodward Jr.; John Woodward Ex.; Tabitha 

         Murdock; William Woodward; Uriah Woodward; Hezekiah Woodward; 



         Joseph Woodward; Judith Woodward. /Wit. James Singleton, John 

         Tindall & Jane Tindal. 

 

         40              CHESTER COUNTY SOUTH CAROLINA 

           The REV. WILLIAM WOODWARD shows as a resident of Chester 

         County and as pastor of lower Sandy Run Baptist Church. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: This was my 4th great grandfather, who 

         married Nancy Elizabeth Barrett....he was the son of Thomas 

         (Regulator) Woodward & his 1st wife, Jemima Collins. 

 

         40-a             WILLS  CHESTER COUNTY S.C. 

            REV. WILLIAM WOODWARD...His will signed 24 August 1819, 

         probated 7 August 1820...wife Nancy Woodward,..children 

         Charlotte Turner           JEMIMA HILL (wife of Thomas Hill) 

         Mary Lyle                  Ellender Robertson 

         William Woodward Jr. & EX. John Woodward & Ex. 

         Joseph Woodward            Thomas Woodward. 

         /wit. Names not copied by WPA 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr:   Jemima Woodward married my Thomas 

         Hill, son of Moses Hill & Savilla Roden and Thomas & Jemima 

         were my 3rd great grandparents. 

 

         40-b 

             I believe that I have seen a monument to this Rev. 

         William Woodward at the Old Woodward baptist Church and also 

         markers of his children. 

                                 Andrea. 

 

         40-c 

            This is evidently the Rev. William Woodward who was a 

         chaplain during the Revolutionary War...This is the same man 

         who was a member of Congress from this District ca. 1815 I 

         think...I can check further and see in case any of you 

         descend from him. 

                          Andrea. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr:  Yes, William Woodward fought in the 

         Revolution and served one session in the U.S. Congress. 

 

         41             KERSHAW COUNTY (S.C.) 

           MOSES WOODWARD....his will signed___Feb. 1802, probated 30 

         May 1802, wife Elizabeth Woodward nee Elizabeth Trantham & 

         Ex. No children listed. /wit. William Bracey Jr. & William 

         Hodge. 

 

         42 

           THOMAS WOODWARD of St. Mark Parish, Camden District...His 

         will signed 31 Oct. 1780, probated 9 April 1782...no wife 

         listed. Children: 

         John Woodward Ex.          Mary Woodward 

         Thomas Woodward Jr. & Ex.  Simon Woodward 

         Martha Allison             Elizabeth, wife of Wm. Davis & Ex. 



         Priscilla Woodward /wit. David Reynolds, David Reynolds Jr. & 

         John Postell Jr. 

 

         42-a           BOOK 1 PAGE 107 

           THOMAS WOODWARD...Inventory of his estate made 3 June 1782 

         by Thomas Neal, David Rogers & Isaac LeNoir...There was a 

         book account owed from Estate of William Hamilton and also a 

         pair of old saddle bags which were owned by John McQueen. 

 

         43             RICHLAND COUNTY S.C. 

           MRS. MARY WOODWARD...her will signed 6 June 1826, probated 

         13 Dec. 1829...Children and seemingly all by a first 

         husband...William Killingsworth & EX.; Jesse Killingsworth; 

         Neil Killingsworth; Margaret Dams; Polly Crocket, her two 

         children; Sarah Hill; Mark Killingsworth & Nancy Williams. 

 

         William Crocket & Mary Crocket, grandchildren...to have the 

         share for their deceased mother, Mary Crocket called Polly. 

         /wit. Martha Nixon, Wm. F. Killingsworth, Isham Nixon. 

 

         44 

           ISOM WOODWARD...his will signed 12 May 1839, probated 5 

          Oct. 1847, wife Nancy Woodward (Was a Killingsworth and 1st 

         married a Hill)...children: Lieuellen Woodward Ex. & 

         Elizabeth McKinzie; mentions the Killingsworth & Gibson 

         lands..Lightwood Perry lands are mentioned and lands on Cedar 

         Creek Road.  Grandchildren named: John Woodward House; Isom 

         House; Thomas House; Samuel House; Jesse House; Reuben House; 

         Sarah House & Elizabeth Leadingham. 

         These to share for their deceased mother; Exs.  Son in Law, 

         James McKinzie with son Lewellon Woodward. /wit. John N. 

         Barrillon, Wm. Shiver & R.A. Braddy. 

 

         45            SON OF NUMBER 44  RICHLAND COUNTY S.C. 

           LEWELLEN WOODWARD...his will signed 3 Oct. 1862, probated 1 

         Dec. 1862, wife Elizabeth Woodward, children: Caroline E., 

         wife of Dr. William Weston & Ex., Natural son,  Robert 

         Carroll. /wit. C.A. Scott, John Carroll & Moultrie Weston. 

 

         46           HISTORY OF RICHLAND COUNTY S.C. 

           SAMUEL WOODWARD...Furnished beef as supplies during the 

         Revolution for use at Fort Congaree...Sworn to____March 1782 

         before Wm. Meyer, J.P. 

 

         47           SUMTER COUNTY S.C. 

           JESSE WOODARD...his will signed 10 March 1818, probated 15 

         Jan. 1819, wife Mary Woodard & EX. with Roger Willis. No 

         Children listed. /wit. Wm. N. Kennedy, Wm. D. Williams & 

         Henry Young. 

 

         48           FAIRFIELD COUNTY S.C. 

          MRS. ELIZABETH WOODWARD...her will signed 12 Aug. 1802, 

         probate date not given by WPA...Children: 

         Lucy Woodward            Sarah Riley 



         Henry Woodward           Elizabeth McMorries 

         Benjamin May             Thomas May 

         Jane (Woodward) Freeman  Joseph Woodward & Ex. 

         Thomas Woodward, deceased. 

 

         The Woodward lands are to be equally divided between Woodward 

         Children and the May lands equally between May Children. 

         /wit. John Bewell & William Scott. 

 

         (Note by Robert Hill:  This was Elizabeth Stokes May, the 2nd 

         wife of Thomas (Regulator) Woodward). 

 

 

         48-a 

           This Elizabeth May was nee Stokes before she wed WOODWARD. 

         Many writers say this Elizabeth is the 2nd wife of THOMAS 

         WOODWARD, the Regulator...however see # 28-f where the 2nd 

         wife was listed as RACHEL STARR....I will have to study this 

         further in order to properly determine....Andrea. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr:  This was Elizabeth Stokes May Woodward, 

         who's 1st marriage was to May & her 2nd marriage was to 

         Thomas (Regulator) Woodward 2/.  Rachel Starr WAS NOT married 

         to the same Thomas Woodward, known as the Regulator.  The 

         Thomas Woodward, listed as a son and deceased,, married Mary 

         Howard in Union County, S.C. and they moved into Elbert 

         County, Georgia.  IT WAS THEIR SON WHO WAS NAMED THOMAS 

         SIMPSON WOODWARD, THAT WROTE THE BOOK "REMINISCENCES" IN THE 

         1850S, AND WHO GAVES AN (PARTIALLY) WRONG GENEALOGY ON THE 

         REGULATOR. 

 

         49             FAIRFIELD COUNTY S.C. (SON OF #48) 

           HENRY WOODWARD....His will signed 25 Nov. 1802, probated 13 

         Jan. 1803, wife Elizabeth Woodward, no children. Being the 

         children of my deceased brother Thomas Woodward....(SEE # 

         48); Nephew, Thomas Woodward; Niece Elizabeth Woodward; 

         nephew Joseph H. Woodward; Brother Joseph H. Woodward & Ex. 

         (See # 48) William McMorries Sr. & Ex....seemingly a brother 

         in law. /wit. William Woodward, John May, Joseph Gibson Sr. 

 

         Note by Robert Hill Sr: This Henry Woodward was a son of Thomas 

         (Regulator) Woodward & his 2nd wife, Elizabeth Stokes May. 

 

         50 

           MARGARET WOODWARD....her will signed 28 Feb. 1831, probated 

         9 Jan. 1832, Wills estate to sister in law LUVICA, wife of 

         JAMES WOODWARD. EXS: Luvica Woodward & Luvica S. Williams. 

         /wit. N.M. Robertson, William Woodward & Hugh Stevenson. 

 

         51 

           JOHN WOODWARD, (OLDEST CHILD OF THE REGULATOR & 1ST WIFE 

         JEMIMA COLLINS) ....his will signed 20 June 1815 codicil 

         signed 17 June 1815 ???? probated 6 May 1817...wife ESTHER 

         WOODWARD & Ex. (She was Esther McDonald & see # 28-g) 



         children: 

         John Woodward Jr. & Ex.      Sarah, wife of William Strother 

         William Thomas Woodward      Mariam Collins,w of Thos. Lyles 

         Osmund Woodward              Cynthia Durham, dec'd, her chldn 

 

         Grand Children named as the following: 

         John Woodward                 John Woodward Durham 

         John Dargan Strother          William Strother Lyles 

         William Thomas Woodward       Osmund Woodward 

 

         LANDS BOUNDED BY or BOUGHT FROM THE FOLLOWING MEN 

         Andrew McDowell    Wateree Creek        Thomas Johnson 

         Moses Young        James Rogers         Reedy River 

         Wm. McCreight      Jesse Havis          Mr. McHenry 

         C. Wiley           Robert Wilson        Weir Robert Smith 

         John Forline Sr.   William Osmund       Caleb Powell 

         Joseph Kirkland    Wm. Kincaid          Barley Smyth 

         William Bell       Francis Palmer       James Owens 

         George Harrison    Obed Kirkland        James Henrick 

         Lewis Ely          Jane Kirkland        Caleb Windom 

         Thomas Woodward    Samuel Winn          Joseph Woodward 

         Pierce Bullien     Thomas Miles         Edward Perlies 

         William Henricks   Elias Hagood         Jesse Sally 

         William Simpson    Michael Easler       Thomas Sanders 

         William H. Gill    Samuel Elliott       John Elsey 

         William Jones      William Arrich       Mr. McNeill 

         Lee D. Arrich      Capt. Syuart         William Lines 

         William Dogen      Abner Smith          Charnel Durham 

         /wit. Henry Hagood, Phillip Edward Pearson, William Bratton, 

         John Kelly, Francis Palmer & William Simpson. 

 

         51-a 

           MRS. ESTHER WOODWARD...her will signed 6 May 1818, probate 

         date not listed by WPA...Children: 

         Sarah Strother           Mary Ann Collins Lyles 

         Osmund Woodward & Ex.    Cynthia Durham, deceased. 

         ALL MY CHILDREN to share alike...others not named. 

         my sister, Nancy Henderson    my grandson, John W. Durham 

         my friend, Miss Elise Hagood 

         grandchild, Ranson Lyles. /wit. Jesse Raule, Martha Shedd & 

         Elisie Hagood. 

 

         52 

           RICHARD WOODWARD....his will signed 13 October 1804, 

         probated 19 Nov. 1804...wife Anne Woodward....Children: 

         James Woodward, my youngest child...154 acres of land. 

         ALL MY CHILDREN TO SHARE EQUAL at death of my wife Anne...The 

         other children not named (The file in Winnsboro is likely to 

         have names of all children in the settlement of this estate) 

         "My father & mother"...mentioned but not by name. EX: Trusty 

         friends, Richard Woodward and George Woodward. /wit. James 

         Alcorn, John Woodward & James Woodward. 

 

 



         53 

           JOHN WOODWARD...his will signed 21 Dec. 1821, probated 3 

         March 1829, no wife or children...estate to 

         Margaret Woodward, sister 

         Nephew Richard Woodward, son of William 

         Niece, Jane Morgan daughter of brother George Woodward, 

                dec'd. 

         Heirs of brother James Woodward, dec'd 

         Ex. George W. Hill & John Shirley. /wit. J.C. Means, John C. 

         Boyle & John Williams. 

         Note by Andrea...brother William Woodward, deceased. 

 

         54          WOODWARDS OF FAIRFIELD CO., S.C. 

           JOHN WOODWARD (son of # 51)...His will signed 24 March 1823 

         probate data not listed by WPA...wife AILEY WOODWARD**... 

         Children:  John Woodward Jr.; Thomas Woodward; Osmond 

         Woodward; Helen H. Woodward  (see #4); Cynthia Woodward & 

         Sarah Woodward. 

         Brother in Law, William Strother Ex. 

         Brother, Osmund Woodward Ex. with friend John Buchanan Jr. 

         /wit. John Hatcher, Osmund Woodward & William Strother. Lands 

         on Wateree Creek...The Smith Land..the John Miller land, 

         lands bought from Thomas Means an other land...George Lott 

         lands. 

         ** AILEY WOODWARD....Was she a second wife??? The data sent 

         me by all the clients state that PATSY AXHAM was his wife. 

 

         This is the line of Mrs. John Winters Julian. 

 

         Note by Robert Hill Sr: This was the family of John Woodward 3/ 

         & Esther McDonald, oldest son of the Regulator. 

 

 

         55         (Son of # 51) 

         WILLIAM T. WOODWARD...His will signed 14 Dec. 1841, probate 

         date not listed by WPA...Wife, Eliza Woodward.  Children: 

         Mary Ann Collins Woodward      Thomas Woodward 

         Esther Caroline Woodward 

         Exs: Brother Osmond Woodward and friends, John R. Harrison, 

         John D. Strother, Thomas Nelson and Thomas Lyles Jr. 

         /Wit. Jesse Nelson, Kemp L. Dargan & James Nelson, David 

         McDowell & Thomas G. Robertson...Owned land in Charleston 

         District & Kershaw Co. 

 

         56         Son of # 51 

           OSMUND WOODWARD....His will signed 26 April 1849 and WPA 

         gave no probate date...Wife, Eliza Woodward...No Children 

         listed.  Plantation in Lancaster Co. is listed...Other 

         legatees: Niece, Palsey E. Woodward, daughter of John 

         Woodward, Father-in-Law, David Aiken. Other legatees as 

         Trustee of my Estate listed as: John W. Durham; John E. Peay; 

         Dr. Caleb Clark; John D. Strother & Nicholas A. Peay Ex. 

         Mentions William Clark, son of Dr. Caleb Clark. /Wit. John B. 

         McCall, William R. Robertson & James McCreaight. 



 

         57 

           GEORGE WOODWARD....His estate Administered by William and 

         JOHN WOODWARD...Inventory ordered 19 October 1814 and to be 

         made by James Woodward...Richard Woodward..Hugh Aiken..Samuel 

         McMullen...Edward Watts (?)...NO Widow is shown in the file. 

         Final Division on 16th August 1816 made by Dr. John Woodward 

         and William Woodward, Administrators and paid to the heirs as 

         follows: 

         Nathaniel Woodward            Isaac Woodward 

         Margaret Woodward             Jennet Woodward 

         Betsey Woodward                Nancy Woodward 

         George Woodward                              (see # 28-1) 

         NOTE: In # 53 where JOHN WOODWARD wills to his niece, JANE 

         (Jannet) MORGAN, daughter of my deceased brother, GEORGE 

         WOODWARD. 

 

         Note by Robert Hill Sr: This was not part of the family of 

         Thomas (Regulator) Woodward but descends from the Woodwards 

         in and around Jamestown, Va., who's members (John & Richard) 

         came to S.C. 

 

         58 

           JOHN McMILLIN....Will signed 20 August 1795, names wife as 

         MARY McMILLIN, "my unborn child"....Is this unborn child the 

         wife in # 28-j ? 

 

         59 

           Sarah, wife of RICHARD WOODWARD, in # 33, was a sister of 

         Elizabeth, wife of John Woodward # 34 and both were nee 

         STANYARNE. 

 

         60            MISCELLANY (WOODWARD INFO) 

           S.C. Historical Genealogy Magazine Data....HENRY WOODWARD, 

         the first Settler in South Carolina, had three children, JOHN 

         WOODWARD # 34 wed Elizabeth Stanyarne...sister & daughters 

         Richard Woodward # 33 wed Sarah Stanyarne, daughter? of James 

         Stanyarne. 

         Elizabeth Woodward wed William Wilkins. 

         HENRY WOODWARD wed Mrs. Robert Brown nee Mary Godfrey, 

         daughter of Col. John Godfrey...see Godfrey cousin # 33. 

 

         60-a         SON of # 60....See # 34 

           JOHN WOODWARD wed Elizabeth Stanyarne and had three 

         children: Mary Woodward wed John Gibbs; Elizabeth Woodward I. 

         died as a child; Elizabeth Woodward II. wed Joseph Flowers; 

         John Woodward...no data; Richard Woodward wed Elizabeth 

         ____?; Henry Woodward died age 1 year 1711-1712; James 

         Woodward died age 1 year 1715-1716; Thomas Woodward died age 

         15 years..1722-1737; James Woodward II. died aged 3 

         years...1727-1730...Posthumous child.. 

 

         60-b         SON of # 60 ....See # 33 

           RICHARD WOODWARD wed Sarah Stanyarne and they had issue of 



         Elizabeth Woodward wed Richard Wright..and died with no 

         issue; Mary Woodward wed William Huston. 

 

         60-d         Son of 60-a 

           RICHARD WOODWARD wed first to Sarah Mazyck and no issue by 

         her...second marriage to Elizabeth Godin, daughter of 

         Benjamin Godin. Issue one daughter, Elizabeth....First wife 

         was a daughter of Isaac Mazyck....(See # 35). 

 

         61          PENSION DATA....(REVOLUTION) 

           THOMAS WOODWARD of Sumter District S.C. applied for pension 

         at the age of 87 years...He was born in N.C. on 8 November 

         1744...He entered service in spring of 1779 under Capt. 

         Joseph Williamson and Major John Drake and served until July 

         1781..His discharge paper was in a trunk which his son 

         carried to Mississippi with a bundle of old papers...The Rev. 

         James Hudson makes affidavit regarding Thomas Woodward. 

 

         62         D.A.R. Paper  # 48163 

 

         a.  Applicant 

         b.  Mary Lois Durham m. William Eugene McMullen. 

         c.  John Woodward Durham m. Margaret Daniel Turner. 

         d.  CYNTHIA WOODWARD m. John Durham. 

         e.  John Woodward m. Esther McDonald. 

         f.  THOMAS WOODWARD died 12 May 1779 m. 1st Jemima Collins. 

 

         63         D.A.R. Paper # 114022 

         a.  Alice Hill 

         b.  Rebecca Woodward 1832-1908 m. Robert Buchanan. 

         c.  Osmond Woodward 1795-1863 m. Martha Williamson. 

         d.  John Woodward 1745-1817 m. Esther McDonald. 

         e.  Thomas Woodward m. 1st Jemima Collins. 

 

         64         D.A.R. Paper # 89359 

         a.  Mrs. Martha Hill 

         b.  not listed 

         c.  JEMIMA HILL m. THOMAS HILL (son of Moses Hill). 

         d.  William Woodward m. Nancy Barrett....(see # 40-a). 

         e.  Thomas Woodward m. Jemima Collins. 

 

         Another joins but thru another son of William Woodward 

         c.  JOHN WOODWARD 1796-1827 m. Mary Mobley 1796-1879 

 

                         MISCELLANY   (WOODWARD) 

 

         65           D.A.R. 

         a-b-c was left off... 

         d. Nancy Woodward born 1760 married Robert Rabb born 1759. 

         e. Thomas Woodward wed Jemima Collins as 1st wife. 

 

         66              RESUME 

           THOMAS WOODWARD, The Regulator, was born (as I estimate) 

         ca.  1715 or a bit later...He seems to have wed first ca. 



         1744 (This may make him born ca. 1720)  JEMIMA COLLINS...Data 

         says they had two sons and four daughters...Here are some: 

         John Woodward  m. Esther McDonald 

         William Woodward m. Nancy Barrett 

         Jemima Woodward m. Thomas Hill  (NOTE BY ROBERT HILL:  This 

         is wrong...Jemima Woodward was a daughter of William Woodward 

         & Nancy Barrett, and was a grand daughter of Thomas & Jemima 

         Woodward. 

         Nancy Woodward m. Robert Rabb. 

 

         Perhaps a study may find the other daughters...Many students 

         of Woodward data place RICHARD WOODWARD (# 52) as a son of 

         Jemima.  (NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr:  This was not so). 

 

         The complete list of children of THOMAS (REGULATOR) WOODWARD 

         ARE AS FOLLOWS: 

 

         By 1st wife Jemima Collins.... 

 

         1.  John Woodward, born 13 May 1747 in Fairfax County, Va., 

             married ca. 1781 to Esther McDonald. He died 26th May 

             1817 in Fairfield County S.C. 

         2.  Margaret Woodward born in Virginia, m. James Nelson. 

         3.  Rebecca Woodward born in Va., married Phillip Raiford Jr. 

         4.  Priscilla Woodward born in Va., m. James Andrews Jr. 

         5.  Nancy Woodward born 1760 in Virginia, married Robert 

             Rabb. 

         6.  William Woodward, born 7 October 1762 in Va. m. ca.  1781 

             to Nancy Elizabeth Barrett. He died 23 July 1820 in 

             Chester County, S.C. 

 

         Children by 2nd wife (Widow) Mrs. Elizabeth Stokes Mays 

 

         1. Thomas Woodward, born in Fairfield Co., S.C. He m.  Mary 

            Howard ca. 1791, he died on 23 March 1800, in Georgia. 

            Mary Howard born 1774 Union Co., S.C. remarried 2nd time 

            to James Barrat. He died 1802. She died in September 1806 

            in Georgia. 

         2. Henry Woodward born in S.C. 

         3. Elizabeth Woodward born in S.C., m. William McMorries Jr. 

         4. Lucy Woodward born in S.C.,m. William J. Augustine. 

         5. Jane Woodward born in S.C., m. Reeves Freeman. 

         6. Joseph Woodward born in S.C. 

 

         67             FAIRFIELD COUNTY MARRIAGES & DEATHS. 

          MARY WOODWARD 1838 to John T. Robinson. 

          MARY WOODWARD 1839 to John Satinswhite (Satterwhite?). 

          W. B. WOODWARD______? to Eliza Pickett.  (NOTE BY ROBERT 

          HILL Sr: This was the son of Rev. William Woodward & Nancy 

          Barrett, grandson of the Regulator. 

 

         68           W-9418  REVOLUTIONARY PENSION 

          CHARNEL DURHAM...Born 1 July 1753 in Virginia and was a son 

         of John Durham and a brother of Joshua Durham...He died 13 



         April 1836...He moved to S.C. before the Revolution and 

         resided near a village called Monticello...He enlisted for 

         service in Winnsboro as a Private under Col. David Hopkins. 

         He was captured by the Tories in 1780...Pension was 

         allowed...He was married 2 January 1777 to NANCY ECKLES or 

         ICHOLE and she died 1 June 1840...Children: 

         Lucrecy Durham, born 30 Sept. 1778 and wed John Ford. 

         John Durham, born 2 August 1782...(see # 51 wed Cynthia 

         Woodward). 

         Robert Winfield Durham born 10 September 1784. 

         Robert Winfield Durham stated he was the only child alive in 

         October 1847...His sister Lucrecy Ford died in November 1816 

         and left twin sons, George Washington & John Jackson Ford. 

 

         69             WINSTON COUNTY MISSISSIPPI 

           NATHANIEL WOODWARD born 11 May 1801 died 27 November 1887. 

           Married 18 November 1825 to Mary McMillin, born 5 February 

           1803, died 5 May 1879. 

 

         Add this date in # 28-j.....He first moved to Green County 

         Alabama from Fairfield County S.C. and later came to Winston 

         County, Miss..His aunt, Mrs. LIVICIA SMITH WOODWARD, a widow, 

         moved with him to Miss., bringing with her, her children...27 

         December 1848 in the Louisville Lodge # 75 F.&.A.M. the 

         petitions of NATHANIEL WOODWARD and of William McMillin were 

         received and read...The children of NATHANIEL WOODWARD recall 

         their father stating that his father, GEORGE WOODWARD, died 

         when Nathaniel was aged 10 years. 

 

         70             WINSTON COUNTY MISSISSIPPI 

           ANDREW W. HANNA and his wife, ELIZABETH HANNA deed lands 7 

         October 1839 according to a photostat sent me by Mrs. 

         Johnson. This Elizabeth Hanna was nee WOODWARD and from 

         Fairfield Co. S.C. and evidently a sister of NATHANIEL 

         WOODWARD therefore a daughter of GEORGE WOODWARD # 57. 

 

         71              MISCELLANY (WOODWARD) 

           Mrs. Johnson has sent to me a table showing the births of 

         the children of GEORGE WOODWARD in Fairfield County 

         S.C....(See # 57). 

         Nathaniel Woodward born 11 May 1801. 

         Isaac C. Woodward born 26 Jan. 1803. 

         Margaret Woodward born 14 Feb. 1805. 

         Jane Woodward born 21 April 1807 m. _______Morgan. 

         Elizabeth Woodward born 2 April 1808. 

         Nancy Woodward born 23 April 1810. 

         George Woodward born 10 Nov. 1813. 

 

         Some students of Woodward data state that George Woodward was 

         a son of RICHARD WOODWARD (# 52)...This will have to be 

         studied in detail in Winnsboro....Andrew W. Hanna was born 7 

         May 1807. The Hannah Family came from Fairfield Co. S.C. 

 

         72             BARNWELL COUNTY S.C. 



           CHARLES WOODWARD....His estate Admst. 3 Jan. 1814 by his 

         widow KEZIAH WOODWARD and her bond signed by Charles Woodward 

         and James Woodward...No list of heirs in this file. 

 

         72-a           BOOK B, PAGE 180 

           Mrs. KEZIAH WOODWARD, a deed of Gift dated 10 March 1825 to 

         the following: 

         Richard Woodward    James Woodward...to his heirs & 1 acre of 

         land for a family graveyard. /wit.  Daniel W. Johnson & 

         William Woodward. 

 

         72-b 

           Whether James & Richard are the only sons of Mrs. Keziah 

         Woodward is not clear from this deed...KEZIAH WOODWARD was a 

         sister in law of JAMES WOODWARD, according to family 

         data...Her Old Family Cemetery is near the town of Williston, 

         S.C. 

 

         73                  BARNWELL COUNTY S.C. 

           James Woodward Sr...had land grant there 7 March 1814. 

           James Woodward Jr. had a land grant 3 July 1820. 

           William Woodward had a land grant 7 Feb. 1814. 

           Charles Woodward had a land grant 3 Sept. 1797. 

 

         James Woodward Sr. wed Annie Fasly or Feasler...She is buried 

         at Rosemary Baptist Church and her tombstone reads.."ANNIE/ 

         Wife of James Woodward/ Died 10 August 1887/ Age 93." 

         This makes her born in ca. 1794...This James Woodward was the 

         youngest son of RICHARD WOODWARD (# 57) of Fairfield County 

         S.C. 

 

         74          DATA (RECEIVED) FROM MRS. PAULINE WOODWARD. 

           RICHARD WOODWARD was a son of Thomas Woodward, the 

         Regulator, by his 2nd wife nee Elizabeth Stokes 

         (Mays)...Richard Woodward had 

         James Woodward, youngest m. Annie Feaster. 

         George Woodward m. __________Morgan. 

         Margaret Woodward...died single and see (# 50). 

         John Woodward (# 53). 

         Charles Woodward m. Keziah______? 

 

         I shall have to examine all of this data in Winnsboro to see 

         if the above is correct. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: The above is WRONG!  Richard Woodward 

         was not, repeat WAS NOT the son of Thomas Woodward, known as 

         the Regulator.  The Regulator and his 2nd wife Elizabeth 

         Stokes May had no child by the name of Richard Woodward. It 

         appears that Mrs. Johnson, as have others, has confused the 

         father of Richard (THOMAS WOODWARD) mixed up with Thomas 

         Woodward, known as the Regulator. I suspect the Thomas 

         Woodward, father of Richard, was another Thomas Woodward, who 

         came from N.C. (was a Private in Revolutionary Soldier in 

         N.C.) to Camden District and who died in 1781.   The 



         Regulator died in 1779 and was a Captain. 

 

         75             QUESTION 

 

           THOMAS WOODWARD (# 42)...Some students of Woodward data set 

         forth the data that this Thomas Woodward and 2nd wife 

         Elizabeth Simpson came into Camden District S.C. from Fairfax 

         County Virginia.  That he is the father of Thomas Woodward, 

         the Regulator...They state this Thomas Woodward was born 1698 

         and died 1782 aged 84 years...They state he is the Thomas 

         Woodward who gave land for High Hills Church (# 24). I do 

         know that he resided in that locality...Can either of you 

         give further light on this? 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: Again another error on the genealogy of 

         Thomas (Regulator) Woodward!  It appears that the problem 

         with the Woodward genealogy stems from statements made by 

         Thomas Simpson Woodward, a grandson of the Regulator. Those 

         statements are in a Book entitled "REMINISCENCES OF THE 

         CREEK-MUSKOGEE NATION" by Thomas Simpson Woodward...He states 

         that the father of the Regulator was Thomas Woodward of 

         Maryland, who had a Maryland wife and she died...Thomas went 

         to Fairfax County Virginia and remarried a 2nd time to 

         ELIZABETH SIMPSON, and had a son also named Thomas (who later 

         became known as the "Regulator). Most people have zeroed in 

         on Thomas Woodward, son of Abraham Woodward of Annapolis, Md. 

         as the father but this was impossible for the following 

         reasons. 

 

         Reference "Annapolis Maryland Families" by Robert Harry 

         McIntire, page 783, The Thomas Woodward, son of Abraham and 

         supposedly father of the Regulator, was born on March 10th, 

         1785...some 6 years AFTER the death of the Regulator in 1779. 

         That Thomas Woodward (son of Abraham and supposedly father of 

         the Regulator, was supposed to have married 1st to  MARGARET 

         (WATERS) IJAMS, dau.  of Mordecai & Rachel Waters. His 2nd 

         marriage was supposed to have been to Elizabeth Simpson, 

         daughter of a Scotsman, Thomas Simpson. 

 

         Now the problem with this is that Thomas Woodward, son of 

         Abraham & supposedly father of the Regulator, by his 2nd 

         marriage, did not even marry the 1st time until 21 February 

         1778, just a year BEFORE the death of Thomas (Regulator) 

         Woodward in S.C.  The Thomas Woodward, supposedly father of 

         the Regulator, died in April of 1799. 

 

         Thomas (Regulator) Woodward was born ca. 1719 and died 12 May 

         1779...making it absolutely impossible for this  THOMAS 

         WOODWARD to be the father of the Regulator. 

 

         A close inspection of the area around Fairfax County 

         Virginia, shows only one male Woodward in the area, and that 

         was a JOHN WOODWARD, who was a blacksmith.  Also it should be 

         noted that THOMAS (REGULATOR) WOODWARD named his 1st son, 



         JOHN, which in these times, was usually named after the 

         paternal grandfather.   No son was named Thomas by the 

         Regulator until his 7th child (first by 2nd marriage to 

         Elizabeth Stokes Mays) was named Thomas.  (He was the father 

         of Thomas Simpson Woodward, who wrote "Reminiscences"). 

 

         CONCLUSION....Thomas Woodward's, know as the Regulator, was 

         the son of MARY SIMPSON WOODWARD, believed to be the wife of 

         JOHN WOODWARD....John, father of the Regulator died in 

         Virginia and his widow (mother of the Regulator) remarried to 

         John Robertson in Virginia.  The above information is WRONG! 

 

              (Continuation of data from Pauline Woodward). 

 

         76            WOODWARD DATA (BARNWELL COUNTY S.C.) 

           JAMES ALLEN WOODWARD was a son of James Woodward Sr...James 

         A. Woodward wed Louisa Walker, a daughter of the Rev. N.W. 

         Walker. 

 

         a. The REV. SAMUEL WOODWARD helped found the Williston 

         Baptist Church in 1857...He was brother of James A. Woodward. 

 

         b. CHARLES WOODWARD in 1815 shows as a buyer at the sale of 

         the Johnson & Tool Estate. 

 

         c. RICHARD WOODWARD bought at sale of Mrs. Mary Johnson 

         Estate in 1815. 

 

         d. WILLIAM LUCIUS WOODWARD was a soldier in the Confederate 

         Army from Barnwell County. 

 

         e. ELIZABETH WOODWARD nee Simpson died at the age of 114 

         years and she was the mother of THOMAS WOODWARD, the 

         REGULATOR. She died not state where she got this information. 

         (Note by Robert Hill Sr: These Woodwards were not part of the 

         Barnwell County Woodwards but instead was the "Regulator" in 

         Fairfield County). 

 

         f. JAMES WOODWARD JR. wed first to Alice Walker and then to 

         Louisa Walker, who was the mother of the children, one of who 

         was William Lucius Woodward, who wed three times. One wife 

         being Margaret McLemore, who was mother of John Bunyan 

         Woodward. 

 

         g. THOMAS WOODWARD, The Regulator, had by his first wife, 

         Jemima Collins, 3 sons and four daughters...He had by his 2nd 

         wife Elizabeth May nee Stokes, 3 sons and 3 daughters...She 

         did not state where she got this data. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: Not of the Woodwards of Barnwell County 

         but of Fairfield County.  Again, another mistake on the 

         family & genealogy of Thomas (Regulator) Woodward on the part 

         of an individual, who appears to be trying to connect her 

         self to Thomas (Regulator) Woodward!  Thomas Woodward, the 



         Regulator, DID NOT have 3 sons by Jemima Collins, he had 2 

         sons and 4 daughters...the sons being John, and Rev.  William 

         Woodward (b. 1762) and who was the youngest of their 

         children. He also did not have a son Richard by 2nd wife... 

 

         h. WILLIAM LUCIUS WOODWARD wed 1st to Margaret MeLemore 

         ...wed 2nd time to Annie Hartzog...Wed 3rd time to Hally 

         Black. 

 

         i. COMMENT BY ANDREA......I DO NOT BELIEVE THAT ELIZABETH 

         WOODWARD WILL #48 IS WIDOW OF THE REGULATOR....I MAY BE 

         MISTAKEN HOWEVER. I WILL HAVE TO STUDY FURTHER. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL SR: REFERENCE TO ABOVE COMMENTS BY 

         ANDREA...HE WAS WRONG! THE WILL LISTED AS # 48 WAS INDEED THE 

         WILL OF ELIZABETH STOKES MAYS WOODWARD, THE 2ND WIFE, A WIDOW 

         OF THOMAS (REGULATOR) WOODWARD. 

 

         j. The Will of JAMES WOODWARD # 39 of Horry County S.C. is 

         also on file in Fairfield County...His 2nd wife was a widow, 

         Mary Killingsworth (see # 43)...I do not know how Mrs. 

         Pauline Woodward got this data. 

 

         k. JONATHAN COURTNEY wed Cecilia McQueen, a native of 

         Scotland and was the son of Jonathan Sr. who had brothers: 

         William Martin & John Courtney....Jonathan Courtney Jr. wed 

         Cecilia McQueen and they had a son Jonathan Courtney III., 

         who wed Nancy Brooks, daughter of Ebenezer Brooks and wife 

         Nancy Vutler...They had a daughter, Martha Courtney, who wed 

         William Archibald Baughman.  (Question by Robert Hill: How 

         does this relate to the Woodwards)? 

 

         l. JAMES ALLEN WOODWARD by 2nd wife, Louisa Walker, had the 

         following children: William Lucius Woodward; Paul Woodward; 

         Josiah Woodward; Lizzie m. Howard; Fuller Woodward; Rev. 

         Samuel Woodward; James Woodward & Narcissa. 

 

         m. ANNIE FEASTER or Feasler, wife of James Woodward Sr. is 

         often shown in Barnwell data as NANCY rather than as Annie. 

 

         n. Children of Annie Feaster Woodward & James Woodward were: 

         James A.; John; Uriah; Hezikiah; Joseph; Judith; 

         Tabitha....She did not state where she got these names. 

 

         77             (WOODWARD) MISCELLANY 

           Back to MRS. ELIZABETH STOKES MAY WOODWARD (# 48) IN 

         FAIRFIELD COUNTY....She shows in 1790 Census as a widow...She 

         IS NOT the widow of THOMAS WOODWARD (# 42) since the children 

         do not tally...I will check further in Fairfield on her to 

         see if the widow of the Regulator. 

                                           Andrea 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr:  Andrea was wrong in his assessment on 

         the Elizabeth Woodward ( # 48)...she WAS the widow and 2nd 



         wife of Thomas (Regulator) Woodward!  Do not understand 

         Andrea's assessment here.  The reason why the children 

         probably did not "TALLY" (by Andrea) was that the children 

         named in that will were her's by her marriage to the 

         Regulator..and none of his children by his 1st marriage (to 

         Jemima Collins) was listed..BUT in # 48, note she stated 

         lands between Woodward children to be divided equally...while 

         May lands to be equally divided among her Mays children, 

         who's father was her first husband, John Mays. 

 

         78             SON OF # 77s 

           THOMAS WOODWARD...He likely had an estate...He was dead 

         when his mother made her will on 12 August 1802...From the 

         Will of Henry Woodward (# 49) we know three of the children 

         of this Thomas...Thomas Woodward; Joseph H. Woodward & 

         Elizabeth Woodward. 

 

         There may have been other children of this Thomas. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: The son Thomas Woodward, deceased, and 

         who is mentioned above, was married ca. 1791 to MARY HOWARD 

         in Elbert County Georgia. MARY HOWARD, b.  ca.  1774 in Union 

         County S.C., was daughter of  Nehemiah Howard & Edith Smith. 

 

         Her husband, Thomas Woodward, was the oldest of 6 children 

         born to Thomas (Regulator) Woodward and his 2nd wife 

         "Elizabeth Stokes May." He was born in Fairfield County S.C. 

         His death occurred on 23 March 1800.  MARY (HOWARD) WOODWARD 

         remarried again to James Barrat in 1802, and they had two 

         more children.  (Reference "Nehemiah Howard & His Family," 

         pages 87-89 by Rebecca Echols Terry). 

 

         Data on the other children: Mary Elizabeth Woodward, born 

         1792 Elbert Co., Ga.-d. in November 1833, married General 

         James C.  Watson...they had 9 children. 

 

         Thomas (Regulator) Woodward & 2nd wife Elizabeth Stokes May 

         had a son Thomas Woodward who married Mary Howard. They were 

         the parents of General Thomas Simpson Woodward.  They had no 

         connection to the Woodwards of Barnwell County, S.C. General 

         Thomas Simpson Woodward, born 22 February 1794 in Elbert 

         County Ga.,married Sarah Ann Dubose.  He died 1861 in Winn 

         Parish, Louisiana. He was the one that wrote several letters 

         with genealogy data on his grandfather, the Regulator, that 

         later was printed in newspapers as a series of articles and 

         eventually in book form known as "Reminiscences." Some of 

         that data was wrong!  He had 3 children: 

 

                    Thomas Andrew Woodward, b. 2 June 1821, d. 1862 in 

                    Louisiana.  He married Louisa Griggs and they had 

                    2 children (both born in Ark.) and both died early 

                    in life. 

 

                    Bernice Woodward, died just before she was to 



                    marry. 

 

                    John Woodward died at age 25 unmarried. 

 

         Joseph H. Woodward, born 22 February 1797 and died as a 

         child. (Not too sure of this statement...he was named in 

         mother's 1802 will). 

 

         James Barrat Jr. born ca. 1803 & Nancy Barrat born ca. 1805 

         were children of MARY HOWARD WOODWARD & HER 2ND HUSBAND JAMES 

         BARRAT. 

 

         79 

           Back to THOMAS WOODWARD (3 & 42)....I do not think this is 

         the father of Thomas, the Regulator, since in this will he 

         lists as executor of his will, son Thomas Woodward Jr. and we 

         know the Regulator was dead in 1782. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: Andrea was right, also the father of the 

         Regulator is suspected to be a JOHN WODDWARD. 

 

         80 

           When a man died intestate (no will)...his estate was 

         administered and in the S.C. Archives there are no copies of 

         this data...It has to be found in the county court houses. 

 

         81 

           Check back to John Woodward (# 53)...When you find the 

         father of this John, you will ALSO find the father of GEORGE 

         WOODWARD (# 71). This will entail work in Winnsboro. 

 

         82 

           I want to go to Winnsboro before Christmas and complete all 

         of this Woodward research. 

 

         83             FAIRFIELD COUNTY S.C. 

           ROLLING WILLIAMSON...His will signed 5 March 1824, probated 

         1 October 1824, wife Alicy Williamson....children: 

         Jemima A. Williamson     Thomas Williamson & Ex. 

 

         These children by last wife and some say nee Alicy Woodward.. 

         These other children listed as: 

         Lucy N. Waring           Sarah DuBose 

         MARTHA WOODWARD          AILCY WOODWARD...wife of # 54 

         John Williamson          Roling Williamson 

         Mary Heath, deceased.    Rebecca Hodge 

 

         Grand daughter Martha Williamson...Mentions Richard Hodges, 

         who is now deceased....5 shillings are given to each of the 

         last children and a valuable estate is given to Jemima & 

         Thomas. /Wit. Lucy R. Waring, John M. Waring & AILEY 

         WOODWARD. 

 

         84             FAIRFIELD COUNTY 



           MRS. SARAH SMART....her will signed 7 June 1852, probated 

         24 April 1857. Her Children listed as: 

         John Smart           Caroline Moon 

         HARRIET WOODWARD     Robert Smart 

 

         William Smart & his daughter Ann Smart 

         Exs: Josiah Hinnant & William Shedd 

         /Wit. William Shedd, James McConnell & William McCreight 

 

         More pages will follow and numbered to follow page 19 and new 

         items to follow Item # 84. 

 

         DUE TO LACK OF COMPUTER CAPACITY, THIS INFORMATION IS 

         CONTINUED UNDER ADATA.002 

 

         ADATA.002      PART TWO OF LEONARDO ANDREA COLLECTION ON THE 

         WOODWARD FAMILY OF SOUTH CAROLINA WITH ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY 

         ROBERT HILL SR. (CONTINUED FROM ADATA.001). 

 

         85          WOODWARD DATA FROM MARYLAND. 

           At the University (of S.C.) Library here, I ran into the 8- 

         Vols on Calender of Wills in Maryland by Miss Baldwin...I 

         took time and abstracted what data I thought might help on 

         Woodward. 

 

         86          LONDON, ENGLAND. 

           Mrs. SARAH WOODWARD....Her Will signed 25 April 1734, 

         probated 11 Sept. 1734....Children. 

         William Woodward & Ex.       Sarah Holmes, w widow & Ex. 

         Amos Woodward in Maryland    Sarah, w. of Cornelius Rehowne 

                                      Elizabeth, w. of Benjamin Barren 

         also to 

         Amos Garrett, brother in Maryland...Deceased and to his heirs 

         Elizabeth Gunn (?) sister....And others in will /Wit.  John 

         Welles, Thomas Foxley & Edward Grubb. 

 

         The son Amos Woodward was a resident of Annapolis, Md. 

 

         87             ST MARY COUNTY MARYLAND. 

           HENRY SPINK in a will signed 6 Feb. 1733 names one legatee 

         as HARRIET WOODWARD, my sister. 

 

         88             ST MARY COUNTY MARYLAND. 

           ABRAHAM WOODWARD was witness to the will of John Guther, 

         signed 4 May 1739...No other time does Abraham Woodward show 

         in the Index to any of the 8-Vols. 

 

         89             ST MARY COUNTY MARYLAND. 

           JOSHUA GUIBERT....His will signed 10 Nov. 1743, probated 1 

         Dec. 1743, Wife..Jane Guibert & Ex.  Children: 

         MARY WOODWARD            Susannah Good 

         Anne Guibert             Elizabeth Guibert 

         Joshua Guibert Jr. 

         Mentions two grandchildren as Luke Woodward & Joseph 



         Woodward.  /Wit. John Guibert, Martha Guibert & James 

         Dickson. 

 

         90             CHARLES COUNTY MARYLAND. 

           JOHN WOODWARD....His will signed 5 April 1743, probated 23 

         June 1743. Wife, "My beloved" & Ex. (Name not given). 

         Children and no surname used. 

         Henry      Elizabeth 

         Mary       James 

         Mentions but not by name "Stepson." 

         /Wit. Robert Cabot, James Gray, William Nelson, Dr. Vahn & 

         William Story. 

 

         91             FAIRFIELD COUNTY S.C. (From my Perry Files) 

           Joseph Perry...His estate admst. 15 Feb. 1836 by his widow, 

         Jane Perry and her bond signed by David B. Kirkland..The 

         estate was appraised by John Rabb...Isaac Lowe..Thomas W. 

         Rawls.  Four children and all under age of 14 years: 

         Mary Ann Perry      John F. Perry 

         Elizabeth F. Perry  Joseph H. Perry 

              Division of Estate in Fall Court 1840. 

         Same four children....The widow, Jane Perry was now the wife 

         of WILLIAM WOODWARD. 

 

         92             ST MARY COUNTY MARYLAND. 

           JOHN WATER...Will signed 26 Feb. 1692, No probate date 

         given, Wife was Penelope Water & Ex....MY SEVEN 

         CHILDREN..only six named:  James, Joseph, Lewis, Thomas, 

         William, John. /Wit. John Dent, John Harrison & George 

         Dimond. 

 

         93       WOODWARD-WATERS  of MARYLAND. 

           JOHN WATERS....Will signed 2 March 1707, probated 15 June 

         1708.  Wife not given by first name...Children: 

         John Waters Jr.          William Waters 

         Edmund Waters            Sarah Waters...minor 

         Exs: Brothers, William & Richard Waters with my father-in- 

         Law, Lazarus...Cousin, Arthur Denwood. 

         /Wit. William Puesy, John Brown & William Tull. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr:  Andrea was obviously trying to follow 

         up on the stories that were (wrongly) circulated that Thomas 

         Woodward (son of Abraham) and who married the widow Margaret 

         Waters Ijams were the parents of Thomas (Regulator) 

         Woodward...which we now know was not the case. 

 

         94             ANN ARUNDEL COUNTY MARYLAND. 

           JOHN WATTORS....Will signed 27 November 1703, probated 13 

         June 1704...Wife was Elizabeth Wattors...Children and all 

         minors: 

         Mary Wattors          Samuel Wattors 

         John Wattors          Margaret Wattors 

         William Wattors       * One in Pregnant wife 

         Ex. Brother-In-Law, John Giles with wife. 



         /Wit. William Cole, Margaret Steward, Grad Hopkins, William 

         Richardson & John Giles. 

         * Codicil named this child as Joseph Wattors. 

         Some indications that the daughter, Margaret wed a Mr. Ijous. 

         I can check further on this. 

 

         95             ST MARY COUNTY Md. (Popular Hill) 

           THOMAS WOODWARD....Will signed 27 April 1717...no probate 

         date, Wife named as Rachel Woodward & Ex.  Children: 

         Johanna Woodward    Mary Woodward. 

         /Wit. John Hammond, Samuel Johnson & Barham Nosly or Mosby. 

 

         96             ST MARY COUNTY (MARYLAND) 

           MRS FRANCES CRITCHETT nee Watkins....Her will signed 3 

         April 1718...Husband, William Critchett...No children 

         mentioned. Two grand children listed as: 

         James, son of Henry Harris 

         ANN, daughter of JOHN WOODWARD. 

         Did Not check fully...Andrea 

 

         97             SOMERSET (COUNTY MD.) 

           RICHARD WATERS (Brother of # 93)....Will signed 21 April 

         1720, probated 12July 1720...Wife, Eliza Water & Ex. 

         Children: 

         William Waters & Ex.       Richard Waters Jr. 

         Littleton Waters. 

         Other Exs. Brother, William Waters, and nephew John Waters. 

         /Wit. John Brown, William Pearson & Richard Harper. 

 

         98             ST MARY COUNTY (MD.) 

           JOHN WATERS....Will signed 2 Feb. 1719, probated 28 Feb. 

         1719. No wife is listed and likely dead...Children and 

         minors: 

         Margaret Water           Anne Waters 

         John Waters              James Waters  Ex. Edward King 

         /Wit. James King & Thomas Asquith 

 

         99             CALVARET COUNTY MARYLAND 

           ELIZABETH, widow of FRANCIS HUTCHEONS...Will signed 16 Oct. 

         1740, probated 25 Oct. 1740...Children: 

         Richard Hutcheons        Elizabeth Hutcheons 

         Exs: Sister SARAH WATERS and LITTLETON WATERS, Brother in Law 

         /Wit. Henry Lowes, Esther Lowes & Rebecca Cathline. 

 

         100            SOMERSET COUNTY MD. (WOODWARD) 

            WILLIAM WATERS, son of Richard Waters, deceased (# 97) his 

         Will signed 9 June 1732, probated 10 March 1732, Wife named 

         as Abigail Waters, Children and all minors: 

         Richard Waters      Elizabeth Waters 

 

         Others named in Will: Elizabeth Waters, my mother; Sarah 

         Waters, my sister; Littleton Waters, my brother & Ex. /Wit. 

         Charles Hall, John Henston & Boaz Walston. 

 



         101            CHARLES COUNTY MARYLAND 

           JAMES WATERS....Will signed 3 October 1740, probated 21 

         Feb. 1741. Wife, Elizabeth Waters.  Children: 

         William Waters           Catherine Waters 

         If children die before maturity...then to Peter Garrett Sr. 

         and to his son, Peter Garrett Jr...."If my children depart 

         from Catholic Faith, the estate to nearest of Waters kin who 

         are Catholic." 

         Exs: Ignatius Doyne & John Eassam. /Wit. Joshua Wilson, 

         Matthew Marton & Luke Scantling. 

 

         101-a 

            Several of the Waters state to rear children as Catholics 

         but James is first to disinherit them if they turn 

         Protestant. 

 

         101-b 

            I checked this to find the Margaret Waters, who was 

         mother of Thomas Woodward, The Regulator of Fairfield County, 

         S.C. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr:  I knew in my mind that was what Andrea 

         was searching for BUT SHE WAS NOT HIS MOTHER....The story 

         that was widely accepted was that she was the FIRST WIFE of 

         the Regulator's Father, THOMAS WOODWARD, who did marry 

         Margaret (Waters) Izams (Ijams)...BUT THIS TOO IS AN 

         ERROR...THAT THOMAS WAS BORN, MARRIED, & DIED WAY TOO LATE TO 

         HAVE BEEN FATHER OF REGULATOR. 

 

         102            FAIRFIELD COUNTY S.C. 

           On the road from Ridgeway to Winnsboro, I stopped at an Old 

         WOODWARD graveyard...It is surrounded by a large rock wall. 

         Vandals have removed and broken many stones...I copied all 

         that were legible except I did not copy the several GADSDEN 

         grave stones in this cemetery. 

 

         WILLIAM WOODWARD/ 7 April 1792/ 15 Aug. 1842 

         HARRIET/ wife of/ William Woodward/ Died 12 May 1857/ aged 50 

         years...(See # 84 as nee Harriet Smart. 

 

         THOMAS WOODWARD/ THE REGULATOR/ Killed by British & Tories/ 

         12 May 1779....This is a handsome upright marker. 

 

         JOHN WOODWARD DURHAM /Died 20 Jan. 1858/ In his 51st Year. 

         Two other built up rock tombs...Vandals have removed the top 

         stones with inscriptions...Likely Osmund & wife Martha. 

         Next to these are five similar tombs...One of the marker has 

         been stolen....two not legible...Two I deciphered. 

 

         JOHN OSMOND (WOODWARD)/ Son of O. & M. WOODWARD/ Died 7 Jan 

         1825  Aged 3 years, 6 mos. & 5 days. 

         WILLIAM STROTHER (WOODWARD)/ Son of O. & M. WOODWARD/ Died 16 

         Oct. 1825/ Aged 5 mos. & 10 days. 

 



         The other two with stones were also children of Osmond & 

         Martha Woodward...One other in this row had stone stolen. 

         Graves by Thomas Woodward, The Regulator, and if these ever 

         had any stones, they have been taken or destroyed by 

         vandals...I imagine some of these graves were wife or wives. 

         In next row and not in line with children of Osmond & Martha 

         are two rock tombs of grown persons...Marble tops have been 

         turned upside down by vandals...I was unable to lift these to 

         return and read the inscriptions. 

         Several marked graves but all of GADSDENS...They may have 

         been related to Woodward...Many Gadsden stones are much 

         later. 

 

                        FAIRFIELD CO., S.C. 

         The number at top are File Numbers if an estate or an Equity 

         or if as B-31 indicates (DEED BOOK B, Page 31). 

 

         102-a 

            I went over the old MT. ZION PRESBYTERIAN CEMETERY and 

         found no Woodward markers there in Winnsboro...I went to the 

         old Baptist Cemetery and found one which has a Woodward in 

         the middle name.. 

           WILLIAM WOODWARD WILLINGHAM/ 30 Mar. 1818/20 Mar. 1874 

 

         102-b 

            The old Woodward Baptist Church along the Fairfield- 

         Chester County Line had no Woodward...One grave stone had 

         middle name as John Woodward Durham/ 20 July 1839/ 29 Sept. 

         1881 

                his wife 

         Mary Wagner Mobley/ 27 Aug. 1842/ 21 Jan. 1904 

         Elizabeth/ Wife of Jones Taylor/ Died 7 Mar. 1839/ Age 26. 

 

         102-c 

            At Winnsboro it began to rain and we could not visit the 

         old Associate Reform Presbyterian...The Methodist.. or the 

         Episcopal cemeteries to try to locate Woodward grave stones. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr:  The grave of Nancy Elizabeth Barrett, 

         who was the wife of Reverend William Woodward, son of the 

         Regulator, is located in the ASHFORD CEMETERY near Winnsboro, 

         in Fairfield Co., S.C.  The marker reads: 

         "Sacred to the memory of Nancy Woodward, relict of the late 

         Reverend William Woodward, who departed this life August 

         10th, 1829, Age 62 years. (born 1767).  (Note by Robert Hill: 

         This was my 4th great grandmother). 

 

         IN THE OLD WOODWARD GRAVEYARD, NEAR LITTLE RIVER (EAST FORK) 

         in Avon Section of (todays) FAIRFIELD COUNTY....are the 

         following graves... 

 

         "Sacred to the Memory of NANCY WOODWARD, who died August 21, 

         1831 in the 21st year of her age." (Broken down vault). (Her 

         birth ca. 1810). 



 

         "Sacred to the Memory of GEORGE WOODWARD, who departed this 

         life September 26, 1811, in the 35th year of his age." (Born 

         1776). 

 

         His wife Elizabeth Woodward, who died December 16, 1830, in 

         the 53rd year of her age." (born 1777).  Both of these 

         inscription were on one slab of a vault, which was broken up. 

 

         This George Woodward may be part of the family of # 57. 

 

         103  (FAIRFIELD CO.) 35-577 (BOOK 35, PAGE 577) ....See # 54 

            JOHN WOODWARD will was proved 24 March 1824...Many of the 

         children were minors...The Estate was appraised by James 

         McCravey..Silas Gladden, Elijah Gayden...In the WPA will in 

         # 54, I left out one child: Esther or Easter WOODWARD. 

 

         There is a large sale list and many buyers by name of 

         Woodward and of Strother and Williamson...The wife was a 

         daughter of Roling Williamson # 83 as shown by his 

         estate...Never in any dower did this John Woodward ever have 

         a wife named PATSY...I think the Patesy Axham in # 4 is an 

         error as wife of this man...Also in the Roling Williamson 

         file, Osmond Woodward, brother of this John, wed a sister 

         Ailey Williamson...Her name was Martha Williamson...I can 

         examine this estate further if needed.  (This was part of the 

         Regluator's family). 

 

         104            EQUITY 1817-4 ? 

           BURBAGE WOODWARD (See # 18-e) VS. James Davis....Filed 20 

         Nov. 1807....JOHN WOODWARD died in 1797 and he is the father 

         of your petitioner, Burbage Woodward...His father John 

         Woodward in his life time bought a plantation of land from 

         Edmund Watts (Once as Edward Watts) and lived there and was 

         living there when he died in 1797, and at the death of John 

         Woodward, the land passed to his son, Burbage Woodward. James 

         Davis claims this land was deeded to him and therefore claims 

         the land...Suit won by Burbage Woodward....  Now this Burbage 

         Woodward had a son named Burbage Woodward Jr. 

 

         104-a 

            This JOHN WOODWARD had a wife named Patsey as shown by a 

         deed...I was unable to find the estate of this JOHN WOODWARD 

         (See him in # 18-e)...I will have to have a lot more time to 

         check Fairfield and then perhaps in adjoining counties in 

         order to unravel all these Woodward ramifications. 

         (This was the Regulator's family) 

 

         105            WHAT DID I PROVE 

           Mrs. Bogges....Mrs. Johnson....Mrs. Julian....ALL descend 

         from a common WOODWARD ancestor....So far I have not located 

         this elusive man...Each of you can decide whether you want to 

         spend enough money for about a week of work...It will take 

         that long to unravel it all. 



                                     Andrea 

 

         106  FAIRFIELD COUNTY S.C.  FILE 33-530...(See # 52) 

           RICHARD WOODWARD...His estate was appraised by Edward Watts 

         (See # 104) Stephen Nowlen & Hugh Aiken...The Estate and will 

         was probated and executed by his friends, George & Richard 

         Woodward...No list of heirs in file save...widow, Anne 

         Woodward; and youngest child James Woodward. 

 

         From the file he had several children...I think that by deeds 

         and Equity, I may be able to find all his children...I did 

         not have time on this trip. 

 

         107       II-367 (BOOK II-PAGE 367) ...not Richard # 106 

           RICHARD WOODWARD...A deed for love & affection to my SONS 

         and dated 21 March 1829: 

         George Woodward   &   Richard Woodward Jr. 

         112 acres of land situate on the Columbia Road being part of 

         a grant to Richard Woodward Sr. that passed to his son, 

         Richard Woodward (NOW SR.) /Wit. Robert Bell & Andrew Bell. 

 

         107-a 

           This Richard is likely son of Richard  # 106. 

 

         108                 LL-3 (BOOK LL-PAGE 3) 

           JOHN J. WOODWARD in this deed as in scores of other deeds 

         was COMMISSIONER OF EQUITY for Winnsboro of Fairfield 

         District (County). 

 

         109                 96-1056 (BOOK 96-PAGE 1056) 

            ISAAC WOODWARD....His estate was Admst. 24 Oct. 1831 by 

         Joseph Woodward and his bond was signed by Randol Woodward 

         Sr. and by Randol Woodward Jr....Administered by consent of 

         the widow, Mrs. Priscilla Woodward...Estate was appraised by 

         Jacob Feaster Jr., Randolph Woodward, James Cameron, Richard 

         C. Woodward, Robert D.A. Thorp....Division of Estate was made 

         5 Jan. 1835...Widow Mrs. Priscilla Woodward...children: 

         Daniel Y. Woodward....minor & mother guardian 

         Isaac H. Woodward.....minor & mother guardian 

         James P. Woodward.....He was a minor and mother guardian 

 

         23 March 1839 Elijah Eubanks of Union Co., S.C. was named as 

         the legal guardian of James P. Woodward, still a minor...The 

         other two sons were then of age....The widow Priscilla 

         Woodward was then wife of Elijah Eubanks, Cross Key Post 

         Office, Union District S.C.  also Elijah Eubanks and his wife 

         Priscilla Woodward Eubanks 28th December 1842 and of Union 

         District S.C.....Pay $ 280 to MARY WOODWARD of Fairfield 

         District, S.C.....a Note which May (Mary?) had incurred when 

         she took care of the sons of Isaac Woodward, deceased. 

 

         110             HH-45 (BOOK HH, PAGE 45) 

           RANDOLPH WOODWARD (Often as Randol) SR.....A deed signed 18 

         Feb. 1830...A tract or plantation of land in Fairfield TO MY 



         SONS 

         Randolph Woodward Jr.         Joseph Woodward 

         Isaac Woodward   (SEE #109) 

         Plantation of land which was an original grant to JOHN BELL 

         and lying between lands of Isaac Woodward, Richard Woodward, 

         heirs of William Woodward. /Wit....Forgot to check the names. 

 

 

         110-a 

           Definitely each of the clients is in some way closely 

         related to this RANDOLPH WOODWARD SR. (I did not find his 

         estate in Winnsboro)...Also to the Bell Family...also to the 

         Aiken Family. 

         * ISAAC WOODWARD # 109, when he died in 1801 had an interest 

         in this plantation of land....The Watts Family also mix in 

         with your set of Woodwards...See # 104 where the John 

         Woodward died  1797 owned Edward Watts land. 

 

                        FAIRFIELD COUNTY S.C. 

         111       33-530 (FILE 33, PAGE 530)...(SEE # 51) ???) 

           JOHN WOODWARD, FILE for his wife Easther (Also Easter in 

         will) as MRS. ESTHER WOODWARD...Her estate was appraised by 

         William Simpson Aaron Trapp, William James, Roling 

         Williamson, Hinson Keit....Division of her estate to: 

         Osmond Woodward...a son m. Martha Williamson 

         Sarah, wife of William Strother, a daughter 

         Mary Ann Collins, wife of Thomas Lyles, a daughter 

         John Woodward, a son...m. Ailey Williamson 

         John Woodward Durham, grandson..a full share in right of his 

                               deceased mother, Cynthia Durham. 

         William Thomas Woodward, a son. 

         Legacy paid to Miss Elise Eliza Hagood 

         Legacy paid to Mrs. Nancy Henderson, a sister..willed to her 

         Legacy paid to Ranson Lyles, a grandson...willed to him. 

         111-a 

           Practically same file of her husband, John Woodward and 

         same heirs as in will # 111 save some grandchildren had 

         legacies willed to them as follows: 

         John Woodward, grandson       Osmond Woodward, grandson 

         Wm. T. Woodward, grandson     Wm. Strother Lyles, grandson 

         John Dargan Strother, ""      John W. Durham, grandson 

         This clears all heirs in this estate or rather these estates. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr:  This Esther Woodward, was the wife of 

         JOHN WOODWARD, the oldest child of Thomas (Regulator) 

         Woodward & his 1st wife Jemima Collins. 

 

         112             SEE # 48 

           MRS. ELIZABETH WOODWARD...Nothing in her files except the 

         Will and no list of heirs. 

 

         112-a 

           More papers may show in other files...In Fairfield County 

         many papers from other files were woefully mixed ca. 1910 by 



         a drunken lawyer, Scion of a first family of Winnsboro...He 

         miss laid many papers...Others he mixed hither and yon... 

         Several years ago I worked a D.A.R. Line for a lady in 

         Mississippi and in file of her ancestor, JOHN MURFF, I found 

         inventory and receipts from heirs..Mention was made of the 

         Administration but I was never able to find the bond or the 

         sale list or other data.  While at work on Woodward, I found 

         these missing papers tucked in a file which did not remotely 

         concern the man...I also found on this trip some other papers 

         in a file which did not belong there...Almost every time I 

         work in Winnsboro, I find papers tucked in wrong 

         files...Eventually the papers on Mrs. Elizabeth Woodward may 

         show up in some other file. 

 

         113 

           THOMAS McMILLAN...His estate...I did not take the dates of 

         Administration..Division made 11 Aug. 1821. 

         Widow, Elizabeth McMillan 

         Morris McMillan, son 

         John McMillan, son 

         Mary, wife of John Cockrell, daughter 

 

         Many papers of this file were in another file for MORRIS 

         McMILLAN, the son...He died a bachelor and his estate was 

         divided 1 Jan. 1826...Heirs were his mother and his brother & 

         sister above. 

 

         114            A-477  (BOOK A, PAGE 477??) 

           Miss ELIZABETH WOODWARD, spinster, a deed signed 22 Sept. 

         1780 to Thomas May...300 acres of land willed to me by 

         deceased father, THOMAS WOODWARD and a original grant to him 

         on Mill Creek and part of an original grant to Robert Stark, 

         /Wit. James Nelson and John Woodward...I do not think this is 

         the same THOMAS WOODWARD # 42...This Elizabeth signs this 

         deed 22 Sept. 1780....Thomas # 42 signed his will 31 October 

         1780 HOWEVER Thomas # 42 owned a lot of land in Fairfield 

         County. 

 

         114-a This MISS ELIZABETH WOODWARD is likely the ELIZABETH 

         McMORRIES in Will 3 48. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: Andrea was right...This is the family of 

         THOMAS (REGULATOR) WOODWARD...and Elizabeth was his daughter 

         by that name. Her mother was the 2nd wife of the Regulator, 

         Elizabeth Stokes May.  Note this woman signed spinster BUT 

         she later married William McMorries. 

 

         114-b          PROVED BY # 114 

             THOMAS WOODWARD, The Regulator, left a will...Question is 

         where is the will?  Since he died in 1779, the will can be in 

         any of the old county seats of Old Craven District or else in 

         Charleston...This will help solve some Woodward problems. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr:  Andrea was right...there obviously was 



         a will, based on the statement made by Elizabeth Woodward in 

         Item # 114 when she says "300 acres of land WILLED to me by 

         my deceased father, THOMAS WOODWARD" but the will has never 

         been found. 

 

         115                 A-477  (BOOK A, PAGE 477??) 

           THOMAS WOODWARD (His X Mark) ...A deed signed 10 Jan. 1778 

         to Robert Rabb...350 acres of land on Mill Creek, which was 

         an original grant to Samuel Elliott, who sold it to Robert 

         Stark (See # 114) who then sold it to me and adjacent to the 

         land of Thomas Rutland, Paul Rennet, Robert Stark. /Wit. 

         Jacob Gibson, William Robertson & John Woodward....Recorded 

         in 1785. 

 

         116                 N-8  (BOOK N, PAGE 8 ??) 

           THOMAS WOODWARD (His X mark) of Craven County...A deed 

         signed 4 Aug. 1780 to Phillip Raiford...Dower by his wife, 

         Elizabeth Woodward. /Wit. William Sanders & Thomas 

         May...Since the Regulator was dead in 1779, this is Thomas 

         Woodward named in # 42. 

 

         116-a 

           The two sets of children of Thomas, the Regulator, and of 

         the Thomas # 42 were both in Fairfield...Likely John in # 104 

         is son of Thomas # 42...Also Priscilla in # 109 may be a 

         daughter of # 42. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: Andrea is right about the Regulator 

         being dead BUT the name of Phillip Raiford, John May, John 

         Woodward were also names of people connected to the 

         Regulator's family...Was it possible that this was a 

         transaction between the TWO different Woodward families? 

 

         117                 A-453 (BOOK A, PAGE 453) 

           Joseph Kirkland...A deed signed 7 Jan. 1786 to HENRY 

         WOODWARD, 300 acres of land originally granted to Joseph 

         Kirkland. /Wit. William Roach & John James. 

 

         118                 A-98  (BOOK A, PAGE 98??) 

           JOHN WOODWARD  (See # 104) A deed signed 5 Nov. 1790 to his 

         son, BURBAGE WOODWARD....Gift all of my cattle, Horses, 

         Negroes, Farming Implements...etc../Wit. Usham Fair & Edward 

         Watts Sr. 

 

         119                 L-224 (BOOK L, PAGE 224??) 

           JOSEPH WOODWARD, Gentlemen, a deed signed 20 Dec. 1796 to 

         William Strother, 151 acres land granted to Major Pierce 

         Butler and adjacent to the lands of James Hendricks, John 

         Woodward, Col. Joseph Kirkland & Samuel Gutan. /(Wit.?) John 

         Woodward, Samuel B. Nelson & James Hendricks. 

 

         120          34-552 (FILE #34, PAGE 552)....See # 57 

           GEORGE WOODWARD....His estate was Admst. 19 Oct. 1814 by 

         William Woodward & John Woodward (Seemingly his brothers) and 



         their bond was signed by RANDOL WOODWARD (See # 110) and 

         Richard Woodward...The widow was ELIZABETH WOODWARD and she 

         received from the estate her DOWER of one-third the estate. 

         RANDOL WOODWARD (Randolph) figures heavily in this estate and 

         he is a kinsman (likely a brother)...BUYERS at the Sale: 

         Mrs. Elizabeth Woodward       James Stevenson 

         Isaac Lowe                    Samuel Clark 

         Richard Woodward              George Noland 

         William Woodward              James Woodward 

         Samuel Taylor                 John Aiken 

         Joseph Evans                  William Robertson 

         Randol Woodward Sr.           Edward Watts 

         Samuel McMullan               Hugh Aiken and others. 

 

         The widow Elizabeth Woodward bought most of the estate.. 

         Mention is made of an Equity for division of the land...I 

         will have to locate this. 

 

                     FAIRFIELD COUNTY WOODWARDS 

         120-a 

            Estate of GEORGE WOODWARD, division (made) 16 Aug. 1816. 

         The widow, ELIZABETH WOODWARD...one Third...Rest to children: 

         Nathaniel Woodward           Isaac Woodward 

         Margaret Woodward            Jennet (Jane) Woodward 

         Elizabeth (Betsy) Woodward   Nancy Woodward 

         George Woodward 

         Some of these children, in fact all, were minors...Their 

         mother, Elizabeth Woodward, was their guardian. 

 

         121            69-1052 (FILE 69-PAGE 1052) 

           MRS. ELIZABETH WOODWARD...Her Estate was administered 19 

         Dec. 1830 by Charles Bell and Nathaniel Woodward. The Bond 

         was signed by Nathaniel Woodward & John Rogers. The Estate 

         was appraised by Thomas Lauderdale, Robert Bankhead, William 

         Hamilton & Richard C. Woodward. Buyers at the Sale were: 

         Isaac C. Woodward        Richard C. Woodward 

         George Woodward          Miss Margaret Woodward 

         Charles Bell             ANDREW HANNA 

         RICHARD MORGAN           Andrew Pitcrew 

         John Rogers              JAMES MORGAN 

         Division of estate made 1 Jan. 1833...Heirs were: 

         Nathaniel Woodward          Margaret, wife of Charnal James 

         Nancy, wife of James Morgan Isaac Woodward 

         Nancy Woodward..also as Agnes Woodward & George Woodward. 

 

         George Woodward was a minor and his guardian was Charles Bell 

         and his guardianship bond was signed by Robert Bell & Hugh 

         Barkley. Later Charles Bell resigns as guardian and NATHANIEL 

         WOODWARD took over a guardian, for George Woodward, a minor. 

 

         121-b 

           There was a payment for tombstone for Mrs. Elizabeth 

         Woodward and for her deceased husband (His name not listed) 

         and I have reason to think her deceased husband was GEORGE 



         WOODWARD listed in # 120. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: Perhaps it is the George Woodward who's 

         grave is listed in # 102. 

 

         121-c             IN SAME FILE 

           MISS AGNES or otherwise called NANCY WOODWARD died 19 April 

         1832...Her estate was continued with Charles Bell as the 

         Admst. Division of the estate of Miss NANCY WOODWARD made 1 

         Jan. 1833 and to her brothers & sisters. 

         Nathaniel Woodward            Isaac Woodward 

         Isaac Woodward                Margaret w. of Charnal James 

         George Woodward (minor)       Nancy w. of James Morgan 

 

         Paid George Brown for making a tombstone for Nancy Woodward 

         and paid JOHN JOHNSTON for building the tomb and placing the 

         tombstone. 

 

         121-d 

           If we could find all these tombstones, we will make some 

         headway on this set of children of Elizabeth Woodward. 

 

         121-e 

           This list of children of MRS. ELIZABETH WOODWARD nearly 

         TALLY with the children of George Woodward (# 120-a), but not 

         exactly...Left out are two from # 120-a Betsey Woodward & 

         Jane or Jennet Woodward and added to the list in # 121 is a 

         single daughter, who died Nancy or Agnes Woodward...She does 

         not show in # 120-a, however it is possible she was born 

         after he died...Now for his estate divided two years after he 

         died...I will have to study this further with deeds and 

         Equity records. 

 

         121-f 

           ANDREW M. HANNA and RICHARD MORGAN bought heavily at the 

         sale..OR it is possible that the two ANDREW HANNA & ANDREW M. 

         HANNA were separate men...Often as Andrew Hannah and again as 

         Andrew M. Hannah. 

              Andrew M. Hannah wed Elizabeth Woodward 

              John Morgan wed Jane or Jennet Woodward 

         Both of these were daughters of George Woodward (# 120), 

         seemingly but neither heired from the estate of Mrs. 

         Elizabeth Woodward (# 121). Most of the HANNA Family of 

         Fairfield moved to Green County Alabama. 

 

         122            33-578 (FILE 33 PAGE 578) 

           JAMES WOODWARD....This estate was administered (with 

         consent of the widow, LEVICA WOODWARD) by WILLIAM WOODWARD 

         SR....The Citation to administer was read by the clerk on 16 

         May 1823...WILLIAM WOODWARD, brother of James Woodward, died 

         soon after he administered...There was a De Bonis (Non 

         Administration) by Hugh Stevenson & William Woodward (The son 

         of James)...In this file most of the papers are missing...No 

         final settlement. 



 

         122-a          69-1053 (FILE 69, PAGE 1053) 

           Mrs. LEVICA WOODWARD....23rd Jan. 1831 has herself named as 

         the legal guardian of MINOR CHILDREN. 

         Richard Woodward         Zachariah Woodward 

         Sarah Woodward           Nancy Woodward 

         James Osmond Woodward    George W. Woodward 

 

         One son, William Woodward, was of legal age...There may have 

         been other children over age 21 years...Hugh Stevenson and 

         William Woodward (her son) signed the Guardianship bonds. 

 

         122-b          70-1068 (FILE 70 PAGE 1068) 

            RICHARD WOODWARD, a single man, his mother, Mrs. LEVICA 

         WOODWARD, asks that her son, ZACHARIAH WOODWARD, be named as 

         Administrator and he administered on 8 Aug. 1836...A few 

         months later, Zachariah Woodward had moved out of S.C. to the 

         western states (Likely Alabama or Mississippi) and on 1 Jan. 

         1837 Mrs. Levica Woodward asks that S. Hugh Stevenson take 

         over as the Administrator...Samuel H. Stevenson then took 

         over...The estate was appraised by Samuel McMullen, Thomas 

         Lauderdale, Charles Bell, John C. Woodward & Richard C. 

         Woodward.....The brother, WILLIAM W. WOODWARD had also by 

         this time moved out of S.C. to the western lands....NO LIST 

         OF HEIRS in the file...Save a notation Heirs were his mother 

         and his brothers & sisters. 

 

         122-c 

           This Levica Woodward was a sister in law of Levica 

         Woodward, widow of William Woodward...She was also a sister 

         or a sister in law of Mrs. Elizabeth Woodward (# 121)...This 

         Levica Woodward (I want to examine her deeds) sells out and 

         also removes to the western lands...She is likely the Mrs. 

         Levica Smith Woodward who removed to Mississippi, and aunt of 

         Nathaniel Woodward (# 69). 

 

         123            69-1058 (FILE 69 PAGE 1058) 

           MISS MARGARET WOODWARD (Note she bought at sale of # 121 

         and same as will # 50)...Her only heir was LEVICA WOODWARD, 

         her sister in law, and widow of James Woodward (# 122). 

         William Woodward, her nephew and son of James Woodward (# 

         122) executed the will...I can abstract buyers at sale and 

         the appraisers in case you desire more on her. 

 

         124 

           COURT of EQUITY files on estates of James Woodward and on 

         his brother, William Woodward and widows, Levica Woodward and 

         Levica Woodward brought suit for a land division...The Equity 

         files have no Index before 1840 and are hard to find...I have 

         to work patiently thru box after box until I locate the file. 

 

         125       FAIRFIELD COUNTY 33-527 (FILE 33 PAGE 527) 

           HENRY WOODWARD, received of Joseph Woodward, Executor to 

         the Estate of Henry Woodward, deceased...a Negro boy named 



         Jessee...signed 24 Feb. 1806 by Mrs. Elizabeth Woodward, 

         widow. Question: Is this Elizabeth Woodward (#121)? 

 

         126 QUESTION: 

         Change numbers 28 from 223 and 224 to 123 and 124. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr:  Andrea had typed the wrong numbers..He 

         should have numbered the items as 123 & 124...I have made the 

         corrections. 

 

 

         127            36-580 (FILE 36, PAGE 580) 

           WILLIAM WOODWARD... His estate (with consent of the widow, 

         Levica Woodward) is administered 24 Dec. 1823 by Charles Bell 

         and the bond was signed by Thomas Bell and Robert Bankhead. 

         /Wit. William Gibson...The estate was appraised by Hugh 

         Stevenson, Samuel McMillan Sr., Samuel McMillan Jr., Thomas 

         Bell, Robert Bell, Robert Milling J.P.....The sale was held 

         on 8 Jan. 1824 and most of the personal estate was bought by 

         the widow Mrs. Levica Woodward...THIS ANCESTOR of MRS. JOHN 

         W. JULIAN.   In the file...  15th July 1823, I William 

         Woodward, do promise to pay to William Woodward or Hugh 

         Stevenson, administrator of the estate of JAMES WOODWARD, 

         which I, due to illness, have to relinquish (See JAMES 

         WOODWARD # 122)...Heirs widow Levica and the children and all 

         Minors....I did not find list of heirs nor guardianship but 

         the EQUITY is referred to...likely all in Equity.h 

 

         127-a  Forgot to check number of this file 

            MRS. LEVICA WOODWARD, widow of William Woodward...Her 

         estate was administered 19 Nov. 1838 by her son, Richard C. 

         Woodward and his bond signed by James Cameron and Burbage 

         Woodward. 

 

         Appraisal & sale list missing. 

              Division of estate...1 March 1841...FILE 70-1073 

         Each child received a full share as heirs of William Woodward 

         and his widow, Levica Woodward...as follows: 

         Nancy, wife of Thomas Noland 

         Levios wife of Burbage Woodward Jr. 

         Richard C. Woodward 

         George W. Woodward 

         Eleanor Woodward...also referred to as Ellen S. Woodward. 

         In referring to the land, the daughter Eleanor in 1848 was 

         referred to as MRS. ELEANOR S. JOHNSON...I still have to 

         check deeds on all the Woodward sets. 

 

         127-b 

            1850 Census for Fairfield County...Town of Winnsboro: 

         Robert T. Johnson  23, planter 

         Ellen S. Johnson 26 

         John S. Johnson 1 and not yet 2 

         Thomas Johnson 6 months 

         Joseph Bond..Hired hand. 



 

         RICHARD C.  WOODWARD, 45, Sheriff 

         Rebecca Woodward 46 

         Isaac Woodward 13 

         L.W. Duvall 29, born in N.C. 

         Mary A. Duval 23, born Lancaster Co., SC 

 

         David Aiken 65, b. in Ireland 

         Nancy Aiken 57, b. in Ireland 

         ELIZABETH WOODWARD 35, b. Winnsboro SC 

 

         127-c 

           In the files of WILLIAM WOODWARD and wife, LEVICA WOODWARD 

         mention is made for tombstones...Question...Where buried? and 

         see # 102 & 102-a and add "a" to 2nd 102. 

 

         128            FAIRFIELD COUNTY SC 

           HENRY WOODWARD (Son # 48)...See his will (# 49)...Will 

         executed 25 Nov. 1803 by his brother Joseph H. Woodward...His 

         widow was Mrs. Elizabeth Woodward and see # 125...The Final 

         settlement was made 28 Feb. 1811...Payment made to: 

         Thomas Woodward, nephew 

         Elizabeth Woodward, niece 

         Joseph H. Woodward 

 

          All being children of deceased brother, Thomas Woodward (See 

         # 48): 

         Mrs. Elizabeth Woodward, the widow. 

         Payments to Reeve Freeman, seemingly brother in law. 

         Payments to Joseph Woodward, a brother. 

         Payment to John Woodward (a half brother). 

         Payment to William Woodward..an account due to him. 

         Payment to estate of William Kincaid, note due. 

         Payment to estate of James Kincaid, note due. 

         Payment to Sarah Riley...sister..an account. 

         Payment to Samuel Murff, an account due. 

         Payment to Samuel Fraser, an account due. 

         Payment to Ezekiel Fraser, an account due. 

 

         The estate was appraised by Augustine Williams, Henry Lights, 

         Steven Gibson, Jacob Gibson, David Andrews, James McMorries 

         J.P. 

 

         129            DID NOT GET FILE NUMBER 

           JOHN WOODWARD...See his Will (# 53)...I did not have time 

         to completely check this file...Heirs were: 

         Miss Margaret Woodward, sister  (See # 123) 

         Jannet, wife of Richard Morgan, daughter of my deceased 

         brother, George Woodward...(see # 120)..I will have to check 

         further. 

              children of brother, William Woodward..(see # 127) 

              children of brother, James Woodward....(see # 122) 

              children of brother, George Woodward...(see either # 120 

                                                      or # 121) 



              Richard P. Woodward, son of deceased brother, James... 

              (see # 122-b) 

 

                           Other Heirs also: 

         I was unable to get this, due to closing time, to check fully 

         this estate file...This John Woodward was a bachelor...This 

         file needs a further and complete check..It is big with data. 

 

         129-a 

            Here seems the CLUE to Ancestry of Mrs. Bogges..Mrs. 

         Johnson and Mrs. Julian...WHAT I NOW HAVE TO FIND is the 

         father and the mother of this Family Group...I am inclined to 

         think the father is RICHARD WOODWARD (# 106)...More study 

         will be required. 

 

         129-b    SEE # 121-F 

           Perhaps a correction here...In my data I have Jane or 

         Jennet Woodward wed John Morgan...My notes seem (to indicate) 

         that her husband was Richard Morgan...I will have to check 

         further. 

 

         130            FROM MY MORGAN FILES...FAIRFIELD CO. 

           MRS. NANCY MORGAN  (Dtr of # 121)...Her will signed 15 Mar. 

         1849. Estate divided into half 

              James Morgan Jr., My son & Ex....one half 

              My Grandchildren (not named).....one half 

         /Wit. A. McConnell, Thomas Richardson & James H. Milling. 

         Grandchildren were George Carlisle Morgan & Izy Francis 

         Morgan 

 

                        CONCLUSION 

         This is one days work in Winnsboro...It may take two or three 

         more days to conclude the work here before I find a 

         solution...The EQUITY FILES before 1840 have no index and 

         this makes it tedious...Advise me what to do now...I may have 

         to try adjoining counties to Fairfield. 

                                                 Andrea 

                          WOODWARD MISCELLANY 

         131                IMPORTANT 

           I fear that none of you in this Kitty on Woodward read 

         carefully Item # 130 and marked "Conclusion"...In my last 

         batch of data sent, I also asked each of you to advise me 

         further as to the work (for me to do?)...NONE of you advised 

         me further...I did not want to go further to work in 

         Winnsboro in Equity Files for these have no Index and the 

         work is long and tedious and also very expensive SINCE it 

         entails so much valuable time to be given over to hunting for 

         data before finding it...ALSO Since none of you advised me 

         further, I decided that none of you wanted me to pursue the 

         work further since the cost of further work would entail much 

         more money...Also it might be that work in Charleston and 

         perhaps Edgefield...This would entail more expense...SINCE I 

         did not hear from you, I ceased the work...NOW I have heard 

         from each of you and all want the work to go further...ALSO 



         Just before Easter, I was taken ill and this illness has kept 

         me from work until about ten days ago...I soon leave for 

         my vacation. 

                     Andrea 

 

         131-a 

           The following are some data I have picked up in Virginia 

         items and otherwise...I add it now to complete the notes I 

         took and all from published data and none from original data. 

         THIS DATA is published data on Wills and Estates...I am in 

         the hope that this data may help some in this study. 

                                                      Andrea 

          132           SOUTHAMPTON COUNTY VIRGINIA 

            SAMUEL WOODWARD....Will signed 25 March 1752, probated 14 

         May 1752...Wife, Martha Woodward & Ex. with Henry 

         Johnson..Children: Reuben & Charles Woodward. He wills 

         plantation to Henry Johnson. /wit.  Danuel Johnson & Jacob 

         Johnson. Estate was appraised 13 Aug. 1752 by A. Washington, 

         Henry Blount & Benjamin Clifton. 

 

         132-a 

            WILLIAM CRUMPLER...Will signed 7 Aug. 1761, probated 14 

         Nov. 1771, Wife was Elizabeth Crumpler & Ex...Wife Ex. 

         Children: 

         Bessant Crumpler & Ex.             William Crumpler 

         Benjamin Crumpler                  Dorothy Brock 

         ELIZABETH WOODWARD                 Ann Turner 

         Lucy Crumpler                      Cherry Crumpler 

         Mary Crumpler /Wit. John Buskin & Edward Doyel 

 

         132-b 

            JOHN BEAL Estate...Division made 11 Feb. 1773..Heirs were: 

         as follows: Abagail Beal, Joshua Beal & LYDIA, wife of SAMUEL 

         WOODWARD. Divided by Lemuel Jones & James Jordon Scott.  132- 

         c 

            SIMON WOODWARD, Elizabeth Gurley, MARY WOODWARD all 

         witness the will of James Wright, signed 25 Dec. 1761. 

         END OF SOUTHAMPTON COUNTY VIRGINIA ESTATE DATA...THIS WAS 

         ONCE PART OF ISLE OF WIGHT COUNTY VIRGINIA. 

 

         132-d          MARRIAGE BONDS 

         Mary Woodward, 4 Jan. 1794 to John Carr...daughter of Samuel 

         Woodward Sr...Samuel Woodward Jr. signed the bond. 

 

         Mrs. Martha Woodward, widow, 9 May 1754 to Richard Vick Sr. 

 

         Samuel Woodward, 18 Dec. 1800 to Caty Joiner. 

 

         Samuel Woodward, 17 Dec. 1795 to Millicent Joyner. 

 

         William Woodward, 19 March 1796 to Elizabeth Barrow. 

 

         This completes all Southampton County Virginia data that I 

         have. 



              Andrea 

 

         133            WOODWARD MISCELLANY 

           THOMAS WOODWARD....His will signed 5 Oct. 1677, probated 9 

         Oct. 1677, Wife simply named as "Dear Wife"...Children & no 

         surnames: 

         Thomas & Ex.             Philertia & Ex...Daughter 

         Katherine                Elizabeth 

         Mary                     Rachel 

         *John's children 

         * John's children in England..Mention lands at Blackwater 

         adjoining lands of John Fulgham. 

 

         133-a          WIDOW OF THOMAS (WOODWARD) SR. (# 133) 

           MRS. KATHERINE WOODWARD...Her will signed 17 April 1684, 

         probated 9 June 1684..Children but no surnames: 

         John                Philarita        N.B. The son Thomas Jr. 

         Elizabeth           Mary             is not named. 

         Katherine           Rachel 

 

         My grand son, not yet christened, son of Philarita Giles. 

         /Wit. John Giles & Nicholas Fulgham. 

 

         133-b 

           The Inventory of THOMAS WOODWARD SR. presented by KATHERINE 

         WOODWARD, the relict and daughter. Philarita Woodward and the 

         son, Thomas Jr...presented 9 Aug. 1678. 

              Division of Estate 9 Dec. 1681 

         Mrs. Katherine Woodward, widow...Her part. 

         Thomas Woodward, son...his part. 

         Philarita Giles, daughter...her part. 

         The children..their parts. 

         Divided by Thomas Green, Daniel Long, James Tullaugh, Richard 

         Wilkinson. 

 

         133-c          SON OF # 133 & 133-a 

           THOMAS WOODWARD JR....His estate admst. 8th?? Feb. 1680 by 

         his brother, John Woodward, at the request of the mother, 

         Mrs. Katherine Woodward...Bond signed by Nicholas Fulgham & 

         John Whitley...His heirs were his brother, mother & sisters. 

 

         133-d 

            GEORGE WOODWARD with John Jennings and Karby Kigan witness 

         the will of George Hardy signed 16 March 1654...Here is a 

         George Woodward as early as 1654. 

                                          Andrea 

 

         133-e 

           DOROTHY WOODWARD...Grant of 100 acres land to her 29 Aug. 

         1633. 

 

         133-f 

           HENRY WOODWARD aged 30 in 1625 shows earlier in Census of 

         1623. Later we find a deed made by Francis Morrison signed 5 



         April 1662 to John Askew...200 acres land patented to HENRY 

         WOODWARD who died without heirs. 

 

         133-g          BODDIE (PAGES 108-109) 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: This is probably his book "Southside 

         Virginia Families." 

 

           THOMAS WOODWARD, Assay Master of the Mint, fled from 

         England to Isle of Wight County Virginia in 1649...He never 

         returned to England..He became surveyor (Official) for North 

         Carolina...His son, JOHN WOODWARD, died in 1665 sic... 

         Evidently another child was born and named John for see # 

         133-c and also 133-a...Page 130..THOMAS WOODWARD did not long 

         remain in N.C...He was born 1600 and died 1677 leaving a son 

         THOMAS & daughters: Katherine, Elizabeth, Mary, Rachel & 

         Philarita, who wed John Giles. 

 

         133-i          BODDIE PAGE 183 

           PETER WOODWARD and his wife, Margaret Woodward, had the 

         following children registered in Newport Parish: 

 

         Margaret Woodward born 15 Jan. 1737/38 

         Peter Woodward Jr., born 27 March 1736 

         Rebecca Wiles Woodward, born 29 Dec. 1739. 

 

                           WOODWARD MISCELLANY 

 

         134            WESTMORELAND COUNTY VIRGINIA ...page 73 

           MRS. ELIZABETH TUCKER...Her will signed 3 May 1727 and 

         probated October Court 1723...Children: 

 

         MARY WOODWARD...Ex is son in law "JOSEPH WOODWARD." 

         Sarah Minor                   Rebecca Tucker 

         Martha Tucker                 Joseph Tucker * 

         John Tucker *                 Henry Tucker * 

         * The sons have no surnames and I inadvertently typed TUCKER 

         as surnames......There is a possibility that some may have 

         been Woodward, since "My son in law Joseph Woodward, is Ex." 

         I presumed as I typed he was husband of Mary Woodward and 

         likely was. 

                    Andrea 

 

         135           ELBERT COUNTY GEORGIA 

           NEHEMIAH HOWARD in his will signed 4 Jan. 1798 names one 

         child as MARY WOODWARD...Wife was Ede Howard..Mentions lands 

         in S.C. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: See my notes in # 78...MARY HOWARD was 

         the wife of Thomas Woodward, the first born child of the 

         Regulator and his 2nd wife Elizabeth Stokes Mays (see # 

         77). Mary Howard & her husband, Thomas Woodward,  were 

         parents of General Thomas Simpson Woodward. 

 



         135-a 

            ROBERT WOODWARD with John Trimble witness a deed signed 5 

         Sept. 1791 when Moses Trimble and wife, Katherine Trimble 

         sell land. 

 

         136    CONCORD CHURCH IN FAIRFIELD CO. S.C., IN TOWN OF 

                              WOODWARD S.C. 

                            (tombstones) 

         William Barrett Woodward/ 31 July 1846/ 26 May 1916/ His 

         wife/ Lella Brice/ 7 May 1854/ 7 Nov. 1902. 

         Joe J. Woodward /26 April 1876/ 22 March 1921 

         This church is located at Woodward S.C. 

 

         (Note by Robert Hill Sr: William Barrett Woodward ties into the 

         Regulator's family line. 

 

         137 

           Mrs. Willie 5/8 (?) Smith, Pearson, Georgia nee Mary Malone 

         has written to me her WOODARD & WOODWARD line which came from 

         S.C. to Georgia...Some notes by her:  Land Grants 

 

         Mills Woodward, 700 acres in Emanuel Co., Ga. 19 Nov. 1814. 

         Mills Woodward, 643 acres in Emanuel Co., Ga. 24 Aug. 1814. 

         Mills Woodward, 300 acres in Emanuel Co., Ga. 10 Dec. 1821. 

 

         137-a 

           MILLS WOODWARD...His estate 11 June 1825 sold to the 

         following heirs for division. 

              William Nabt        Benjamin Warren 

              M. Woodward         Mary Woodward 

         And others...Mention is made of will made by Mills Woodward. 

 

         137-b          MARRIAGE BONDS, LAURENS CO., GEORGIA 

             William Woodward    5 July 1814 to Nancy Warren 

             Polly Woodward__________1814 to Reuben Warren 

         Mrs. 5/8 Smith thinks this is part of her family. 

 

         138            FURTHER DATA BY MRS. SMITH 

           AMBROSE WOODWARD...Emanuel Co., Ga...School Record. 

         Enrolled from 4 Feb. 1840 to 4 June 1840..Free School .... 

         Mother listed as MRS. MARY WOODWARD...This is the great 

         grandfather of Mrs. Mary Malone Smith...Ambrose Woodard had 

         the following brothers and sisters known to Mrs. Smith. 

         William Majors Woodard m. Nancy Martin or Nancy Warren. 

         Walthia Woodard m. _________Warren. 

         Ambrose Woodard m. Eliza _________. 

 

         These three children are supposed to be minor children of Mr. 

         MILLEDGE WOODARD, who was son of MILLS WOODWARD....Mrs. 5/8 

         Smith wants me to work further on this Woodard-Woodward line 

         of hers. She is also to send me some data. 

 

         139 

           AGAIN I AM asking each of you to notify me as to what you 



         want me to do further on this Woodward study...Mrs. Bogges 

         sent me a card in May..Mrs. Julian called me long distance in 

         May and Mrs. Johnson wrote and sent me further data. 

                                                             Andrea 

                        WOODWARD REVOLUTION 

         140 

           The following are brief abstracts of the Revolutionary 

         Files in South Carolina Archives in Columbia, S.C.  I have 

         not copied in full..Merely the pertinent data. 

                                                       Andrea 

 

         141            MUSTER ROLL ...CAPTAIN THOMAS WOODWARD 

           This is the complete muster roll of the Company of Captain 

         THOMAS WOODWARD (The Regulator) dated 7 August 1775 at 

         Mineral Springs near the Congaree River...Ages given only for 

         Woodward men..(Andrea). 

         CAPT. THOMAS WOODWARD  AGE 46      1ST Lt. Richard Wynne 

         2nd Lt. JOHN WOODWARD  AGE 28      Sgt. John Smith 

         Sgt. William Boyd                  Drummer..William Wilson 

         Drummer..John Owens 

             Rest of men are Privates 

             James Pickett                  James Owens 

             John Carr                      John Carson 

             John Henderson                 Daniel Oaks 

             Francis Henderson              William Henderson 

             Jacob Frazier                  Henry Wimpey 

             BENJAMIN MAY                   Charnal Durham 

             James Anderson                 William Rayford 

             Matthew Raiford                Benjamin McGraw 

             Augustine Hancock              William Owens 

             John McDonald                  Francis McDonald 

             Thomas Guther                  Pritchett Stone 

             John Jacobs                    Prtichett Stone (again) 

             Joseph Owens                   John Bull 

             Edward McGraw                  Thomas Willingham 

             William Dugans                 Benjamin Mitchell 

 

         Captain Thomas Woodward shows in other places in the files in 

         the S.C. State Archives.  (Note by Robert Hill Sr: This Captain 

         Woodward WAS Thomas (The Regulator) Woodward, my 5th great 

         grandfather. His age of 46 shows a birth in 1729). 

 

         142            CHERAW DISTRICT S.C. 

           THOMAS WOODWARD...Private for 35 days...This claim sworn to 

         17 May 1782 before Thomas Powe, J.P....Pay claim to Benjamin 

         Wright. 

 

         143            CAMDEN DISTRICT S.C. 

           THOMAS WOODWARD of Camden District...Supplies furnished by 

         him. Receipts for same signed by General Francis Marion..This 

         claim was presented by William Davis as Executor for the 

         estate of Thomas Woodward...(See # 42)..David Rogers, J.P.... 

         Somebody tried to counterfeit this claim and get paid 

         twice....the legal heirs had to sue to recover. 



 

         144 

           SAMUEL WOODWARD by his X mark...Furnished beef and supplies 

         for the Regiment of Colonel Myddleton (Middleton) and Lt. 

         John Croft signed the receipt for the beef...This claim was 

         sworn to 19 Nov. 1783 before William Meyer, J.P. and 

         witnessed by Robert Thompson...The interest was paid to John 

         Bryson and to Daniel Ford. 

                        COMMENT 

         I have been unable to place this man as to his residence...He 

         could have been a resident of either Richland or of Barnwell 

         Counties (S.C.). 

                           Andrea 

 

         145-a 

            SIMON WOODWARD....Indent payment # K-131...His file has 

         been lost...Only the Indent receipt remains. 

 

         145-b 

            RICHARD WOODWARD...Indent Receipt # C-49...His file has 

         been lost and only the indent stub remains. 

 

         146            SAMUEL NESMITH FILE 

           SAMUEL NESMITH in applying for his pay indent which was 

         witnessed by John Baxter of Williamsburg County S.C....On 14 

         Dec. 1785 Samuel Nesmith states "Deliver my indent to CAPTAIN 

         JOSEPH WOODWARD." 

 

         147            FAIRFIELD COUNTY S.C. 

           WILLIAM WOODWARD....His claim for service as a Private in 

         1781 for 26 days and also for 60 days and tours of duty under 

         Colonel Thomas Taylor & General Richard Winn...17 Jan. 1784 

         in Camden District S.C. William Woodward swears to this claim 

         before Thomas Baker, J.P. and John Harbit, J.P....He sold his 

         Indent to Richard Winn.  (Note by R. Hill Sr:  I think this was 

         my 4th great grandfather, Rev. William Woodward, son of the 

         Regulator). 

 

         148            GEORGETOWN DISTRICT S.C. 

           JAMES WOODWARD...His claim for 123 days of service at 

         White's Bridge in 1779...This claim was sworn to in 

         Georgetown District on 15 Dec. 1779 before Benjamin Gause, 

         J.P. 

 

         148-a          PERHAPS SAME MAN AS # 148 

           JAMES WOODWARD...However he signs his name as WOODWARD but 

         claim file as WOODARD....97 days of service in Duty done at 

         Georgetown...This claim was sworn to 14 Aug. 1783 before John 

         Baxter, J.P.....To me it seems the same signature for # 148 

         and for 148-a. 

 

         149            FAIRFIELD COUNTY S.C. 

           BURBAGE WOODWARD....Claim for 70 days of service as a 

         Private under Lt. John Cameron on a tour to Orangeburg in 



         1781...Also for a tour of duty under Lt. Kincaid in 1782 to 

         the FOUR HOLES SWAMP...This claim was sworn to 20 Jan. 1784 

         in Camden District before John Winn, J.P....Claim was 

         certified 1 March 1785. 

 

         150            FAIRFIELD COUNTY S.C. 

           MR. JOHN WOODWARD....For supplies furnished and in the file 

         are receipts for the supplies furnished to the following: 

              William Ross        James Cantey        Jo. Brown 

              Robert Farquson     Capt. James Howe    Wm. Miles 

              Lt. Wm. Miller 

 

         Payment for these supplies were made to John Irick...Also for 

         service as a private as a horseman under Col. Thomas Taylor 

         on his expedition to the Eutaws...Also for service as a wagon 

 

         master on the expedition to the FOUR HOLES SWAMP under 

         General William Henderson...This service was certified by 

         Captain William Roberston of Camden District on 23 June 1784 

         before Thomas baker, J.P. 

 

         150-a 

            CAPTAIN JOHN WOODWARD...Whether this is the same man above 

         I do not know...There is no separate file for Captain John 

         Woodward but he is referred to in the file above # 150 as 

         Captain and John Byrd in his file states "I served under 

         CAPTAIN JOHN WOODWARD." 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: This appears to be John Woodward (see # 

         28-g & # 111) who was a Captain after his father's death. He 

         was the oldest Child of Thomas (Regulator) Woodward.  His 

         wife was Esther McDonald. 

 

         150-b         FAIRFIELD COUNTY S.C. 

            JOHN WOODWARD as a soldier and private under Captain Gray 

         and Col. David Hopkins from the 1st day of Feb. 1782 to the 

         3rd day of April 1782...Pay to and sworn to before..(not 

         legible) This man does not seem same as John in # 150. 

 

         150-c          CAMDEN DISTRICT 

            JOHN WOODWARD as a private and his claim sworn to 7 Feb. 

         1784 before John Buchannan J.P.....This service was certified 

         by Lt. Joseph Cameron and for duty done at Orangeburg under 

         Lt. Cameron...This may be same man as # 150...however he does 

         not use the same script...This John Woodward made his claim 

         payable to Charles Wheeler and witnessed by Thomas 

         Buffington...I do know that Wheeler lived in what is now 

         Barnwell Co., S.C. 

 

         151            FAIRFIELD COUNTY S.C. 

           William Cato of Fairfield County in his claim states "I 

         served under Captain Thomas Woodward"  Many cross references 

         show for Captain Thomas Woodward. 

 



         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr:  Captain Thomas Woodward was the same 

         Thomas Woodward, known as the Regulator.  I think it 

         important here to understand how the name Regulator came 

         about...It was because Thomas Woodward was one of the 

         founders and leaders of the "Regulator Movement" in the early 

         1760's in S.C. 

 

         The "Regulators" were a group of citizens in the interior 

         sections of S.C. that tried to get law and order restored to 

         that part of the province...and finally after the official 

         government failed to accomplish this...took matters into 

         their hands and with "hard, swift punishment" succeeded in 

         restoring peace and tranquility to there areas of the 

         province of S.C.  Thomas Woodward was a leader and for that 

         reasons became known as Thomas "The Regulator" Woodward. 

 

 

         152            NOTE # 24 and # 42 

           THOMAS WOODWARD of Kershaw County...was a Baptist and as 

         shown in many files of Baptist Data...However the CAPTAIN 

         THOMAS WOODWARD of Fairfield County was a member of the 

         Episcopal Church, as shown by a recently found journal of the 

         Reverend Charles Woodmason. 

              I have visited and preached at the homes of these back 

         country Anglicans to wit. 

              THOMAS WOODWARD on Broad River (The Regulator) 

              Thomas Edgehill on Saluda River 

              John Lee near Catawba Nation 

              Lewis People on Little Lynch's Creek 

              Thomas Kennerly on Great Salida River 

 

         This is made in a report to the Bishop of London. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: The Reverend Charles Woodmason was a 

         very loyal and sympathetic supporter of the Regulators. 

 

         153            FAIRFIELD COUNTY S.C. 

           THOMAS WOODWARD, Benjamin Hart, John Scott, Moses Kirkland, 

         all sign in 1768 a petition to the King to allow a parcel of 

         Bibles, Common Prayer Books & Devotional Tracts to be sent to 

         the Anglican meeting places in the Back Country (interior 

         area of S.C.). 

 

         154            FAIRFIELD COUNTY   1828 (CENSUS) 

         WIDOW G. Woodward 5        William Woodward  3 

         Isaac Woodward    4        John Woodward  6 

         Levisa Woodward   8        John Woodward 2 

         Nathaniel Woodward 4       Osmund Woodward 7 

         Richard Woodward 3         Randal Woodward 7 

         Richard Woodward Sr. 6     George Woodward 3 

 

         All of these show up in the 1828 Census as "Heads of 

         Households" in Fairfield County and with the number in each 

         family listed. 



 

         155            WOODWARD CEMETERY    SEE # 106 

           A descendent of STEPHEN NOLAN also as Nowlen & Knowlen (I 

         typed as Mowlen in # 106 so please change to Nowlen) was in 

         Columbia recently and made a journey to Fairfield County in 

         search of the Nolen Family Graveyard...He did not find it but 

         told me that he ran into an old WOODWARD GRAVEYARD with many 

         old stones...This he told me was northwest of Winnsboro and 

         you take the road to Newberry from Winnsboro and travel out 

         about 7 miles to "Lebanon Church" and then take a dirt road 

         for a few miles north and then turn to a farm (Said to 

         inquire) that has in a pine field, an old Woodward Graveyard. 

         This is very likely the graveyard we need...However since I 

         have no auto, I could not go to visit this old graveyard. 

 

 

                         END OF DATA.2A 

 

 

         ADATA.003    PART 3 OF THE WOODWARD FAMILY FROM THE ANDREA 

         COLLECTION ON THE WOODWARD FAMILY (CONTINUED FROM PART 2, 

         IN ADATA.002). 

 

         156            RUTHERFORD COUNTY NORTH CAROLINA 

           NATHANIEL SMITH...His will signed 14 Apr. 1820...I did not 

         get the probate data...wife, Jenny Smith...Children: 

         ELIZABETH WOODWARD            John Smith 

         Jenny Lukeware                David Smith 

         Grand daughter, Elizabeth Smith, daughter of David Smith. 

         /wit. David Burge, James Bridges & Isaac Arlidge (Aldridge?) 

                        COMMENT: 

         There are some other Woodward items up there but no wills.. 

         I was working there on another family of Cox and saw this...I 

         am fairly sure that this Elizabeth Smith Woodward will prove 

         to be the widow of # 120 and same as # 121. 

 

                        WOODWARD DATA OF CHESTER COUNTY S.C. 

         157 

           I went to Chester County Court House and worked all the 

         data there on Woodward...I also checked in the U.S. 

         Congressional Directory...What I got in the Directory comes 

         next: 

            WILLIAM WOODWARD of Chester County S.C., who was born in 

         Fairfield County S.C., took his seat in the 14th Congress on 

         4 March 1815 and served until 3rd March 1817...He did not 

         offer for re-election..No Further data. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: This was Reverend Woodward, my 4th great 

         grandfather and youngest child of Thomas (Regulator) Woodward 

         & 1st wife, Jemima Collins...There is a problem here as it 

         states he was born in Fairfield County...and in the 1880 

         Census, his son Joseph A. Woodward, # 157-b, (in Talledaga 

         Ala) also said he was born in S.C....YET SEVERAL SOURCES 

         (including his half-brother Thomas Simpson Woodward in his 



         book "Reminiscences", states he was born in Fairfax Co., 

         Virginia, which I think to be true. 

 

         157-b          CONGRESSIONAL DIRECTORY 

            JOSEPH ADDISON WOODWARD (son of above # 157) was born in 

         Fairfield County S.C.  11 April 1806 and died in Talladega, 

         Alabama 3 Aug.  1885...He was a graduate of the University of 

         S.C. and was admitted to the Bar...He was a member of the 

         State of S.C.  General Assembly and ran for the U.S. Congress 

         and was elected for the 28th thru the 32nd terms, serving 

         from 4 March 1844 thru 3 March 1853. He declined to run for a 

         6th term and retired to Talledaga, Alabama where he had 

         purchased a plantation. 

 

         158            ESTATE FILE 71-1116 CHESTER CO>, S.C. 

           WILLIAM WOODWARD...His estate according to his will and see 

         # 40-a...Inventory was made by Thomas Chisholm, James McClure 

         & Cornelius Chisholm...Final Division does not show list of 

         the heirs. Letters from these heirs: 

         Thomas B. Woodward       William Woodward Jr. 

         James Lyles writes for son Aromananos Lyles 

         William Robertson writes. 

         The will was probated 2 Aug. 1820...settlement not final 

         until after 1st of Oct. 1829...No list of heirs in file...The 

         following persons bought at the sale: 

         John Woodward       William Woodward 

         Joseph Morrow       Aramanous Lyles 

         James McCluer       William Turner 

         James Lewis         Henry Gray 

         and many others...The widow was Mrs. Nancy Woodward nee Miss 

         Nancy (Elizabeth) Barrett.  (Note by R. Hill: This was my 4th 

         great grandfather (maternal side), who's daughter Jemima 

         Woodward married Thomas Hill ca. 1805, who was my 3rd great 

         grandfather (paternal side of family). 

 

 

         158-a          DEED BOOK U, PAGE 307 

           The Heirs of WILLIAM WOODWARD, deceased, a deed signed 14 

         Jan. 1822, when his widow, Nancy Woodward and her children.. 

         All being residents of Fairfield Co., and of Chester Co., in 

         S.C. make a joint deed to WILLIAM TURNER and his wife, 

         CHARLOTTE TURNER,.(A DAUGHTER OF WILLIAM WOODWARD SR., THE 

         DECEASED) for 611 acres of land lying on Rich Creak, in 

         Chester Co....Deed signed by: 

 

         Mrs. Nancy Woodward, the widow and by her children: 

         John Woodward with dower by his wife, Mary Woodward. 

         William Woodward with dower by his wife, Sarah Woodward. 

         Thomas B. Woodward with dower by his wife Julia Ann Woodward. 

         JEMIMA WOODWARD, the wife of THOMAS HILL (See # 64). 

         Mary Woodward wife of Arromananous Lyles. 

         ELLENDER WOODWARD wife of William Robinson (also Robertson) 

         Charlotte wife of William Turner, deed made to them. 

         Joseph A. Woodward, minor and signed for him by brothers. 



         Cynthia (Asseneth) Woodward, minor & signed by her brothers. 

         /Wit. GREEN B. MOBLEY, GEORGE W. HILL & THOMAS W. MACON. 

 

         158-b 

           WILLIAM TURNER and his wife CHARLOTTE TURNER formerly Miss 

         Charlotte Woodward...a deed signed 8 Feb. 1823 to William E. 

         Sledge 611 acres of land which belonged to the heirs of 

         William Woodward Sr., now deceased. /wit. John Mills & Robert 

         Robinson. 

                        CHESTER COUNTY (WOODWARD) 

         158-c          DEED BOOK V, PAGE 432 

           WILLIAM WOODWARD and his brother, JOHN WOODWARD...Guardians 

         for two minors over age of 14 

              JOSEPH A. WOODWARD     and    SENTHEA (CYNTHIA) WOODWARD 

         A deed signed 8 Feb. 1823 to William E. Sledge for their 

         parts in 611  acres of land. /wit. James F. Woods, Robert 

         Robinson and John Roseborough J.P. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: These were all children of Reverend 

         William Woodward & wife Nancy Barrett. 

 

         158-d          T-233 (BOOK T, PAGE 233 CHESTER CO.) 

            Captain WILLIAM WYLIE and his wife, Isabelle Wylie, a deed 

         signed 27 Dec. 1819 to WILLIAM WOODWARD SR....611 acres of 

         land on Rich Creek that was granted 26 Jan. 1767 to Francis 

         Wylie. /wit. Thomas Chisholm, Moses Knighton & Peter Wylie 

         J.P. 

                    Comment 

         This is the 611 acres of land that the heirs of William 

         Woodward sold. THE ABOVE SEEMS TO BE REV. WILLIAM WOODWARD 

         BEFORE HE DIED. R. Hill. 

 

         158-e 

            According to all students and historians this Rev. William 

         Woodward was a member of Congress, was a son of Thomas 

         Woodward, the Regulator.....HE WAS!  R.Hill. He was a Baptist 

         minister and a physician (M.D.) too. 

 

         159            I-111 (BOOK I, PAGE 111) 

           JOHN FRANKLIN...a deed signed 11 Oct. 1803 to the TRUSTEES 

         of a Meeting House on Sandy River, Chester Co.  S.C. Trustees 

         were: 

         WILLIAM WOODWARD         Richard Evans       James Huey 

         Notley Costes            Daniel Pierce       Mason Huey 

         Daniel Trussell          Nequen Whitted      Jacob Dungan 

         /wit. Charles Boyd & Jacob Bennett 

                    COMMENT 

         This is the site of the famous WOODWARD BAPTIST CHURCH in 

         Chester Co....(See # 25)..The first site...Below is the 

         second site. 

 

         159-b          R-99  (BOOK R, PAGE 99) 

            Newton Franklin...a deed signed 3 March 1815 to the Rev. 

         WILLIAM WOODWARD.. 2 acres of land adjacent to the land of 



         Wesley Terry and for a meeting house. /wit. Ephraim Butler & 

         Nancy Fanklin (Franklin?). 

 

         160         TWO DEEDS I FORGOT TO CHECK DATA???? 

           a. 

             JOHN WOODWARD JR. of Fairfield Co.... A deed signed ____? 

         (forgot to copy date) to Greenberry Montgromery of Chester 

         Co., 110 and 1/2 acres on Turkey Branch of Rich Creek. /Wit. 

         Abner Smith, Jesse Simmons..No dower and before he had 

         married to Mary ______?. See # 158-a 

 

           b. 

             WILLIAM WOODWARD SR., a deed signed____?(Forgot top copy 

         date) to William Woodward Jr....his son...96 acres land on 

         Sandy River, by lands of John Franklin & Newton Franklin. 

 

         c. 

             Captain WILLIAM WOODWARD and his wife, SARAH WOODWARD of 

         Fairfield County...a deed signed______? (Forgot to copy date) 

         to Captain Edward Mobley of Chester Co., 371 acres land in 

         Chester Co. where I lived. /wit. John Dunovant, John Smith & 

         John Roseborough J.P. 

 

         d 

          THOMAS B. WOODWARD and wife Julia A. Woodward... a deed 

         signed 23 Jan. 1832 to George B. Bell, 166 acres land by land 

         of William Smith, William Stringfellow, William Best, John 

         Robertson, on Sandy River. /wit. N.R. Evans, John McCreary & 

         Peter Wylie J.P. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr:  This appears to be Thomas Barrett 

         Woodward, a son of Rev.  William Woodward & grandson of the 

         Regulator. 

 

         e 

           WILLIAM J.L. WOODWARD...a deed signed 18 Jan. 1858...no 

         dower...to Lemuel Estes...339 acres on Sandy Run River by 

         estate of Abram Widner, Francis Nelson, George Dye. /Wit. 

         F.D. Coleman & Samuel W.B. McClurkin...Conclusion of Chester 

         County Data. 

 

         There were some Woodward data after 1870 but it was so late 

         (in time) I did not abstract. Andrea 

 

                        REPLIES TO YOUR LETTERS 

 

         Here are some replies to your letters and an effort to 

         properly reply to your queries. 

 

         161            REPLY TO MRS. JULIAN L. JOHNSON 

         a.  I still have your photostat of the Woodward Bible with 

         your data...IF EVER, I prove who was your Revolutionary 

         ancestor on Woodward side. I will fill in your papers for 

         D.A.R. membership...If you prefer me to return the data I 



         will do so. 

                     Andrea 

                             LOST PAGE 

         b.  Mrs. Juliam Johnson states that she never received  of 

         page 10 the Woodward ms.  Items 35 thru 40 ....I will 

         appreciate each of you checking your ms. carefully and if 

         either of you have an extra PAGE TEN, will you please mail to 

         Mrs. Johnsons, whose address is on frontispiece of ms. 

 

         c.             LINEAGE BOOKS FOR DAR 

         Mrs. Johnson, no library here in Columbia has a full set of 

         the DAR LINEAGE BOOKS...Mrs. Hugh Hoffman write you that a 

         Miss Sarah Woodward, of Memphis, Tenn. joined the D.A.R. thru 

         JAMES WOODWARD, the brother of George Woodward...If you can 

         locate this DAR Lineage Book, you problem will be solved...I 

         employed a genealogist in Washington to check some DAR 

         records in Washington D.C. and her report is following this 

         section. 

 

         162            REPLY TO MRS. JOHN WINTERS JULIAN 

         a.  In reply to a letter of Mrs. Julia, she asked me to check 

         # 147 for WILLIAM WOODWARD....This William Woodward is too 

         old to be the father of ELLEN WOODWARD JOHNSON....It is 

         possible that he may be a grandfather...Mrs. Julian, your 

         ancestor is WILLIAM WOODWARD # 127 and had a wife LIVICA 

         WOODWARD # 127-a...He is not the William Woodward son of 

         William in # 158-a. 

 

         163            REPLY TO MRS. BOGGESS 

           Mrs. Boggess I fear that you have not read any more 

         carefully the Woodward ms. than you had when I saw you in 

         Columbia the last time....I hardly know how to reply to your 

         questions when you so little understand what I have already 

         done. 

 

         164            TO ALL OF YOU 

           I wish that you each one would be PERFECTLY FRANK to tell 

         me whether you understand any of the work I have sent to you 

         or not. I do not believe that you do...I try to make it clear 

         and I use cross references to make it clearer and more 

         plain...One reason that I feel that you do not have enough 

         genealogical training to thoroughly understand this 

         ms.(based) on the questions you write me...When you do not 

         understand an item, sit down and write me to explain what it 

         means. 

 

         a.  One of you wrote me for the address of the other two for 

         she wanted to write to them...I referred her to the 

         frontispiece with all the addresses. 

 

         b.  This problem is difficult for me...So far I have not 

         found the line for either of you...I have the names of the 

         sons and daughters of a certain WOODWARD but to find his 

         first name has been a cruel game of hide & seek...I now know 



         he is not in Chester County...We can eliminate CHESTER 

         CO...There is more work still in Fairfield Co...next Kershaw 

         Co...then Newberry,,,Sumter...Barnwell...It is expensive to 

         go and search and not find anything. 

 

                   WOODWARD DATA   REPORT FROM D.A.R. 

         165            OLD GRAVEYARD....See # 155 

           A REPLY TO EACH ONE OF YOU....NONE of you seem to know just 

         what I have intended to type in # 155...The Old Woodward 

         Cemetery IS NOT in Newberry County at all... You leave 

         Winnsboro over the Newberry Road...travel out that road for 7 

         miles to the Lebanon Presbyterian Church (In Fairfield Co.) 

         and here you turn northwest toward Chester County line and 

         over a hard surface road and travel this road a few miles to 

         a farm house, where you turn into a dirt road and travel a 

         couple of miles to a Negro house (ALL IN FAIRFIELD CO.) and 

         inquire for the old cemetery....This cemetery may be the KEY 

         but it may prove to be of no value...See # 121-c and others 

         of this family where money was spent for tombstones...IF THIS 

         old cemetery is where those tombstones were erected, then 

         this is your family graveyard...I have no car to travel there 

         and a taxi-cab is too expensive and then perhaps not find it 

         to be your family after all. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: This year (1987) I inquired of this 

         cemetery to Mrs. Mary Boulware, a genealogist in Fairfield 

         Co., and she knew of it and it was (by her) referred to as 

         the "RICHARD WOODWARD CEMETERY." She sent the following data 

         from this cemetery: 

 

         Located off Highway 34 on the Douglas Road (now paved) on 

         property of H. E. Douglas... 

 

         Nancy Woodward 

         Departed this life Aug. 21, 1831 

         In the 21st year of her age 

 

         George Woodward 

         Departed this life 26 Sept. 1811 

         In the 35th year of his age 

 

         His Wife 

         Elizabeth Woodward 

         Departed this life 16 Dec. 1830 

         In the 53rd year of her age 

 

         There were about 12 to 14 more graves unmarked. 

 

         The following in William Estes' Bible, published 1816. It was 

         in possession of Mrs. Susan Estes Crosby (1952). 

 

         RICHARD WOODWARD & MILLY ESTES, his wife, married March 3rd 

         in the year of our Lord 1836. 

 



         MILLY CURTIS ESTES was born in the year of our LORD 1809 on 

         September 12th. 

 

         RICHARD WOODWARD deceast 15th February 1848. 

 

         Milly Estes Woodward, his wife, deceast August 8th 1836. 

 

         Despite the fact that the cemetery is known as the RICHARD 

         WOODWARD CEMETERY, Mrs. Boulware made no mention of his grave 

         BUT it seems obvious that he would be buried here. 

 

         a.             MRS. BOGGES 

           You state that you sent the pictures to your nephew, Mr. 

         A.W. Simmons of Greensboro, N.C. and that Mr. Simmons told 

         one of his salesmen in Winnsboro area to go check to see if a 

         GEORGE WOODWARD was buried there where the Misses Lyle took 

         the pictures...SEE & READ # 120 AND YOU WILL SEE THAT I WENT 

         TO THAT GRAVEYARD AND COPIED ALL....Your nephew put his 

         salesman to a useless task since I had already copied all in 

         this graveyard where the pictures were made. 

 

         166            REPORT FROM WASHINGTON 

            Mrs. Louis A. Geupel, 4416 North Henderson Rd., Arlington, 

         Va. is an excellent genealogist...I had her to check some 

         Woodward DAR memberships in Washington...Here is her 

         reply...She did not check all. 

 

           a 

            MRS ELIZABETH C. HAZZARD GEAR....grand daughter of GEORGE 

         WOODWARD, who married ANN HAZARD...He was son of Captain 

         Thomas Woodward, who married Rachel Starr...Captain Thomas 

         Woodward was with the S.C. Rangers and was captured at 

         Germantown, Pa. 

                        COMMENT 

         THIS IS NOT THE THOMAS WOODWARD, The REGULATOR..See # 26. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr:  Andrea was correct...this was not the 

         Thomas Woodward, who was with the Rangers in S.C. in the 

         Revolution...and the statement made that he was captured in 

         Germantown, Pa...makes me wonder what and whom this is all 

         about. IT IS NOT THE REGULATOR!  THIS SOUNDS MORE LIKE CIVIL 

         WAR TIME???? 

 

         167            # 314195 (NUMBER OF DAR APPLICANT) 

           Mrs. Allen Coleman nee Dorothy Mears...Joined through 

         Richard A, Mears m. Louise Woodward Palmer 

                        daughter of 

         Louis Woodward Palmer 1833-1901 m. 1855 to HARRIET WOODWARD 

         1837-1893 

                        daughter of 

         JOSEPH ADDISON WOODWARD 1806-1885 (see # 157-b) m. Malinda 

         Rebecca Bones 1807-1839 as 1st wife. 

                        son of 

         WILLIAM WOODWARD 1763-1820 m. Nancy Barrett in 1781 



                        son of 

         THOMAS WOODWARD born 12 May 1734 in Fairfax County Virginia 

         and died 12 May 1779 in Fairfield Co., S.C. m. Jemima Collins 

         as 1st wife. 

 

         167-a Mrs. Geupel copied several other who joined thru Rev. 

         William Woodward M.C. and wife Nancy Barrett. 

 

         168 

           Mrs. Geupel copied several others who joined thru the son 

         of Thomas Woodward and his wife Jemima Collins...This son 

         JOHN, who wed Esther McDonald....I am not typing these in the 

         ms. See # 62 & 63....Miss Louise Brown # 205687...1201 N.E. 

         13th Street, Fort Lauderdale, Fla...is a Woodward member from 

         Fairfield Co., S.C. 

 

                       WOODWARD MISCELLANY 

         169           GEUPEL DATA 

         Mrs. Minnie Haslam Jordon of Vienna, Georgia 

                     daughter of 

         ELLEN WOODWARD married 1866 to William M. Haslam. 

                     son of 

         THOMAS WOODWARD 1740 m. Elizabeth Peacock 

                     son of 

         THOMAS WOODWARD 1716-1791 m. Mary _____? Their children were: 

         Osborn Woodward          Isaac Woodward 

         Thomas Woodward Jr.      James Woodward 

         Stephen Woodward         Martha Woodward 

         For service as a JUSTICE of the PEACE in Camden District S.C. 

         and see pages 19 & 20 of Journal of the General Assembly of 

         S.C. for March & April 1776....This IS NOT THE THOMAS, THE 

         REGULATOR...This Thomas is likely for Thomas # 42 family...I 

         see here an ISAAC WOODWARD and that runs thru the families of 

         the clients...It may pay you to have Kershaw and Sumter 

         Counties checked. 

                            Andrea 

         170       THE FAMILY GROUP OF THE CLIENTS 

         _____________WOODWARD of S.C....He married to _______ 

         _______and had these proved children. 

         1    William Woodward who married Livica_______ and see # 127 

              and ancestor of Mrs. Winters. 

         2    James Woodward who married Levica ________and see # 122 

              and note he had a son named Osmond and see # 169. 

         3    Margaret Woodward..She died single...See # 50. She left 

              her estate to the widow of her brother James..See # 123. 

         4    George Woodward and he married ELIZABETH SMITH and see 

              # 156...He is ancestor of Mrs. Johnson & Mrs. Boggess. 

         5    John Woodward...He died single....see # 53. 

 

         There may have been other brothers & sisters in this proved 

         group...If others, I have not yet found them...WHENEVER the 

         parents of this group are found and proved, I can go ahead. I 

         have to try and try until I find them...To be perfectly 

         frank, I believe the parents are RICHARD WOODWARD # 52 but he 



         mentions his parents as some way. ???? (THIS IS NOT CLEAR). 

 

         171 

           The last page sent to you...I have tried to keep my 

         expenses down to the lowest...The total charge up to date is 

         $ 15.00 in all....Each of you owe me a check for $ 5.00. 

         You may remit as your leisure. 

                                       Andrea 

         171-a 

           Read carefully all and each items...Decide whether you want 

         me to work another day in Winnsboro...I may not find one 

         thing more. 

 

         171-b 

           MRS. JULIAN JOHNSON...Your ancestor # 156 was a 

         Revolutionary Soldier...He was NATHANIEL SMITH...Why not 

         consult your local DAR genealogist and ask her about trying 

         membership on Nathaniel Smith.   I do not have his dates at 

         all...Have to go to N.C. 

                        CAMDEN S.C.  (WOODWARD) 

         172 

           I had to work a day in Camden...I had some time left over 

         and decided to do the WOODWARD DATA there...Three Hours and 

         at $ 2 an hour for out of town work, it came to $6 and each 

         one has $ 2 each owing me for this work. 

 

         173            SEE # 24....# 42 .....# 143 

           THOMAS WOODWARD...His ESTATE FILE # 75-2679....We already 

         have his will in # 42...A large Inventory and made by these 

         men: Thomas Neal, David Rogers, Isaac LeNoir & Wood Furman 

         J.P. This places this man down in what is now Sumter County.. 

         I may be able to find data on him down there....He had a son, 

         SIMON WOODWARD, who was a soldier in the Revolution. 

 

         173            FILE # 75-2678 and see # 41 

           Nothing more in this file than the will # 41...An inventory 

         of his estate was made by: Charles Robinson, Jonathan Duren, 

         Alexander Fleming.  This man resided along the Fairfield 

         County line of Kershaw Co. 

 

         174            FILE 75-2680 

           WILLIAM WOODWARD....His estate was Admst. 1st day of April 

         1784 by his widow, Mrs. ELIZABETH WOODWARD...Her bond was 

         signed by Samuel Simmons...The citation was read on the 13th 

         of March 1784 at his home in Camden District, Fairfield Co. 

         was where he resided but then a part of Camden 

         District...John Hampton J.P.....This Inventory was made by: 

         Thomas Harbirt (see # 147), Samuel Simmons, John Brent, 

         Alexander Brent & James Howard..NO LIST OF HEIR...In fact 

         nothing more remains in the file...The widow, Elizabeth 

         Woodward had several small children and one a baby in 

         arms...The ESTATE was carried to the new county seat in 

         Winnsboro in 1785 as noted in this file. 

 



         174-a 

           This WILLIAM WOODWARD had married a Woodward...She was Miss 

         ELIZABETH WOODWARD and a daughter of Thomas Woodward, the 

         Regulator....Note her as his daughter in # 114 and then 

         single. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL SR: MR. ANDREA IS WRONG ABOUT THIS ELIZABETH 

         WOODWARD BEING THE DAUGHTER OF THE REGULATOR AS LISTED IN 

         ITEM # 114!  HE WAS RIGHT IN HIS ORIGINAL STATEMENT MADE IN 

         ITEM # 114 ABOUT THAT ELIZABETH WOODWARD BEING THE UNMARRIED 

         DAUGHTER OF THE REGULATOR AND LATER SHE DID MARRY MCMORRIES. 

         ...BUT IN THIS ITEM...I BELIEVE HE IS MIXED UP WITH SOME 

         OTHER ELIZABETH WOODWARD...THE ELIZABETH WAS LISTED AS A 

         "SPINSTER" IN # 114, BUT LATER MARRIED MCMORRIES...IF SHE WAS 

         A SPINSTER THEN SHE HAD NEVER MARRIED UP TILL THAT TIME, BUT. 

         LATER THEN MARRIED MCMORRIES ...HOW COULD SHE BE A WOODWARD 

         AT THE TIME SHE MARRIED THE ABOVE WILLIAM WOODWARD???  I AM 

         CONVINCED THAT ANDREA HAS GOTTEN HER MIXED UP WITH ANOTHER! 

 

         174-b 

           Do you suppose that this WILLIAM & ELIZABETH WOODWARD could 

         have been the parents of the group in # 170?  If so, you have 

         a Revolutionary line already here thru THOMAS WOODWARD, The 

         Regulator, but thru a daughter and not thru a son...In 

         Winnsboro, we may be able to check further on this man. 

 

         175            LAND DEEDS IN KERSHAW CO. S.C. 

           Charles Woodward 1806 to Hobbs Bradley. 

         Micaja Woodward 1814 to Alexander McLeod. 

         No other land deeds show in Camden..In fact no Woodwards ever 

         resided (Until after 1850) in Kershaw Co., S.C. of which 

         Camden is the county seat...Camden was the county seat of old 

         CAMDEN DISTRICT which included several counties up until 

         1785. 

 

         176 

           My next step is back to Winnsboro...I shall also check in 

         the Court House here to see what I can find. 

 

         177            ATTENTION OF MRS. JOHNSON 

           NATHANIEL SMITH # 156 of Rutherford Co., N.C...Rutherford 

         Co., N.C. is part of old MORGAN DISTRICT...This Nathaniel 

         Smith served in the Revolution from Morgan District 

         N.C....You can write to the N.C. State Archives, Raleigh, 

         N.C. and ask for the price of certified service for Nathaniel 

         Smith of Morgan District N.C. or at times listed as Nathan. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: This ended the notes of Mr. Andrea..What 

         followed next was 17 pages, each a typed copy of a WOODWARD 

         FAMILY....They follow next. 

 

         1st page 

         JAMES WOODWARD SR.                        WPA WILL * 

                                                   Signed ____1820 ** 



              names in his will 

         MARY WOODWARD...Wife & Ex. 

         JAMES WOODWARD JR....Son 

         JOHN WOODWARD........Son & Ex. 

         TABITHA MURDOCK......Daughter 

         WILLIAM WOODWARD.....Son 

         URIAH WOODWARD.......Son 

         HEZEKIAH WOODWARD....Son 

         JOSEPH WOODWARD......Son 

         JUDITH WOODWARD......Daughter 

         Witnesses/ James Singleton, Jane Tindall & John Tindall. 

 

         * WPA (copied) WILL are on file in the S.C. State Archives 

         and are usually copied on an average of 5% incorrectly...The 

         actual will and its files in Horry County, will contain more 

         data than shows in the will. 

 

         ** Signing date was left off by the WPA (Copyist) except for 

         the year 1820. 

 

 

 

         2nd page 

         THOMAS WOODWARD of St.  Marks Parish,  Thomas Woodward 

         Camden District, S.C.                 WPA Will (Copied) 

                                                Signed 31 Oct. 1780 

               Names in his Will                Probated 9 Apr. 1782 

                                                Kershaw Co., S.C. 

         WIFE....None listed* 

         JOHN WOODWARD.....Son & Ex. 

         MARY WOODWARD.....Daughter 

         THOMAS WOODWARD JR...Son & Ex. 

         SIMON WOODWARD....Son 

         MARTHA WOODWARD...Daughter 

         ELIZABETH WOODWARD...Daughter 

         WILLIAM DAVIS....Son In Law & Ex. 

         PRISCILLA WOODWARD....Daughter 

 

         Witnesses/ David Reynolds, David Reynolds Jr. & John Postell. 

         BOOK 1 PAGE 107...Appraisers named: Thomas Neal, Isaac LeNoir 

         & David Rogers. 

 

         In Inventory mention is made of: A Pair of old saddle bags 

         once owned by John McQueen. Money due to Thomas Woodward, 

         deceased, from estate of William Hamilton. 

 

         Comments (by Andrea) 

         THIS IS NOT THE THOMAS WOODWARD OF FAIRFIELD COUNTY S.C. for 

         Thomas Woodward, The Regulator, was dead before this will was 

         signed. However this man owned lands in Fairfield, Kershaw 

         and Sumter as well as Richland Counties, all in S.C. 

 

         This Thomas Woodward gave land for the HIGH HILL BAPTIST 

         Church in what is now Sumter County S.C....The Regulator, 



         Thomas Woodward, was a member of the Episcopal Church, as 

         shown by Woodmason...Thomas Woodward, son of this Thomas, 

         stated in his Revolutionary pension application, that he was 

         born in N.C. and served in the Revolution from what is now 

         Sumter County of Camden District. 

 

         From a study of dowers...His wife seems to have been 

         ELIZABETH PEACOCK of N.C. and the same set of Peacocks, who 

         removed to Barnwell Co., S.C....The son, who was a 

         Revolutionary Pensioner, was born 8 Nov. 1744, according to 

         his pension NO. R-11844. 

 

         RACHEL STARR was also a wife of a Thomas Woodward and some 

         data shows her as wife of this THOMAS WOODWARD above. 

 

         3rd page 

         ELIZABETH WOODWARD...Widow             Elizabeth Woodward 

                                                WPA Will Copy 

              Names in her Will                 Signed 12 Aug. 1802 

                                                Probated ???? 

                                                Fairfield Co. 

         LUCY WOODWARD.....Daughter 

         Sarah Riley.....Daughter ** 

         HENRY WOODWARD....Son 

         ELIZABETH McMORRIES...Daughter* 

         BENJAMIN MAY....Son ** 

         THOMAS MAY......Son ** 

         JANE FREEMAN....Daughter ** 

         THOMAS WOODWARD...Deceased SON  To his Children *** 

         JOSEPH WOODWARD....Son & Ex. 

 

            "The Woodward lands are to be divided between my last set 

         of children and the May lands are to be divided between my 

         first set of children." 

         Witnesses/ John Bell & William Scott 

 

         * Elizabeth Woodward, spinster (see above as Elizabeth 

         McMorries) signed a deed 22 Sept. 1780 to THOMAS MAY for the 

         300 acres of land willed to her by her father THOMAS 

         WOODWARD, deceased...This will of the REGULATOR, THOMAS 

         WOODWARD,  has never been located...His tombstone shows he 

         died 12 May 1799. (NOTE BY ROBERT HILL: Andrea made a typing 

         mistake here the date should have been 12 May 1779). 

 

         ** These children were by (John) May, the first husband of 

         Elizabeth. 

 

         *** Henry Woodward, a son of Elizabeth (Stokes) May Woodward 

         died before his mother...He had no children...In his will he 

         names THOMAS and ELIZABETH and JOSEPH H. WOODWARD, the 

         children of my deceased brother THOMAS WOODWARD. 

 

         The first wife of Thomas Woodward, the Regulator, who died 12 

         May 1799 (1779 is the correct date) was nee JEMIMA 



         COLLINS...I have a list of his children by her. 

                                                        Andrea 

 

         4th PAGE 

         GEORGE WOODWARD...Died 26 September 1811 in the 35th year of 

         his age. 

                      married 1 May 1800 to 

         ELIZABETH SMITH....Died 16 December 1830 in the ___of her 

         age. 

 

         children: 

         NATHANIEL WOODWARD  born 11 May 1801 m. MARY McMILLIAN or 

                                                      McMILLEN. 

         ISAAC WOODWARD born 26 January 1803. 

         MARGARET WOODWARD born 14 February 1805 m. CHARNAL JONES. 

         JANE WOODWARD born 21 April 1807 m. JAMES MORGAN. 

         ELIZABETH R. WOODWARD born 2 April 1808 m. ANDREW W. HANNA. 

         NANCY WOODWARD born 23 April 1810 died single 21 Aug. 1831. 

         GEORGE WOODWARD born 18 Nov, 1813. 

 

         Marriages 

         Nathaniel Woodward was m. 18 November 1825 to Mary McMillan 

         Elizabeth Woodward was m. 16 December 1828 to ANDREW W. HANNA 

 

         Data from Administrations in Winnsboro S.C. for Fairfield Co. 

 

         Bible Data. 

 

         Tombstone data from tombstones copied from the Old Plantation 

         Graveyard of GEORGE WOODWARD in upper west section of 

         Fairfield County S.C., on waters of LITTLE RIVER and on a 

         place now owned by 

 

         Mr. E.E. Douglas 

         R.F.D. 2..Box 92 

         Blackstock, S.C. 

 

         The young son of Mr. Douglas copied incorrectly the 

         data...The tombstones are old and broken and mottled with 

         lichens and stains...I had an experience person to go and 

         check after Douglas sent the data.  He changed "Died in 85th 

         year of his age to proper copy of 35th year of his age." 

         Nancy died in 1831 and not 1861 as the boy copied. 

 

         The EIGHT and the THREE (8 & 3) looked like 8 & 6 

 

         Ancestor of Mrs. Boggess and of Mrs. Johnson. 

 

         5th PAGE 

         ISOM WOODWARD...Also found as ISHAM       Will 

                                                   Signed 12 May 1839 

              names in his will                    Pr. 5 Oct. 1847 

                                                   BOOK K Page 72 

                                                   Richland Co., S.C. 



         NANCY WOODWARD....wife 

         LIEUELLEN WOODWARD....Son & Ex. 

         ELIZABETH WOODWARD....Daughter 

         JAMES McKENZIE........Son in Law & Ex. 

         DECEASED DAUGHTER...Her name not listed...Her share to her 

                             children 

                   JOHN WOODWARD HOUSE....Grandson 

                   THOMAS HOUSE...........Grandson 

                   JESSE HOUSE............Grandson 

                   SARAH HOUSE............Grand daughter 

                   ISOM HOUSE.............Grandson 

                   SAMUEL HOUSE...........Grandson 

                   REUBEN HOUSE...........Grandson 

                *  ELIZABETH LEADINGHAM...Grand daughter 

                *  ELIZABETH McKENZIE.....Grand daughter 

                *These two are not listed as House Children. 

 

         BOOK G, PAGE 11 

         Reuben House..deceased..Inventory of his estate made 2 Oct. 

         1816 by J. Bostick, Eli Williams & Isom Woodward. 

 

         BOOK G, Page 66 

         Sale of the estate of REUBEN HOUSE held 28 March 1818. 

 

         Much more complete data can be found in the Court House 

         Records...These are from the WPA Copies on file in the S.C. 

         State Archives...I find the WPA made about 10 % average of 

         error in copying the old records. 

                                          Andrea 

         6th & 7th pages contains Census Information 

 

         (WOODWARDS) LISTED IN 1850 CENSUS FOR BARNWELL COUNTY S.C. 

 

         All born in S.C. unless otherwise stated. Number above main 

         name is census-takers number as he went down road. 

 

            #703                                   # 704 

         SAM or JAM. WOODWARD 45 m          WILLIAM WOODWARD 41 m 

         Isabell Woodward     46 f          Sarah Woodward   36 f 

         John Woodward        23 m          Elias Woodward   21 m 

         Willis Woodward      18 m          Ardis Woodward   15 m 

         Elbert Woodward      15 m          Aolly Woodward   13 f 

         Martha Woodward       6 f          William Woodward Jr. 7 m 

         Ellen Woodward        6 mos. f     Whilden Woodward  2 m 

            #  1359                                # 1360 

         CASPER WOODWARD      35 m          JAMES WOODWARD  25 Not Clr 

         Jane Woodward        30 f          Eliza Woodward  25 f 

         Marian Woodward       7 f          Narcissus Woodward 6 f 

                                            Oliver Woodward  3 m 

                                            Benjamin Woodward 8 mos m 

            # 1432                                  # 1434 

         JAS. WOODWARD        30 m          RICHARD WOODWARD  55 m 

         Cynthia Woodward     28 f          Sarah Woodward    55 f 

         McDuffie Woodward     5 m          Vol. Woodward     16 m 



         Jackson Woodward      1 m          Jeff. Woodward    12 m 

           # 1442                                   # 1443 

         CHS. WOODWARD        24 m          HANSFORD WOODWARD 22 m 

         Eliza Woodward       18 f          Emily Woodward    24 f 

           # 1467                                   # 1468 

         MARTIN WOODWARD      23 m          WILLIAM WOODWARD  27 m 

         Louisa Woodward      27 f          Susannah Woodward 28 f 

           # 1477                           Almoa Woodward     5 f 

         OLIVER WOODWARD      26 m          Anolphine Woodward 3 m 

         in same house                      Rosina Woodward    2 f )? 

         William Gallemy      44 m          Mary Woodward      2 f )? 

           # 1496                                   # 838 

         CASPER WOODWARD      38 m          JAMES WOODWARD    37 m 

         Eliza Woodward       34 f          Louisa Woodward   30 f 

         Narcissus Woodward   16 f          Josiah Woodward   16 m 

           # 1463                           Eliza Woodward    14 f 

         Jry or Ivy Woodward  29 m          William Woodward  12 m 

         Eliza Woodward       28 f          Rebecca Woodward   4 f 

         Furman Woodward       8 m          John Woodward      3 m 

         Laura Woodward        5 f          Narcissus Woodward 2 f 

         Winfield Woodward     1 m            In same house 

          In same house                     Eliza Walker      34 f 

         Frances Brown        15 f                 # 1653 

                                            Ja. W. Woodward   29 m 

                                            Owen Hutto        20 m 

                                            Sarah Hutto        3 f 

                                            Betty Hutto        2 f 

                                            Jno. Hutto         1 m 

         *Ref # 1653 

         Last three may be for Woodward but listed without surnames 

         under the name of Owen Hutto. 

 

         WOODWARDS LISTED IN 1860 CENSUS FOR BARNWELL CO., S.C. 

         All born in S.C. unless stated otherwise and number above 

         main name is census taker's number as he went down the road. 

              # 965                                # 966 

         JOHN A. WOODWARD     26 m          WILLIAM WOODWARD   50 m 

         Elizabeth Woodward   30 f          Sarah Woodward     50 f 

         William Woodward      1 m          William Woodward   18 m 

         Anna E. Woodward   6 mos.f         James M. Woodward  10 m 

                                            Louisa  Woodward    7 m 

                                            Wickliff Woodward 11 mo. m 

              # 12                                 # 66 

         W. W. Woodward       28 m (mechant)J.A. WOODWARD      49 m 

         Sophnonia Woodward   33 f          Louisa Woodward    39 f 

         Laura Woodward        7 f          Josiah Woodward    29 m 

         Adella Woodward       5 f          Elizabeth Woodward 23 f 

                                                      (teacher) 

              # 130                         Rhoda Woodward     12 f # 

         J.J. WOODWARD        39 m          Narcissa Woodward  10 f 

         Elizabeth Woodward   39 f          James Woodward      9 m 

         Lavania Woodward     65 f          William Woodward   22 m 

         Manfield Woodward    11 m          Paul Woodward       7 m 

         J.J. Woodward         9 m          Samuel Woodward     5 m 



         John Woodward         7 m          Richard Woodward    2 m 

         Susannah Woodward     5 f                 # 239 

         Martin Woodward       2 m          MARTIN WOODWARD    40 m 

              # 225                         Louisa Woodward    27 f 

         PETER PLUNKETT       76 m                 # 242 

         In same house                      CHARLES WOODWARD   40 m 

         FURMAN WOODWARD      17 m          Elizabeth Woodward 28 f ? 

              # 243                         Sarah Woodward      9 f 

         A. D. WOODWARD       31 m          Robert Woodward     6 m 

         Julia Woodward        4 f          Richard Woodward    1 m 

              # 244                                # 256 

         W.L. Woodward        22 m          OLIVER WOODWARD    45 m 

         Margaret Woodward    22 f          Sophia Woodward    20 f 

         Marcellus Woodward    3 m          Catherine Woodward  1 f 

         Robert Woodward       2 m                 # 260 

         Baby Woodward         1 m          L.R. WOODWARD      25 m 

         In same house                      Martha Woodward    21 f 

         Julia McKinnon  ????               Sarah Woodward      3 f 

 

              # 263                                # 261 

         WILEY WOODWARD       37 m          J.C. Woodward      37 m 

         Elizabeth Woodward   35 f          Jane Woodward      30 f 

         Henry Woodward       12 m          Morrison Woodward  14 m 

         Wiley Woodward(twin?)12 m          Henry Woodward      9 m 

         Joshua Woodward       9 m          James Woodward      1 m 

         William Woodward      7 m               # 264 

         Prescott Woodward     5 m          W.C. Woodward      48 m 

         Osgood Woodward       1 m          Celia Woodward     40 f 

              # 274                         Lawrence Woodward  20 m 

         WILLIS WOODWARD      48 m          James Woodward     18 m 

         Cynthia Woodward     48 f          Lydia Woodward     16 f 

         Rachel Woodward      24 f          William Woodward   12 m 

         Shadrick Woodward    18 m          Casper Woodward    10 m 

         John Woodward        17 m          John Woodward       8 m 

         Josuf Woodward (sic) 15 m          Oliver Woodward     7 m 

         Mary Woodward        12 f          Q. Woodward         3 m 

         Jane Woodward        11 f          D.R. Woodward   10 mos. m 

         Ann Woodward          7 f 

            # 280                                # 267 

         RICHARD WOODWARD     60 m          WILLIAM WOODWARD   70 m 

         Manah (sic) Woodward 40 f          Nancy Woodward     60 f 

         Frances Weeks        15 f          Sarah Woodward     22 f 

            # 268                           Samuel Woodward    17 m 

         JUDSON WOODWARD      21 m          Catherine Woodward 16 f 

         living alone                       Mary Woodward      13 f 

            # 270                                # 275 

         JOHN WEEKS           27 m          ? J. Woodward      26 m 

         Julia Weeks          19 f          Laura Woodward     20 f 

         In same house                      Dora Woodward       4 f 

         ELIZABETH WOODWARD   46 f          Willias D. Woodward 10 mo 

                                                        (male) 

            # 151                                 #  97 

         Nathaniel Powell     30 m          W.L. Woodward      29 m 

         Sarah Powell         68 f          Elizabeth Woodward 21 f 



         Ann Powell           40 f          James J. Woodward   5 m 

         in same house                      Sarah C. Woodward   4 f 

         ISABEL WOODWARD      36 f          Julius or Joshus ???? 

         Calvin Owens         17 m          Woodward            1 m 

 

         FARMER is the occupation of all Heads of House unless noted 

         otherwise. 

                    Andrea 
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         ELIZABETH WOODWARD  (widow)         Will signed 12 Aug. 1802 

                                             probate date missing 

              names in her will              Copied by WPA 

         LUCY WOODWARD....Daughter 

         HENRY WOODWARD...Son 

         JOSEPH WOODWARD..Son & Ex. 

         THOMAS WOODWARD...Deceased Son.."His share to his children." 

         ELIZABETH McMORRIES...Daughter 

         JANE FREEMAN.....Daughter 

         SARAH RILEY......Daughter (of 1st husband John May) 

         BENJAMIN MAY.....Son (of 1st husband John May) 

         THOMAS MAY.......Son (of 1st husband John May) 

         "The estate I acquired from Mr. Woodward will go to my 

         children by him. The estate I acquired by Mr. May will go to 

         my children by him."  /Wit. William Scott & John Bell 

 

         Comments by Andrea: At the division neither of the May sons 

         were residents of Fairfield Co. 

 

         D.A.R.  DATA 

         This ELIZABETH was the widow (2nd wife) of THOMAS WOODWARD, 

         the famed Regulator of Fairfield Co. S.C., who was killed by 

         the Tories during the Revolution...She wed him in Virginia as 

         the widow (of John May) ELIZABETH MAY and nee ELIZABETH 

         STOKES. 

 

         The son Benjamin May was residing in 1790 in Edgefield 

         Co. S.C. 

 

         NOTE  BY ROBERT HILL Sr:  THE statement that Elizabeth & Thomas 

         Woodward (The Regulator) married in Virginia is wrong!  They 

         married in S.C. Reference: The book "REMINISCENCES" by Thomas 

         Simpson Woodward (grandson of the Regulator) on page 125. 

         Thomas Simpson Woodward stated in the book that Quote: "At 

         the close of the French-Indian War he (The Regulator & his 

         grandfather) was ordered to S.C., LEAVING HIS CHILDREN in 

         Virginia." End of Quote...Now what Thomas was actually saying 

         was that his grandfather the Regulator first came from 

         Virginia to S.C.  without his first wife (Jemima Collins) and 

         their children...Actually Thomas (Regulator) went back and 

         forth for visits between 1759 and 1763.  On the next page 

         126, it states Quote: "After marrying my grandmother, (he) 

         moved HIS mother & 2 half brother from Virginia to S.C." End 

         of Quote.  Woodward states QUOTE..."While in S.C. he (Thomas 



         Woodward) became acquainted with my grandmother (Elizabeth 

         Stokes, who was his 2nd wife."  Thomas Simpson Woodward's 

         statement while true can be miss leading...they did marry BUT 

         ONLY after Jemima Collins (1st wife of the Regulator) died in 

         Virginia.  About 1763, Thomas (Regulator) Woodward then went 

         back to Virginia, brought HIS widowed mother (widow of her 

         2nd husband John Robertson) along with his two half-brothers 

         to S.C. (Fairfield Co.). 
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         ELIZABETH WOODWARD (widow)              Administration 

                                                 12 Dec. 1830 by 

                                                 Charles Bell 

         HEIRS at Final Division were            Bond by Nathaniel 

         combined with the heirs of              Woodward, John Rogers 

 

         NANCY WOODWARD otherwise called         Fairfield Co. 

         AGNES, who died 19 April 1832           File 69-1052 

 

         Final Division of the combined          Inventory made by: 

         estates of Mrs. ELIZABETH WOODWARD      Thomas Lauderdale 

         and                                     Robert Bankhead 

         MISS NANCY WOODWARD.                    William Hamilton 

         whose estate was combined with the      Richard C. Woodward 

         estate of her mother. 

 

         HEIRS: 

         NATHANIEL WOODWARD.....Son 

         MARGARET WOODWARD, wife of CHARNAL JAMES...Daughter 

         JANE WOODWARD..........wife of JAMES MORGAN...Daughter 

         ISAAC WOODWARD.........Son 

         GEORGE WOODWARD........Minor Son..Charles Bell his guardian 

         NANCY WOODWARD was dead at time of this division...Daughter 

         ELIZABETH WOODWARD, wife of ANDREW HANNA...Daughters * 

 

         * Andrew Hanna (as spelled) bought more than the share of his 

         wife at the sale as shown by the sale list...Instead of 

         receiving money, he had to pay money to the estate in order 

         to balance. 

 

         This Andrew Hanna..I can go to Winnsboro for you and obtain 

         the full amount of his purchases to show that he bought more 

         than he was entitled to as an heir. He paid into the estate 

         the remainder and hence was not in the FINAL DIVISION. 

 

         JAMES MORGAN bought heavily also at the sale...However he did 

         not buy as much as was the share of his wife JANE WOODWARD 

         MORGAN and the share paid to James Morgan was not equal to 

         the shares of the others. 

 

         JANE WOODWARD wife of JAMES MORGAN can be documented as the 

         daughter...In some way she shows also with her sister NANCY 

         in this file (Error apparently by recording clerk) as NANCY 

         MORGAN sister of NANCY WOODWARD...Other data shows her as 



         JANE..(Jennet). 

 

         This Elizabeth Woodward was the widow of GEORGE WOODWARD and 

         was nee ELIZABETH SMITH. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: See # 120-a thru # 121-f AND #156, 
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         GEORGE WOODWARD                    Administration on 

                                            19 October 1814 by his 

         Names of his heirs as show         brothers William & John 

         in File at the final division      Woodward. Bond by Richard 

         on 16 August 1816.                 Woodward Jr & Randol 

                                            Woodward. 

         ELIZABETH WOODWARD...(widow) 

                                            Fairfield Co., S.C. 

         She was the guardian of her        File 34-552 

         children, all of whom were 

         minors.                            Inventory made by James & 

                                            Richard Woodward, Hugh 

         NATHANIEL WOODWARD...minor son     Aiken, Samuel McMullen, 

         MARGARET WOODWARD....minor dau.    Edward Watts (any three) 

         BETSY WOODWARD....Minor dau.       19 Oct. 1814. 

         also as ELIZABETH 

         GEORGE WOODWARD...Minor Son 

         ISAAC WOODWARD....Minor Son 

         JENNET WOODWARD...Minor Daughter...also as JANE 

         NANCY WOODWARD....Minor daughter 

 

         FROM a PHOTOSTAT of a NEW TESTAMENT: 

 

         Nathaniel Woodward born 11 May 1801 

         Isaac Woodward born 26 Jan. 1803 

         Margaret Woodward born 14 Feb. 1805 

         Jane Woodward born 21 April 1807 

         Elizabeth Woodward born 2 April 1808 

         Nancy Woodward born 23 April 1810..Hard to read but believe I 

                         am correct.....Andrea 

         George Woodward born 18 Nov. 1813 

 

         ELIZABETH R. WOODWARD was married 16 Dec. 1828 to ANDREW W, 

         HANNA. 

         Rebecca C.J. Hanna was born 16 Sept. 1829 

         Nathaniel F. Hanna was born 16 July 1831 

         George J. Hanna was born 19 Dec. 1833 

         Elizabeth M. Hanna was born 15 March 1836 

         Narcissa E. Hanna was born 15 Feb. 1839 

         Andrew W. Hanna was born 28___??? 184___(not legible where 

              blanks are 

         NATHANIEL WOODWARD was married 18 Nov. 1825 

         JOHN WOODWARD was born 18 Nov. 1826 
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         HENRY BASCOM WOODWARD                    Henry B. Woodward 



         Baptist Minister                         VOL. IV page 1806 

         Born 3 December 1871 in Sumter Co., S.C. Dictionary of Ala. 

         SON of Martha Caroline Johnston &        Biography By 

         Rev. Henry Bascom Woodward Sr.           T.A. Owen 

 

         Maternal Grandparents: 

         Sarah Goree & the Rev. William Woodward of York Co., S.C. to 

         Alabama. 

 

         The Rev. William Woodward removed from York Co. S.C. to Green 

         Co., Ga. and later to Sumter Co. Ala....He was a brother of 

         Joseph A. Woodward, who was a member of Congress from S.C. 

         (1843-1847). 

 

         Paternal great grandson of 

         WILLIAM WOODWARD....Physician, Baptist Minister, Member of 

         Congress...He wed an Italian Woman...He was an Englishman and 

         came with two brothers to America.  (Very Questionable) 

 

         The Rev. Henry Bascom Woodward Jr. born 1871 was married 1 

         July 1909 in Birmingham Alabama to Maude Ethel Prescott and a 

         daughter of Missouri Kansas Strock and John Arthur Prescott 

         and a grand daughter of William Berry Strock & of William 

         Prescott of Autauga and Chilton Counties Alabama...Two 

         Children:   Henry Bascom Woodward III & Maude Prescott 

         Woodward. 

         *     *     *     *     *     *     *     *     *     *     * 

         WILLIAM WOODWARD....Baptist Minister and Legislator 

              Born 15 Nov. 1792 in York District S.C. 

              Died 7 Sept. 1781 in Choctaw Co., Ala. 

         Married in S.C. to SARAH GOREE. 

              He was son of Rev. William Woodward, physician, Baptist 

         Minister, Member of Congress. 

              He was a grandson of the Regulator, Thomas Woodward, a 

         member of the Provincial Congress (SC) 1776. 

 

         The Rev. William Woodward born 1792 moved from Chester Co., 

         SC in 1820 where he farmed and was a member of the S.C. 

         Legislature...He later removed to Georgia and in 1834 removed 

         to Sumter Co., Ala. and settled in that area of the county, 

         which was later cut to form Choctaw Co., Ala. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr:  The compiler of this information has 

         become very much confused with this Woodward family and that 

         of Rev. William Woodward, son of Thomas (Regulator) Woodward. 

         First of all Rev. William Woodward was a physician, Baptist 

         Minister and member of Congress BUT he never moved out of 

         South Carolina...Also he was married to Nancy Barrett...He 

         never was married to Sarah Goree.  Also there was no child 

         named Henry Woodward in the family of Rev. William Woodward 

         (my 4th great grand father)..Rev William Woodward died in 

         Chester County on 23 July 1820. Someone is very much confused 

         by connecting this person to the REV. WILLIAM WOODWARD. 
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         JOHN JEFFERSON WOODWARD            VOL IV, PAGE 1807 

         Born 8 Oct. 1808 at Winnsboro      HISTORY OF ALA. & 

         S.C. Died in Battle 27 June 1862   DIRECTORY OF ALA. 

         at Richmond Va.                    BIOGRAPHY BY THOMAS 

                                            MCADORY OWEN IN 1921 

         Son of MARTHA (Patsie) ELOISE 

         EXHAM. 

               and 

         JOHN WOODWARD, who was a Captain in the Revolution in S.C. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL:  NOT SO! The listed father was the SON 

         of Captain John Woodward and his wife Esther McDonald. 

         Captain John Woodward was the grandfather of JOHN JEFFERSON 

         WOODWARD. 

 

         Grand son of 

         THOMAS (Regulator) WOODWARD who was killed by the Tories on 

         12 May 1779. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: Thomas was the great grandfather to John 

         Jefferson Woodward, not the grandfather. 

 

         Thomas Woodward came from England with two brothers, who 

         settled one in Pennsylvania and one in Maryland...Thomas came 

         to S.C. and was a leader of the Regulators and was 

         commissioned as a Captain on 18 June 1776 in S.C. Troops and 

         was in 1776 a member of the Congress of the Province of South 

         Carolina...Captain Thomas Woodward was captured by the 

         British and taken to Charleston S.C. but later made his 

         escape and returned to his company and was killed later by 

         the Tories on 12 May 1779. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: Again Mr. Owen has his facts confused 

         and perhaps he has confused the Regulator with another Thomas 

         Woodward that lived in the same area of S.C.....The Regulator 

         was born and raised in Fairfax Co. Virginia, the son of John 

         Woodward & Mary Simpson...He did not come to S.C. until ca. 

         1763 after his 1st wife died in Va.  The story of the three 

         brothers coming to American seems to be true...they were sons 

         of a wealthy London Merchant, William Woodward...BUT research 

         in England (by myself and a paid genealogist in England, who 

         did research for me, shows that the William Woodward, wealthy 

         merchant in England, and who all three sons settled first in 

         Maryland, have no connection to Thomas (Regulator) Woodward. 

 

         Col. John Jefferson Woodward was a lawyer and a planter...He 

         was educated at Mt. Zion Institute at Winnsboro, S.C. and was 

         later graduated from Columbia College (today's University of 

         S.C.). ca. 1827. 

 

         He was admitted to the S.C. Bar in 1828 and engaged in 

         planting...In 1837 he removed to Alabama and settled on a 

         plantation in Talledaga County. 



 

         In 1845 he sold his plantation and began the practice of law 

         in Talledaga and was also editor of the "Watchtower," a 

         Democratic Newspaper....In 1847 he was elected to the Alabama 

         State Legislature....In January 1849 he was elected as a 

         Circuit Judge of Alabama. 

 

         During the Civil War he entered the service of the 

         Confederate States of America as a Captain of the Davis Blues 

         in the Tenth Alabama Regiment...He was made a Major soon 

         after he arrived in Virginia and was later promoted to 

         Colonel, which commission he held at his death on the 

         Virginia Battlefield. 

 

         He was married in May 1830 in Winnsboro to Miss Rebecca Mary 

         Pearson, a daughter of Phillip Edward Pearson & Rachel 

         Lavinia Younge. Mr. Pearson was a lawyer in Winnsboro and his 

         wife was a daughter of an Irishman, who was a Presbyterian 

         minister and President of Mt. Zion Institute...(name not 

         given). 

 

         John Jefferson Woodward was a Methodist and a Mason and a 

         Democrat. 

 

         Children of Rebecca Mary Pearson and John Jefferson Woodward: 

         Edward Pearson Woodward, who wed Esther Woodward (cousin?) 

         John Floyd Woodward 

         Gustavius Adolphus Woodward, who wed Charlotte Durham. 

         Butler Woodward who wed Angela Rouse 

         Patsie Eloise Woodward who m. Dr. William Aiken 

         Sallie Lauinia Woodward 

 

         Last residence was a Talledaga, Ala. 

 

         PAGE 12 

         LANDS FOR WOODWARD                (RUTHERFORD CO., N.C.) 

         PETER WOODWARD 

 

         Five land grants from the state of N.C. which I did abstract. 

         Peter Woodward also bought two tracts of land. 

 

         BOOK AD, PAGE 436 (Rutherford Co., N.C.) 

 

         William Goings...A deed signed 24 Nov. 1786 to PETER WOODWARD 

         for 200 acres of land situate in Rutherford Co. 

         /Wit. Daniel Goyen & Daniel Laswell 

         *********************************************************** 

         BOOK 7-9 Page 307 

         Thomas Davis, a deed signed 12 July 1796 to PETER WOODWARD, 

         100 acres land adjacent to the lands of Harris Casser & 

         Robert H. Taylor and it being an original grant in old Tyron 

         Co., N.C.  /Wit. Joseph Grayson, Robert H. Taylor & William 

         F. Whiteside. 

         ************************************************************ 



                     1790 CENSUS FOR RUTHERFORD CO., N.C. 

         PETER WOODWARD....Himself & wife 

         3 boys over age 10 

         1 boy under age 16 

         5 females or girls 

 

         Comments by Andrea 

         There is not any estate or will for this Peter Woodward and 

         he disappears from Rutherford County records soon after 1800. 

 

         12th page 

         NATHANIEL WOODWARD 

            was born 11 May 1801 in Fairfield County S.C. and Died 27 

         November 1887 in Louisville, Mississippi. 

 

         He was married 18th November 1825 in Fairfield County S.C. to 

         MARY McMILLAN, born 5 February 1803 and died 5 May 1879. 

 

         Children: 

 

         JOHN WOODWARD born 18 November 1826 m. Margaret Hemphill. 

         WILLIAM M. WOODWARD born 3 July 1828 m. Josephine Boswell. 

         GEORGE Y. WOODWARD born 2 December 1830. 

         FRANCIS MARION WOODWARD born 22 July 1832 m. Elizabeth 

                                                      Coulter. 

         ISAAC CALVIN WOODWARD born 5 June 1834 m. Jane Hathorn. 

         ELIZABETH A. WOODWARD born 17 February 1836. 

         BENJAMIN F. WOODWARD born 5 May 1838 m. Mollie Coleman. 

         ANN E. WOODWARD born 16 October 1842. 

         JANE WOODWARD born 16 December 1844. 

 

         William M. Woodward was married 12 February 1857 to Josephine 

         Boswell, who was born near Louisville, Mississippi and died 

         20th December 1884. 

 

         NATHANIEL WOODWARD left Fairfield County S.C. and first moved 

         to Alabama and then later to Mississippi. 

 

         SOURCE: Personal (knowledge?) & Bible Data furnished by his 

         descendent, Mrs. Maud Woodward Bogges. 
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         SMITH-WOODWARD 

 

                               GENERATION TWO 

         CLAUDE DIXON CHENNAUET 

         was born 7 September 1876 in Attala County Mississippi. 

         He Died 3 May 1931 in Jackson, Mississippi. 

              Son of 

         LAURA MAY SMITH 

         Born 17 September 1883 in Attala County Mississippi 

         Died 29 January 1954 in Jackson, Mississippi. 

              Daughter of 

         MARY ELIZABETH HANNA & LEONIDUS FRANCIS SMITH 



                   children: 

         **RUBY LUCILLE CHENNAUET....daughter, 19 March 1904 in Attala 

         County Mississippi. Married first 3 August 1922 to Harold 

         Hughes. 2nd marriage 29th October 1933 to Julian Lightfoot 

         Johnson. 

 

         IRMA LOUISE CHENNAUET....daughter, born 22 March 1907 in 

         Attala County Mississippi. Married 17 March 1927 to William 

         Benson Smith. 

 

         THELMA MAY CHENNAUET...daughter, born 2 March 1909 in Attala 

         County Mississippi. Married 15 November 1930 to Jacob Edward 

         Simpson. 

 

         FLOY SMITH CHENNAUET...daughter, born 16 August 1913 at 

         Hattiesburg, Mississippi. Married 18 December 1932 to Harris 

         Daniel Owens Jr. 

 

         PROOF: 

         This data is taken from the Family Bible of the late Mr. & 

         Mrs. Claude Dixon Chennauet, which is owned by the family of 

         Mrs. Johnson. Tombstones and newspaper accounts can also be 

         furnished with the birth, death and marriage records of 

         Mississippi. 

 

         * The direct line 

         See generation Three for the Family of LEONIDUS F. SMITH. 
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         WILLIAM WOODWARD                   Deed Book 24-26k, Page 90 

               &                            Rutherford Co., N.C. 

         PETER STEPHEN DuPENSEAU 

               & 

         ABRAHAM KINTZIN 

               & 

         GEORGE WARRAL 

               & 

         TENCH COX 

               & 

         PETER FISHER 

         A joint deed signed 17 February 1804 to WILLIAM WOODWARD, a 

         50 acre island in the Broad River.  /Wit. Jacob Fisher & 

         Robert Lemond. 

         ************************************************************ 

         ROBERT SMITH of Buncombe Co., N.C.  Book of Deeds 35, page 10 

         deed of Gift signed 1 Dec. 1821     Rutherford Co., N.C. 

         TO MY SONS 

         William R. Smith & Nathaniel M. Smith, a tract of land 

         situate on Robinson's Creek by the land of John McConnell and 

         the same tract that was sold to Robert Smith by Abraham 

         Enloe. /Wit. James Patton. 

 

         Comment: This is the only other Nathaniel Smith I found in 

         Rutherford Co., N.C. and it was after the first Nathaniel 



         Smith died in 1820. 

 

         NO Lukewire or other WOODWARD deeds were found in Rutherford 

         County N.C.  None were found for JENNIE, widow of NATHANIEL 

         SMITH. 

 

         15th and last page 

         WILLIAM WOODWARD...deceased        Administration was on 

                                            21 December 1825 by 

         Brother of George Woodward, dcsd.  Charles Bell. Bond by 

                                            Thomas Bell & Robert 

         Names in File:                     Bankhead. 

 

         LEVICA WOODWARD, widow             Inventory by 

                                            Hugh Stevenson 

         Children and all minors:           Samuel McMillan Sr. 

         Levica Woodward                    Samuel McMillan Jr. 

         Nancy Woodward                     Thomas Bell 

         Letitia Woodward                   Robert Bell 

         Richard C. Woodward                Robert Milling J.P. 

         John C. Woodward 

         George W. Woodward                 Fairfield Co., S.C. 

         Eleanor S. Woodward                File 36-580 

         +++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++ 

         Fairfield Co., S.C. File 70-1073, Administered 19th November 

         1838 by her son Richard C. Woodward. Bond by James Cameron & 

         Burbage Woodward. 

 

         LEVICA WOODWARD...Widow of WILLIAM WOODWARD 

 

         Her Heirs as shown in her File 

 

         NANCY WOODWARD, wife of LEWIS McNEESE...Daughter. 

         LETITIA WOODWARD, wife of THOMAS NOLAND...Daughter. 

         LEVICA WOODWARD, wife of BURBAGE WOODWARD...Daughter. 

         RICHARD C. WOODWARD, Son & Administrator. 

         JOHN C. WOODWARD, Son. 

         GEORGE W. WOODWARD, Son. 

         ELEANOR S. WOODWARD, Daughter...minor. 

         These show in a Division dated 1 March 1841. In 1848 one 

         daughter ELLEN S. WOODWARD shows as wife of ROBERT T. 

         JOHNSTON...Also as Eleanor. 

 

         Post Script 

         This Mrs. Levica Woodward had a sister in law named LEVICA, 

         widow of JAMES WOODWARD....She moved to Mississippi. 

         Genealogist often confuse these two sister in laws. 

                                                            Andrea 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: THIS CONCLUDES THE ANDREA COLLECTION ON 

         THE WOODWARD FAMILY. 

 

END OF ADATA.03 

 



         ADATA.004   THE ANDREA COLLECTION ON THE HILL FAMILY OF S.C. 

                     WITH COMMENTS BY ROBERT HILL  (updated with 

                     additional notes resulting from later 

                     investigations) 

 

         NOTE OF EXPLANATION: Leonardo Andrea was a popular 

         genealogist in Columbia S.C.,  and did extensive genealogical 

         works on several families, including the Hill Family. 

 

         After his death, his sister Connie Andrea, made his works 

         available to the public for a small fee and gave rights to 

         copy etc... The complete ANDREA COLLECTION can be found in 

         the South Carolinian Library, in Columbia, S.C., located at 

         the UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH CAROLINA. This is a copy of what is 

         referred to as Hill No 1 and Hill No. 3. (Number 2 was not 

         obtained). 

 

         Since Mr. Andrea did his research, additional information has 

         been found and inserted by me. At no time have I made any 

         changes to Andrea's works but my insertions and comments are 

         in bold print.  [Bold print was removed when software was  

  converted.] 

                          Robert R. Hill Sr 

 

 

         Compiled by :                      Compiled for: 

         Leonardo Andrea 

         4204 DeVine Street                Mrs. R.W. Nicholson 

         Columbia, 50, S.C.                Parkview Hotel 

                                           Memphis, Tenn 

         (All Souls Day 1947) 

           Halloween Day              HILL 

 

         This data on the HILL Family has been compiled from the South 

         Carolina State Archives in Columbia, S.C. and is to be 

         supplemented by other work in the various county seats. Due 

         to the fact that many papers of mine fall into the hands of 

         professional genealogist, I have not added the books nor 

         pages from where this data was obtained. The client will be 

         furnished free these books and pages on any of the names 

         which are in her direct line. The names is sometimes spelled 

         as HILLS as well as HILL. 

 

         1.   MOSES HILL, the ancestor of Mrs. Nicholson, was born in 

         1758. He died in Fairfield County (S.C.) 7-1-1821...His wife 

         was SAVILLA RODEN, who was born in 1759 and died in Alabama, 

         23 July 1844...Their children : 

              Thomas Hill b. 1780 m. Jemima Woodward 

              James Hill  b. 1782 m. Susannah Glenn 

              Sarah (Caroline?) Hill m. Rev. John Pearson 

              Moses Berry Hill    m. Mary Glenn 

              George Washington Hill m. a Miss Moore 

              Harriet Windham Hill m. Edward P. Mobley 

              Rebecca Carlisle Hill m. Trezevant De Graffenreid 



 

         NOTE BY ROBERT R. HILL Sr: Later research shows the following 

         additional data for the above children: 

              a.  Thomas Hill b. 1780, m. ca 1805 to Jemima Woodward, 

              and died between January and May of 1824 in Fairfield 

              Co., S.C.  (my 3rd great grandfather). 

 

              b.  James Hill b. 21 Nov 1782, m. 10th June 1806 to 

              Susannah Glenn, d.  27 October 1854 in Union Co., S.C. 

 

               c.  Sarah Hill, b. ca. 1785. m. Rev. John Pearson, they 

               moved to Green Co., Ala ca. Apr. or May 1831. She d. 

               ca.  1831-1835. 

 

               d.  Littleton Hill, born ca. 1788-1790, never married, 

               said to have died in late teens (after 1810?) He is 

               named in the remains of Moses Hill's bible.  Buried by 

               side of his father in Fairfield Co., S.C. (near 

               Buckhead in Old Yongue Cemetery in unmarked grave). 

               Was the site of Moses Hill's home. 

 

               f.  Elizabeth Harrison Hill, b. 29th January 1793, m. 

               Stephen Terry on 4th July 1809, they moved to DeKalb 

               Co., Ga., she died there 3rd December 1838. 

 

               g.  Moses Berry Hill, b. 1795, m. Mary Bowles Glenn, d. 

               14th October 1824 in Chester Co., S.C. (Buried 

               at Carlisle S.C. in the James Hill family cemetery in 

               Union Co.) 

 

               h.  Harriet Windham Hill, b. 5th March 1802, m. ca. 

               1818-1819 to Edward Picket Mobley, (lived life entirely 

               in Fairfield Co.), d. on 30th April 1857. 

 

               i.  George Washington Hill, b. in September 1803, m. 

               Sarah A. Moore, moved to Green Co., Ala with widowed 

               mother and the family of his sister Rebecca and her 

               husband, d.  there on 8th September 1857. 

 

               j.  Rebecca Carlisle Hill, b. 20th December 1807. m. 

               Dr. John Trezevant DeGraffenreid on 25th March 1828, 

               They moved to Green Co., Ala, along with her widowed 

               mother and brother George ca. 1831, she d. there on 

               11th August 1842. 

 

         This ends the notes by Robert R. Hill and the data was a 

         result of years of investigation by Mrs. Jeannette B. 

         Christopher, of Carlisle, S.C. (descendent of James Hill) and 

         myself (descendent of Thomas Hill). 

 

         2.   South Carolina had four colonial counties, Craven, 

         Berkley, Colleton and Granville. These counties extended from 

         the coast up to the N.C. line. At the end of the Revolution, 

         these counties disappeared and new counties were formed in 



         their place, along with the districts of NINETY-SIX, CAMDEN, 

         CHERAW, GEORGETOWN or WINYAH, CHARLESTON, BEAUFORT and 

         ORANGEBURG which came into being about 1765. 

 

         3.   Up to 1745 land was allotted not by the number in the 

         family. From 1745 to 1775 the land grants were allotted by 

         the size of the family (Save for a few years when each person 

         got 50 acres and an additional 50 acres for each member) the 

         land was allotted 100 acres for a single man or woman over 

         the age of 16 or 15 if nearer to age 16. Then 50 acres 

         additional was allotted for a wife and 50 acres more for each 

         child under the age of 16. No married women, unless widows, 

         were allowed land during this time. Often a man took a grant 

         and when his family increased in size, more land was 

         allotted. Often a man had several grants in payment for 

         surveying. 

 

         After the Revolution, the land was not limited as between 

         1745-1775 

 

         4.   Arrived from Ireland on the snow "Gregg" and dated 23rd 

         Feb. 1768.  1. Thomas Hill age 50 and allotted 200 a of land 

                     2. Margaret Hill age 50, wife and no land 

                     3. William Hill age 7 and no land 

                     4. Samuel Hill, single son allotted 100 a, age 25 

                     5. Susannah Hill, age 16, single dau., allotted 

                        100 a. 

         5.   6th January 1773, arrived on the "Pennsylvania Farmer," 

         JAMES HILL, a single man and allotted 100 a of land. 

                              END OF HILL IMMIGRANTS 

 

         (#6 was not listed, and probably typing mistake) 

 

         7.        HILL LAND GRANTS BEFORE THE REVOLUTION 

            Abel,  100a in Craven Co., 2 April 1773. 

            Ambrose, 300a & 260a on Bohicket Creek in Berkley, 1 Feb. 

            1706. 

            Charles, 500a on Wasso Creek in Craven, 16 Mar. 1732. 

            Charles, 440a in Craven Co., 24th May 1743. 

            Charles, 450a on Broad River in Craven, 13 Mar. 1752 

                  (Fairfield). 

            Charles, 100a on Wateree River in Camden, 28th Nov. 1771. 

            Charles, 100a on Wateree River in Craven, 23 June 1774. 

            Dorcas, 203a on Bear Creek in Craven, (Fairfield) 26 July 

                  1774. 

            James, 200a on Jeffery Creek in Cheraw Dist. of Craven, 

                  23rd Jan. 1759. 

            John, 3 grants of 640a each on Ashepoo River in Berkley, 

                  28th June 1711. 

            John, 500a on the Ashepoo River 25 Feb. 1714/15. 

            John, 100a on Beaver Creek in Craven 25 June 1771. 

            John, 50a in Amelia Township of Berkley (Orangeburg) 12th 

                  July 1757. 

            John, 150a on lands between Stephens & Mt. Creek in 



                  Colleton 23 June 1774. 

            John, 350a in Granville Co., 12 May 1772. 

            Jonathan, 200a on Lynch Creek in Craven 4 June 1759 

                  (Cheraw Dist.) 

            Jonathan, 100a on Lynches River in Craven 7 May 

                  1767. 

            Jonathan, 250a on Wateree River in Craven 4 Oct. 1768 

                  (Likely Fairfield). 

            Joseph, 100a in Craven Co., 8th Feb. 1763. 

            Isaac, 2 grants of 100a each between Congaree & Wateree, 2 

                  May & 13 July 1770. 

            Mary, 600a in Craven County 6 Aug. 1735. 

            Mary, 200a on Stephens Creek in Colleton 23 June 1774. 

            Nathan, 250a on Wateree River in Craven 8 Aug. 1753. 

            Nicholas, 200a on Raburn Creek in Berkley, 25 Aug. 1769 

                  (Laurens Co.) 

            Nicholas, 250a on Rayburn Creek in Berkley 3 Apr. 1772. 

            Richard, 2 grants of 700a each on Black River in Craven, 

                  13 July 1737. 

            Richard, 250a in Berkley, 11 May 1699. 

            Richard, 100a on the Stono River 20 Apr. 1678. 

            Richard, 100a on the Broad River in Craven, 18 Jan. 1765. 

            Robert, 200a on the Wateree River in Craven, 21 June 1765. 

            Robert, 200a in Forks of Wateree & Congaree in Craven, 15 

                   Mar. 1771. 

            Robert, 210a  "    "     "      "    "      "    " 26 

                   Sept. 1772. 

            Robert, 150a in Craven Co., 2 Apr. 1773. 

            Samuel, 100a at McGinnis Old Field, 15th July 1768. 

                   (See # 4). 

            Susannah, 100a at Indian Fields Swamp in Berkley, 16 June 

                   1768, (See # 4). 

            Theophilus, 400a Forks of Congaree & Wateree, 

                   14 Aug. 1770. 

            Theophilus 400a (same as above) on 26 Sept. 1772. 

            Thomas, 200a at the Head of Wahoo Bay in Craven, 

                   22 Mar. 1769. 

            Thomas, 200a at the Four Holes (Swamp) in Orangeburg 

                   District of Berkley, 16 June 1768, (See # 4). 

            Thomas, 200a on Enoree River in Berkley, 24 Dec. 1772. 

            Thomas, 150a on Cedar Creek in Fairfield of Craven, 

                    18 May 1771. 

            Thomas, 150a (increase in family) Cedar Creek in Craven, 

                    9 Sept. 1774. 

            William, 3 grants at Bone Hill of 100a each, 30th 

                    Aug.1762, 12th Apr. 1764 & 25 June 1771. 

            William, 350a on Abbott Creek, 19th Aug. 1774. 

            William, 331a on Edisto River in Orange of Colleton, 

                     17th Mar. 1775. 

            William, 50a on Bear Creek of Broad River in Fairfield 

                     Co., 10th Feb. 1775. 

            William, 250a on Pleasant Meadow Swamp, 2 May 1770. 

            William, 1000a in Colleton County, 11 Feb. 1773. 

 



         8.   MEMORIAL TAX RETURNS.....The Crown levied a tax on all 

         lands granted. The present owner of the grant had to make the 

         return in Charleston.  Often a neighbor going to Charleston, 

         made the tax return...A woman, if she had wed since her 

         grant, made the return in her new name...The following Hill 

         returns were made and how many follows after the name as 6. 

         (meaning 6 returns?) 

           Charles 3                     James 

           Charles from Thomas Boone     John 2 from Lords Proprietors 

           Charles to Daniel Welshington John 4 

           Darcus                        Jonathan 3 

           Isaac 2                       Joseph 

           Mary 2                        Nicholas 2 

           Richard 3                     Robert 4 

           Samuel                        Susannah 

           Theophilus 2                  Thomas 6 

           Thomas from Richard Wilson    William 10 

 

         9. Thomas Hall of Iredell County, N.C. wed Elizabeth Sloan 

         and they had a daughter Margaret Hall, b. 1776 and married 

         JAMES HILL. 

                              HILL LANDS 

         10.  Memorial tax return made 7 January & 17 January 1732 by 

         MARY HILL, widow of JOHN HILL of the Parish of St. George in 

         Berkley County for 100 a of land sold by James Cantey with 

         dower by his wife, Elizabeth Cantey of the 100a grtd. to 

         James Cantey, who sold to John Hill, who by his will, gave 

         same to his widow, Mary Hill and said land being along the 

         town limit of Dorchester and also for 26a of land given to 

         Mary Hill by Daniel Stewart and his wife, Hannah Stewart in a 

         deed settlement. These two tracts returned by Mrs. Mary Hill 

         in Charleston 7 & 17 Jan. 1732. 

 

         11.   HILL LAND GRANTS AFTER THE REVOLUTION FROM INDEX II. 

         Abraham, 48a on Turkey Creek in Edgefield, 7 Dec. 1812. 

         Alexander, 536a on Bullock Creek in York, 1 Apr. 1793. 

         Alexander, 290a in York, 6 July 1812. 

         Amos, 910a in Darlington Co., 5 Oct. 1818. 

         Andrew, 829a in York, 2 May 1814. 

         Ann, 62a in Newberry, 7 Aug. 1797. 

         Benjamin, 66a and 323a at Long Canes in Abbeville, on the 

             7 & 18 Dec. 1807 

         Elijah Sr., 600a on Long Branch in Darlington, 5 Dec. 1814. 

         Elijah, 614a on Sparrow Swamp in Darlington, 5 Oct. 1818. 

         Ephiram, 319a in 96 District, 5 Apr. 1790. 

         Henry, 365a in Pendleton Dist., 2 Dec. 1799. 

         Henry, 554a on Keowee River in Pendleton, 1 Feb. 1802. 

         James, 141/2a on Cane Creek in Union Co., 1 Feb. 1819. 

         Jesse, 22a on Stephens Creek in Edgefield, 2 Dec. 1805. 

         John O., 270a on Enoree River, 7 Apr. 1794. 

         John, 122a and 50a in Edgefield, 6 Feb. 1791. 

         John, 81/2a in Edgefield on Turkey Creek, 2 May 1803. 

         John, 86a in Newberry County on Saluda River, 6 June 1803. 

         John, 263a in Orangeburg on Edisto River, 1 Apr. 1805. 



         John, 327a on Carpenter Creek in Pendleton Dist., 2 Dec. 1816 

         John Sr., 300a in Edgefield, 5 Sept. 1790. 

         John Jr., a 14a island called Pearson in Broad River, 1 Apr. 

              1805. 

         Jonas, 498a in Pendleton Dist., 2 Dec. 1799. 

         Joshua, 117 in Abbeville, 3 Apr. 1797. 

         Lazarus, 34a in Laurens Co., 5 Dec. 1803. 

         Michael, 500a in Cheraw Dist., 6 July 1795. 

         Nathaniel, 198a & 310a in Cheraw Dist., 5 July 1790. 

         Robert, 182a in York Co., 4 May 1807. 

         Samuel, 202a on Stevens Creek in Edgefield, 7 Mar. 1791. 

         Samuel, 493a on Steven Creek in Edgefield, 4 Mar. 1810. 

         Samuel, 18a on Savannah River, 4 Mar. 1810. 

         Samuel B., 25a on Rayburn Creek in Laurens or Greenville, 

             5th June 1820. 

         Solomon, 330a & 55a on edge of Spartenburg-Union, 4 June 1790 

         Solomon with James Burns & George Galbreath, 194a in 

             Spartenburg, 4 June 17?? 

         Solomon, 820a & 992a in York Co. on Allison Creek, 2 May 1814 

         Solomon with James Burns & Wm. Hopkins, 1000a in Spartenburg 

             on 4 June 1802. 

         Thomas, 490a in Abbeville on Saluda River, 2 June 1817. 

         Thomas, 472a      "        "     "     "   6 Apr. 1818. 

         Thomas P., 160a in Chester Co., 2 July 1821. 

         Uel, 120a in Abbeville, 4 Feb. 1793 & 470 at Long Canes on 

             4 Sept. 1797. 

         William, 476a at Long Canes in Abbeville, 3 July 1809. 

         William, 200a in Edgefield, 3 Dec. 1792 & 500 a in Edgefield, 

             1 Dec.  1800 

         William, 35a, 75a & 83a in Camden Dist, 1791-92-97. 

         William, 123a & 260a in Orangeburg, 6 Feb. 1792 & 2 Sept. 

             1793. 

         William Jr., 500a in Spartenburg, 6 May 1799. 

 

         12. HILL LAND GRANTS AFTER REVOLUTION IN INDEX III. 

 

         Ann, 100a in Orangeburg, 3 Dec. 1787. 

         Asaph, 114a in Camden Dist., 20 Jan. 1789. 

         Ephiram, 250a on Dutchman Creek in 96 Dist., 21 Jan.1785. 

         Ezekiel, 500a in Georgetown Dist., 24 Feb. 1800. 

         Henry, 100a on Enoree River in 96 Dist., 3 Apr. 1786. 

         Isaac, 50a on Shaw Creek in Edgefield of 96 Dist., 2 Oct. 

              1786. 

         Isaac, 100a in Georgetown Dist., 1 July 1793. 

         John, 200a in Beaufort Dist., 21 Jan. 1785. 

         John, 196a on Turkey Creek, a Revolutionary Bounty, 4th July 

               1785. 

         John, 640a on the Edisto River in Orangeburg, 5 June 1786. 

         John, 2 grants of 1000a each between Mountain & Rockey Creek, 

              5 May 1788 and 1 Jan. 1787. 

         Jonathan, 172a in Colleton Co., 1 July 1800. 

         Joshua, 2 grants in Edgefield on Stevens Creek, 542a 6 Nov. 

              1786 & 210 a. 

         Josiah, 520a & 12.7a on Fishing Creek in Camden Dist. 6 Feb & 



              6 Nov. 1786. 

         LEONARD, 82a on Little River in Camden Dist., 5 June 1786. 

         MARY, 315a on Little River in Camden Dist., 6 June 1786. 

         MOSES, 315a on Little River (in Camden Dist.) 6 June 1786. 

         Richard, 31a, 990a & 954a in Colleton Co., 1837 & 1840. 

         Robert, 200a on Colonels Creek in Camden Dist., 3 Apr. 1786. 

         Robert, 400a on Colt Creek in Camden Dist., 5 June 1786 (see 

               MOSES 6 June-). 

         Thomas, 710a in Richland Co. of Camden, 1 June 1787. 

         Thomas, 150a on Eden Creek in Camden Dist., 21 Jan. 1785. 

         Thomas, 100a in Camden Dist., 2 June 1788. 

         Uel, 133a on Bold Branch in 96 Dist., 3 Dec. 1787. 

         William, 640a on Clark River in 96 Dist., 5 Sept. 1785. 

         William, 200a at Penn Fork in 96 Dist., 3 Apr. 1786. 

         William, 251a at the Long Canes in 96 Dist., 3 July 1786. 

         William, 200a & 421a in Orangeburg Dist., 5 June 1786. 

         William, 362a, 252a, 80a, 639a & 1000a in Orangeburg Dist, 1 

              Jan. 1787 

         William, 107a on Saluda River in 96 Dist., 2 Oct. 1786. 

         William, 225a      "      "       "   "    1 Dec. 1788. 

         William, 2 grants of 205a each on Saluda River in 96 Dist., 

              2 Mar. 1789. 

         William, 257a in Charleston Dist., 6 Nov. 1797. 

         William, 536a in Marion Co., 6 May 1805. 

         William, in Colleton Co., 592a, 2 Apr. 1810 & 685a on 

              13 Feb. 1819. 

 

         13. HILL LAND PLATS AFTER THE REVOLUTION ON FILE IN S.C. 

         HISTORICAL COMMISSION. THE 3 AFTER EACH NAME INDICATES HOW 

         MANY PLATS. 

 

         Abraham        Adam           Alexander 2        Amos 3 

         Andrew         Ann 2          Asaph              Benjamin 2 

         Elijah 2       Ephiram 2      Henry 4            Henry H. 3 

         Isaac          James 6        Jesse              Jesse M. 

         Jonas          John 13        John O.            Joseph 

         Josiah 2       Joshua 3       Leonard            Lewis ET.Al. 

         Mary           Michael        Moses              Nathaniel 2 

         Robert 3       Samuel 3       Samuel B.          Solomon 5 

         Theophilus     Thomas 6       Thomas O.          Uel 

         William 23     William Jr.    William R.         Zachariah 

 

         14.  MARY HILL, a plat surveyed 20 Aug. 1784 by Alexander 

         Johnston upon an order from John Winn, dated 9 Aug. 1784 for 

         100a in Camden Dist., on branch waters of the Wateree River 

         and (bounded) by lands of Abraham Gibson, Meredith Taylor, 

         Jasper Rogers & Joseph Helms (The plat for additional 215a is 

         not on file...granted to Mary Hill 6 June 1786. 

 

         15.  LEONARD HILL, a plat surveyed by James Winn 23 Feb. 1785 

         upon an order from John Winn 29 Dec. 1784 for 82a of land in 

         Camden District (Fairfield) on the Little River and by lands 

         of William McClintock, vacant lands and lands of Leonard 

         Hill.* (Shows Leonard Hill already owned lands adjoining this 



         grant made 6 June 1786. 

 

         16.  MOSES HILL (See #1) a plat surveyed 16 Nov. 1785 by 

         James Dougherty upon an order by John Winn for 315a of land 

         on Little River in Camden Dist. (Fairfield) and by lands of 

         George Evans, John Lee, Mr. Shaw & Sealy DeLashmith. 

 

         (NOTE BY ANDREA) It seems to me that perhaps Leonard Hill and 

         Moses Hill may be brothers and that Mary Hill is of some 

         relationship and perhaps their widowed mother.  (Maybe a 

         sister). 

 

         17.  Some years ago in the Public Library in Jacksonville, 

         Fla., I saw & read some pages and chapters on the S.C. 

         Families of the HILLS OF NEW ENGLAND and perhaps published 

         before 1900. The book has more than 700 pages. I took some 

         notes from this book for Miss Fay Hill, The Inn, Ware Shoals, 

         S.C. This book had the complete lineage of Miss Hill back 

         into England. In the book, in the S.C. Chapters, was 

         mentioned both MOSES & LEONARD HILL. Perhaps in your library, 

         in Memphis, you may obtain a copy of this book and check to 

         see if your MOSES HILL has his line traced. If you write to 

         Miss Fay Hill, she may have some data and the notes I made 

         for her several years ago. 

 

         18.  The Index of names connected with the Revolution in the 

         S.C. Historical Commission....many of these names are for 

         several distinct persons by same name and as for William 

         Hill, I noted at least ten by that name. Often the names are 

         for supplies furnished or as witnesses to claims and not for 

         service to the Revolution...HILL NAMES INDEXED. 

 

         Abraham        Aaron       Adam         Burrell 

         Charles        Daniel      David        Dorcas 

         Edward         Ewell (Uel) George       Hannah 

         Isaac          James       John         Joseph 

         Josiah         Lodowick    Leonard      Mary 

         Mel (Uel)      Mrs. Milley MOSES        Phillip 

         Robert         Samuel      Theophilus   Thomas 

         Therresa       William     Jeremiah Hills 

 

         19.  SAMUEL HILL was listed on the Tory List of Col. Robert 

         Anderson. 

 

         20.  Mrs. Dorcas Hill was listed in the file of a William 

         Hill and likely as his widow. There was so much in the file 

         and so many different William Hills that I did not attempt to 

         find the data on Dorcas. 

 

         21.  MARY HILL and listed as MRS. MARY HILL, File # 3607 and 

         for 2 cows furnished for the troops of Gen. Thomas 

         Sumpter...enclosed was a receipt for these cows and signed by 

         Capt. Samuel Watson in Camden District on 8th Sept. 1780. The 

         other papers in this file are missing. 



 

         22.  MOSES HILL (See #1) File 3609 for 120 days service with 

         the Militia and duty at the Congarees and at the Four Holes 

         (Swamp)...sworn to by Moses Hill on 12 March 1784 before 

         Thomas Baker, J.P....Richard Winn of Winnsboro, Camden 

         District and Fairfield County, certifies as to this 

         service...5 Mar. 1784. Moses Hill sold this indent claim to 

         Richard Winn, who on 5th July 1785 sold the indent claim to 

         W.J.S.S. Cooke and witnessed by John Popplewell of Darlington 

         District and by James Falone. 

 

         23.  LEONARD HILL for service at the siege of Augusta and 

         also service at the Four Holes in Orange burg and also for 

         service under Gen. Andrew Pickens, who with Richard Winn 

         certifies this service of Leonard Hill...Sworn to 12 Mar. 

         1784 before Thomas Baker, J.P....Leonard Hill sold this 

         indent claim to Richard Winn and sale certified by John Winn, 

         J.P. 

 

         24.  HILL MEN WHO DREW REVOLUTIONARY PENSIONS AS RESIDENTS OF 

         S.C. OR FROM S.C. 

 

         Abraham Hill # S 7 015 

         John Hill (wife Savery Hill) # R 5 012 

         Joshua Hill # R 5 003 and from N.C. 

         Thomas Hill # S 31 131 

                               End of Revolutionary Pensions 

 

         25.  Miss Eliza Hill 12 Dec. 1838 married to Isaac McWhorter 

         and both of Pickens County...from files of the Pendleton 

         Messenger. 

 

         26. HILL ITEMS FROM FILES OF THE CAMDEN CHRONICLE 

         Miss Margaret Ann Hill, the daughter of Green Hill, was 

         recently married in Raleigh N.C., to William T. Bain of 

         Pittsburg.. Issue 21 Sept. 1833. 

 

         The Rev.  Isaac Smith died 20 July 1834 at the age of 76, at 

         the home of his son in law, the Rev.  W.C.  Hill in Monroe 

         Co., Ga. The Rev. Isaac Smith served in the Revolution under 

         Gen.  Washington and had for more than 30 years been a 

         resident of Camden District, S.C. He was a Methodist 

         minister. 

 

         27.  Sumter Co., S.C. Will of John W. Faris signed 1806 

         mentions a sister as Mrs. Sarah Hill. 

 

         28.  S.C. MARRIAGES BY SALLEY 

         Elizabeth, widow of Charles Hill. m. 27 Apr. 1747 to Rev. 

              Samuel Quincy 

         Charles Hill m. 10 Mar. 1746 to Sarah Smith 

         Mary Hill m. 22 Nov. 1742 to John Beswick 

         The Rev. Thomas Hill m. 7 July 1785 to Jane Wells 

         Mrs. Sarah Hill, widow of Francis Hill m. 15 Aug. 1785 to 



              William Semple. 

 

         29.  HILL ITEMS FROM HISTORY OF ORANGEBURG CO. DATA FROM 

         EPISCOPAL CHURCH REGISTER OF THE CHURCH OF REDEEMER. 

          a.    Miss Ann Hill wed Henry Young of the Forks of the 

                Edisto on 9th Apr.  1754. 

          b.    Miss Sarah Hill m. 14 Mar. 1754 to Daniel Lindar 

                (Linder) and wit by John Burdell, James Tilly & 

                Alexander McCord. 

 

         29a.  OTHER ITEMS FROM SAME HISTORY 

          a.    William Hill & Henry Felder were named Tax Collectors 

                for Saxe-Gotha District of Orangeburg 9 Sept.  1779. 

          b.    William Hill, Donald Bruce & Samuel Rowe were named as 

                members of the S.C. General Assembly from Orangeburg 

                District in December 1779. 

             SHERMAN DESTROYED ALL RECORDS OF ORANGEBURG AND HENCE NO 

             WILLS 

 

         30.  HILL ITEMS FROM HISTORY OF ANDERSON CO., S.C. 

              (PENDLETON) 

              a.  Joshua Hill with Joseph Woodall or Wadall, William 

                  Hammond, James Martin & Samuel Taylor were the first 

                  settlers on 6 & 20 Creek. 

              b.  Elizabeth Hill wed William Halbert and they had a 

                  daughter, Susannah H. Halbert, who wed in Virginia 

                  in 1786 to Peter Acker & came then to reside in old 

                  Pendleton District. 

         NOTE BY ANDREA: The two above, a. & b., were children of 

         William Hill of Surry County Virginia or N.C., probably N.C. 

 

 

              c.  Eunice Hill with Emily Divver, Anna Humpherys & 

                  Mamie Andrews were the flower girls in 1850 when the 

                  cornerstone of the Masonic Temple was laid.  Dr. 

                  R.T.  Divver was in charge of the ceremonies 

                  (where?) 

 

                        HILL COLONIAL WILLS OF CHARLESTON 

         31.  John Hill, of St George Parish, Dorchester, Berkley Co., 

         (see#10) a will signed 26 Sept. 1729 and no probate date. 

         "All to my wife, Mary Hill." No children named. lands by 

         Daniel Stewart, Gilson Clapp & Thomas Sabur....brother 

         Michael Hill. /wit. Thomas Waring, Thomas Way, John Garton & 

         Daniel Stewart. (NOTE: This John Hill came down from New 

         England with Dorchester Colony). 

 

         32.  Richard Hill will signed 2 June 1746, probated 3 April 

         1747...wife deceased. "Grace Farmer Hill who was Grace Farmer 

         & she had an annuity of 30 Pounds yearly from estate and 

         named in our marriage settlement at Bear Forest, otherwise 

         called Carriange, Shonienbegg, Mallow Parish in Cork Ireland 

         and said lands she owned which I bought of Robert Farmer and 

         his wife, Grace." This estate of his wife is entailed to 



         their children: 

              my eldest son Charles Hill 

              my 2nd son Robert F. Hill 

              my youngest son William Hovell Hill, not yet aged 21. 

         IF my sons die without heirs this estate of my late wife will 

         revert back to Grace, wife of Robert Farmer in Ireland.  (Did 

         not state relationship) 

              my nephew & namesake, Richard Guerrard not yet 21, son 

                 of John Guerrard 

              my kinsman, Jacob Motte. 

         Exs: My son, Charles Hill & brother in law, John Guerrard & 

         my kinsman Jacob Motte. Gives each a diamond ring, valuable 

         silver plate and lands in S.C.  by Wm.  Cattell....also my 

         hand painted Coat of Arms given to me by my dear father (not 

         named). /Wit. David Hext, John Dart & John Mckinzie. 

 

         32a. Likely sons of Richard Hill...Taken from Register Book 

         of St. Phillips Episcopal Church in Charleston. 

              Buried today, 27 Nov. 1729/30, Farmer Hill & John Hill, 

         twin children. 

 

         33.  Charles Hill (Perhaps son of #32) will signed 18 Nov 

         1750, probated 22 Nov. 1751, wife Sarah Hill, Ex., and to her 

         heirs (none named). "Bury me in our family vault at 

         Hillsborough." Executors: Charles Faucherand & Richard Gough. 

         Parts of the will are missing. Signed by Andrea. /wit. Jane 

         Stanyarne, B. Stanyarne & Ann Smith. (see #28 Sarah Smith). 

 

         34. John Hill of Padget Creek (Union Co. S.C.) Merchant. Will 

         signed 6 May 1754, probated 23 July 1754...Has a large 

         estate. Wife, Sarah Hill Ex. with her **Capt. Roger Padget & 

         he to collect my debts. ALL my children (none named) to share 

         equal and but a new rifle gun for eldest son (not named). He 

         speaks of the indenture & my wife will teach the apprentice 

         the trade. /wit. John Martin, Samuel Wilson & Conrad Burton. 

         **Likely he meant her father or her brother. 

 

         35.  Francis Hill of Charleston, a will signed 15 May 1783, 

         probated 8 Sept. 1783, wife Sarah Hill & see #28. No mention 

         of children. EX: Wm. Fair. /wit. James Lynah, L. Sobgar & 

         Joseph Lloyd. 

 

         36.  Duncan Hill of Charleston, a will signed 5 Dec. 1797, 

         probated 3 May 1799, wife Elizabeth Hill Ex...1 child a minor 

         son. Henry Duncan Hill & if my son die before reaching age 21 

         to: 1/5 to Ann Hill of Grenocl, 1/5 to Thomas Hill of 

         Bristol, 1/5  to Jennet & Wm. Reid of Genrock, children of my 

         sister. 1/5 to stepson, Samuel Butler, 1/5 to step daughter 

         Mary Ann Kerr. EXS:  with wife, James Hamilton & Charles P. 

         Butler. /wit. John Manson, Hester Armstrong & Thomas Hunter. 

                            CHARLESTON WILLS 

         37.  Mrs. Elizabeth Hill of Charleston, will signed 15 Jan. 

         1802, probated 7 May 1802, (widow of #36). 1/2 to my son 

         Samuel G. Butler; 1/2 to my grandchildren, Elizabeth Kerr, 



         Mary Ann Kerr, & Margaret Kerr. EXS: Charles P. Butler & 

         Thomas Bass. /wit. Joshua Leavitt, Elizabeth Buckles & 

         Elizabeth Courtney. (NOTE: She does not list her son, Henry 

         Duncan Hill). 

 

         38.  Henry Duncan Hill (son of #36 & 37) will signed 22 Jan. 

         1808, probated 29 March 1820. "Bury me in the Baptist Church 

         Yard beside my dear wife, who was Mary Blanford."...No 

         children. "What my father left to me was entailed and will go 

         as his will directed. My estate in three parts and one part 

         each to: Mary Butler, dau. of Charles P. Butler; Wm. Henry 

         Inglesby; Henrietta Kerr, dau. of Andrew Kerr. My friend, 

         Capt. Ebenezer McIntosh, I give my double barreled shot gun. 

         All my clothing and $ 80.00 each to my faithful slaves, 

         Samuel, Samuel (JR.) son of Samuel; Adam & Sue. EXS: Charles 

         Paxton Butler & Wm. Henry Inglesby. /wit. J.L. Snowden, Wm. 

         M. Scott & Henry Inglesby. 

 

         39.  Asa Hill of Orangeburg, will signed 18 July 1807, 

         probated 10 Nov. 1809. Wife Jane Hill Ex. "When my wife dies, 

         then my estate in equal shares to my brothers & sisters (none 

         named) Wit. A. Burckmeyer, A. Newton & Martyn Alken. 

 

         40.  MARY HILL (I could not determine whether single or 

         widow) will signed 20 June 1833, probated 24 Dec. 1842 (She 

         was a very wealthy woman) Estate to and no relationship 

         stated for any. ????? Susan Harstead and her minor daughter, 

         Caroline Elizabeth Service but if she dies, to Sarah & 

         Margaret Dew, daughters Edward Dew Sr. 

              Dr. Edward Dew Jr., M.D. of London and to have what his 

         father, Edward Dew Sr. holds in trust for me in London. 

              Sarah & Dew daughters of Edward Dew Sr. and they to have 

         all the residue of my estate after the legacies paid, and 

         MARY DEW. 

              Sarah Margaret Dew, dau. of Dyer Dew of London. 

              Thomas Hill Adams of London. 

              Amelia Bullin of Charleston. 

              Emma wife of Robert Stanley of Alabama. 

              Mary S. O'Neal, dau. of James O'Neal of Charleston. 

              Elizabeth, Mary & Jane Williamson of State of S.C. 

              Raymond la de Vege of August (Augusta?), Ga. 

              Paul Gareschi of N.Y. City. 

         Several thousand dollars are willed to each and then the 

         residue to Mary & Sarah Dew, daus. of Edward Dew Sr., of 

         London. 

             EXS: Wm. A. Caldwell & John Phillips 

             Wit. Andrew Moffitt, Wm. Calder & Stephen Thomas Jr. 

 

         41.  John Hill of Charleston, a will signed 17 Sept. 1856, 

         probated 6 Oct. 1856, wife Maria Louisa Hill Ex. with Charles 

         F. Westerlund...1 child, Anna Elizabeth Hill. Mentions 

         plantation near Charleston, lands at Meseph at Winfield at 

         Flushing, N.Y. /wit. Wm. Ham, Wm. Hislop & James Loffin. 

                           End of Charleston wills 



 

         42.  I have not found MOSES HILL nor his parents in the 

         Charleston files. Of course I worked only one day. I am 

         hoping to find him upon my return. 

 

         43.         ABBEVILLE COUNTY S.C. WILLS (HILLS) 

         John Hill will signed 15 Oct 1812 probated 16 Apr. 1813...Ex. 

         Thomas Wilson with wife Susannah Hill...children and no 

         surnames, some minors. 

         Samuel               William         John Jr. 

         Joseph               Bluford         Betsey * 

         Nancy                Sally           Susannah Jr. 

         Fanny                Rebecca         Polly 

         /wit Dudley Mabry, Samuel Rosamond & Samuel Hill 

         * Betsey was evidently wed for her portion entailed to heir 

         heirs. 

 

         44.  Samuel Hill (likely the wit to #43) will signed 5 Aug. 

         1821, probated 14 Nov. 1823...My dear wife (not named) to 

         have slave Dinah and her issue but entailed to her 

         children...If my wife wishes to follow her friends to live in 

         the western country, then she can sell Dinah & have the 

         money.   Children and no surnames. 

         William & his children        Thomas 

         Willis                        James * 

         Elizabeth Pollard. my daughter died without issue, I will 5 

         shillings to Marteal (likely Marshall) Pollard, her husband. 

         EXS: Archey Mayson & Samuel Hensley. /wit. Nathan Chaney, 

         Thomas H. Carson & Beaufort Chiles. 

         * James "My son James, I do not know whether he is dead or 

         alive since he removed to the western country, but if he is 

         alive, for love for him, I will him 5 shillings with what I 

         gave him when he departed to the west. 

 

         45. Bluford Hill (Son of #43) will signed 2 Aug. 1824, 

         probated 3 Jan 1825. Mother, Susannah Hill and rest equal to 

         following brothers & sisters. 

         Samuel Hill          John Hill & he to pay my bill to Dr. 

         Joseph Hill          Nash & what I owe at Smith's Store 

         Rebecca Hodges /wit. James Wilson & Samuel Hill. 

 

         46.  John Hill (Son of #43) will signed 3 Aug. 1824, probated 

         27 Aug. 1825. Mother Susanna Hill & brothers & sister. 

         Samuel Hill         Bluford Hill         Joseph Hill 

         Rebecca Hodges EXS: Reuben Hodges & Samuel Hill & Wm. Barmore 

         /wit. Richard Hodges, Wm. Hodges & Wm. Barmore. 

 

         47.  James Hill, will signed 6 Nov. 1829, probated 7 Dec. 

         1829..wife Katherine Hill Ex.....Children: 

         Jacob Hill          John Hill            Samuel Hill 

         Thomas Hill         James Hill Jr.       Caroline Hill 

         Daniel Hill         Henry H. Hill        Margaret Hill 

 

         I lived some years as a man & wife with Margaret Darroh until 



         she left me to take up with another man, as she did with me. 

         I had five children by her and to keep them from breaking my 

         will, I give each $ 1.00 

         Jesse Hill          Eleanor Hill             Susie Hill 

         Manos Hill          Malinda Hill 

         /wit. James A. Black, A.W.Lynch & Pickard Ashley or Richard 

         Ashley 

 

         48.  Joseph Hill will signed 13 June 1825, probated 20 Nov. 

         1825...wife is simply referred to as "My dear 

         wife."...children. 

         Wm. Hill            Wiley Hill    Helen w of Isaac Bunting 

         Isaac Mitchell Hill Milton Hill   Joseph Hill, a minor 

         Mentions lands by Simeon Chaney and the Mitchell lands..EXS. 

         with my sons to be son in law, Isaac Bunting, James Gillam. 

         /wit. Peter Cheatman, Wm. Fooshe & Wiley Caley. 

 

End of ADATA.004 

 

         THIS ANDREA COLLECTION CONTINUED ON NEXT DATA (ADATA.005). 

 

         ADATA.005       THE ANDREA COLLECTION ON THE HILL FAMILY 

                (updated with additional notes resulting from later 

                investigations) 

 

         NOTE OF EXPLANATION: Leonardo Andrea was a popular 

         genealogist in Columbia S.C.,  and did extensive genealogical 

         works on several families, including the Hill Family. 

 

         After his death, his sister Connie Andrea, made his works 

         available to the public for a small fee and gave rights to 

         copy etc... The complete ANDREA COLLECTION can be found in 

         the South Carolinian Library, in Columbia, S.C., located at 

         the UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH CAROLINA. This is a copy of what is 

         referred to as Hill No 1 and Hill No. 3. (Number 2 was not 

         obtained). 

 

         Since Mr. Andrea did his research, additional information has 

         been found and inserted by me. At no time have I made any 

         changes to Andrea's works but my insertions and comments are 

         in bold print 

                          Robert R. Hill Sr 

 

 

         Compiled by :                      Compiled for: 

         Leonardo Andrea 

         4204 DeVine Street                Mrs. R.W. Nicholson 

         Columbia, 50, S.C.                Parkview Hotel 

                                           Memphis, Tenn 

         (All Souls Day 1947) 

           Halloween Day              HILL 

 

         This data on the HILL Family has been compiled from the South 

         Carolina State Archives in Columbia, S.C. and is to be 



         supplemented by other work in the various county seats. Due 

         to the fact that many papers of mine fall into the hands of 

         professional genealogist, I have not added the books nor 

         pages from where this data was obtained. The client will be 

         furnished free these books and pages on any of the names 

         which are in her direct line. The names is sometimes spelled 

         as HILLS as well as HILL. 

 

         1.   MOSES HILL, the ancestor of Mrs. Nicholson, was born in 

         1758. He died in Fairfield County (S.C.) 7-1-1821...His wife 

         was SAVILLA RODEN, who was born in 1759 and died in Alabama, 

         23 July 1844...Their children : 

              Thomas Hill b. 1780 m. Jemima Woodward 

              James Hill  b. 1782 m. Susannah Glenn 

              Sarah Hill          m. Rev. John Pearson 

              Moses Berry Hill    m. Mary Glenn 

              George Washington Hill m. a Miss Moore 

              Harriet Hill m. Edward P. Mobley 

              Rebecca C. Hill m. Trezevant De Graffenreid 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT R. HILL: Later research shows the following 

         additional data for the above children: 

              a.  Thomas Hill b. 1780, m. ca 1805 to Jemima Woodward, 

              and died between January and May of 1824 in Fairfield 

              Co., S.C.  (my 3rd great grandfather). 

 

              b.  James Hill b. 21 Nov 1782, m. 10th June 1806 to 

              Susannah Glenn, d.  27 October 1854 in Union Co., S.C. 

 

              c.  Sarah Hill, b. ca. 1785. m. Rev. John Pearson, they 

              moved to Green Co., Ala ca. Apr. or May 1831. She d. 

              ca.  1831-1835. 

 

              d.  Littleton Hill, born ca. 1788-1790, never married, 

              said to have died in late teens (after 1810?) He is 

              named in remains of Moses Hill's bible.  Buried by his 

              father in Fairfield Co., S.C. (near Buckhead in Old 

              Yongue Cemetery in unmarked grave). 

 

              f.  Elizabeth Harrison Hill, b. 29th January 1793, m. 

              Stephen Terry on 4th July 1809, they moved to DeKalb 

              Co., Ga., she died there 3rd December 1838. 

 

              g.  Moses Berry Hill, b. 1795, m. Mary Bowles Glenn, d. 

              14th October 1824 in Chester Co., S.C. (Buried 

              at Carlisle S.C. in Union Co.) 

 

              h.  Harriet Windham Hill, b. 5th March 1802, m. ca. 

              1818-1819 to Edward Picket Mobley, (lived life entirely 

              in Fairfield Co.), d. on 30th April 1857. 

 

              i.  George Washington Hill, b. in September 1803, m. 

              Sarah A. Moore, moved to Green Co., Ala with widowed 

              mother and sister Rebecca, he d. there on 8th September 



              1857. 

 

              j.  Rebecca Carlisle Hill, b. 20th December 1807. m. 

              Dr. John Trezevant DeGraffenreid on 25th March 1828, 

              They moved to Green Co., Ala, along with her widowed 

              mother and brother George ca. 1831, she d. there on 

              11th August 1842. 

 

         This ends the notes by Robert R. Hill Sr and the data was a 

         result of years of investigation by Mrs. Jeannette B. 

         Christopher, of Carlisle, S.C. (descendent of James Hill) and 

         myself (descendent of Thomas Hill). 

 

         2.   South Carolina had four colonial counties, Craven, 

         Berkley, Colleton and Granville. These counties extended from 

         the coast up to the N.C. line. At the end of the Revolution, 

         these counties disappeared and new counties were formed in 

         their place, along with the districts of NINETY-SIX, CAMDEN, 

         CHERAW, GEORGETOWN or WINYAH, CHARLESTON, BEAUFORT and 

         ORANGEBURG which came into being about 1765. 

 

         3.   Up to 1745 land was allotted not by the number in the 

         family. From 1745 to 1775 the land grants were allotted by 

         the size of the family (Save for a few years when each person 

         got 50 acres and an additional 50 acres for each member) the 

         land was allotted 100 acres for a single man or woman over 

         the age of 16 or 15 if nearer to age 16. Then 50 acres 

         additional was allotted for a wife and 50 acres more for each 

         child under the age of 16. No married women, unless widows, 

         were allowed land during this time. Often a man took a grant 

         and when his family increased in size, more land was 

         allotted. Often a man had several grants in payment for 

         surveying. 

 

         After the Revolution, the land was not limited as between 

         1745-1775 

 

         4.   Arrived from Ireland on the snow "Gregg" and dated 23rd 

         Feb. 1768.  1. Thomas Hill age 50 and allotted 200 a of land 

                     2. Margaret Hill age 50, wife and no land 

                     3. William Hill age 7 and no land 

                     4. Samuel Hill, single son allotted 100 a, age 25 

                     5. Susannah Hill, age 16, single dau., allotted 

                        100 a. 

         5.   6th January 1773, arrived on the "Pennsylvania Farmer," 

         JAMES HILL, a single man and allotted 100 a of land. 

                              END OF HILL IMMIGRANTS 

 

         (#6 was not listed, and probably typing mistake) 

 

         7.        HILL LAND GRANTS BEFORE THE REVOLUTION 

            Abel,  100a in Craven Co., 2 April 1773. 

            Ambrose, 300a & 260a on Bohicket Creek in Berkley, 1 Feb. 

            1706. 



            Charles, 500a on Wasso Creek in Craven, 16 Mar. 1732. 

            Charles, 440a in Craven Co., 24th May 1743. 

            Charles, 450a on Broad River in Craven, 13 Mar. 1752 

                  (Fairfield). 

            Charles, 100a on Wateree River in Camden, 28th Nov. 1771. 

            Charles, 100a on Wateree River in Craven, 23 June 1774. 

            Dorcas, 203a on Bear Creek in Craven, (Fairfield) 26 July 

                  1774. 

            James, 200a on Jeffery Creek in Cheraw Dist. of Craven, 

                  23rd Jan. 1759. 

            John, 3 grants of 640a each on Ashepoo River in Berkley, 

                  28th June 1711. 

            John, 500a on the Ashepoo River 25 Feb. 1714/15. 

            John, 100a on Beaver Creek in Craven 25 June 1771. 

            John, 50a in Amelia Township of Berkley (Orangeburg) 12th 

                  July 1757. 

            John, 150a on lands between Stephens & Mt. Creek in 

                  Colleton 23 June 1774. 

 

            John, 350a in Granville Co., 12 May 1772. 

            Jonathan, 200a on Lynch Creek in Craven 4 June 1759 

                  (Cheraw Dist.) 

            Jonathan, 100a on Lynches River in Craven 7 May 

                  1767. 

            Jonathan, 250a on Wateree River in Craven 4 Oct. 1768 

                  (Likely Fairfield). 

            Joseph, 100a in Craven Co., 8th Feb. 1763. 

            Isaac, 2 grants of 100a each between Congaree & Wateree, 2 

                  May & 13 July 1770. 

            Mary, 600a in Craven County 6 Aug. 1735. 

            Mary, 200a on Stephens Creek in Colleton 23 June 1774. 

            Nathan, 250a on Wateree River in Craven 8 Aug. 1753. 

            Nicholas, 200a on Raburn Creek in Berkley, 25 Aug. 1769 

                  (Laurens Co.) 

            Nicholas, 250a on Rayburn Creek in Berkley 3 Apr. 1772. 

            Richard, 2 grants of 700a each on Black River in Craven, 

                  13 July 1737. 

            Richard, 250a in Berkley, 11 May 1699. 

            Richard, 100a on the Stono River 20 Apr. 1678. 

            Richard, 100a on the Broad River in Craven, 18 Jan. 1765. 

            Robert, 200a on the Wateree River in Craven, 21 June 1765. 

            Robert, 200a in Forks of Wateree & Congaree in Craven, 15 

                   Mar. 1771. 

            Robert, 210a  "    "     "      "    "      "    " 26 

                   Sept. 1772. 

            Robert, 150a in Craven Co., 2 Apr. 1773. 

            Samuel, 100a at McGinnis Old Field, 15th July 1768. 

                   (See # 4). 

            Susannah, 100a at Indian Fields Swamp in Berkley, 16 June 

                   1768, (See # 4). 

            Theophilus, 400a Forks of Congaree & Wateree, 

                   14 Aug. 1770. 

            Theophilus 400a (same as above) on 26 Sept. 1772. 

            Thomas, 200a at the Head of Wahoo Bay in Craven, 



                   22 Mar. 1769. 

            Thomas, 200a at the Four Holes (Swamp) in Orangeburg 

                   District of Berkley, 16 June 1768, (See # 4). 

            Thomas, 200a on Enoree River in Berkley, 24 Dec. 1772. 

            Thomas, 150a on Cedar Creek in Fairfield of Craven, 

                    18 May 1771. 

            Thomas, 150a (increase in family) Cedar Creek in Craven, 

                    9 Sept. 1774. 

            William, 3 grants at Bone Hill of 100a each, 30th 

                    Aug.1762, 12th Apr. 1764 & 25 June 1771. 

            William, 350a on Abbott Creek, 19th Aug. 1774. 

            William, 331a on Edisto River in Orange of Colleton, 

                     17th Mar. 1775. 

            William, 50a on Bear Creek of Broad River in Fairfield 

                     Co., 10th Feb. 1775. 

            William, 250a on Pleasant Meadow Swamp, 2 May 1770. 

            William, 1000a in Colleton County, 11 Feb. 1773. 

 

         8.   MEMORIAL TAX RETURNS.....The Crown levied a tax on all 

         lands granted. The present owner of the grant had to make the 

         return in Charleston.  Often a neighbor going to Charleston, 

         made the tax return...A woman, if she had wed since her 

         grant, made the return in her new name...The following Hill 

         returns were made and how many follows after the name as 6. 

         (meaning 6 returns?) 

           Charles 3                     James 

           Charles from Thomas Boone     John 2 from Lords Proprietors 

           Charles to Daniel Welshington John 4 

           Darcus                        Jonathan 3 

           Isaac 2                       Joseph 

           Mary 2                        Nicholas 2 

           Richard 3                     Robert 4 

           Samuel                        Susannah 

           Theophilus 2                  Thomas 6 

           Thomas from Richard Wilson    William 10 

 

         9. Thomas Hall of Iredell County, N.C. wed Elizabeth Sloan 

         and they had a daughter Margaret Hall, b. 1776 and married 

         JAMES HILL. 

                              HILL LANDS 

         10.  Memorial tax return made 7 January & 17 January 1732 by 

         MARY HILL, widow of JOHN HILL of the Parish of St. George in 

         Berkley County for 100 a of land sold by James Cantey with 

         dower by his wife, Elizabeth Cantey of the 100a grtd. to 

         James Cantey, who sold to John Hill, who by his will, gave 

         same to his widow, Mary Hill and said land being along the 

         town limit of Dorchester and also for 26a of land given to 

         Mary Hill by Daniel Stewart and his wife, Hannah Stewart in a 

         deed settlement. These two tracts returned by Mrs. Mary Hill 

         in Charleston 7 & 17 Jan. 1732. 

 

         11.   HILL LAND GRANTS AFTER THE REVOLUTION FROM INDEX II. 

         Abraham, 48a on Turkey Creek in Edgefield, 7 Dec. 1812. 

         Alexander, 536a on Bullock Creek in York, 1 Apr. 1793. 



         Alexander, 290a in York, 6 July 1812. 

         Amos, 910a in Darlington Co., 5 Oct. 1818. 

         Andrew, 829a in York, 2 May 1814. 

         Ann, 62a in Newberry, 7 Aug. 1797. 

         Benjamin, 66a and 323a at Long Canes in Abbeville, on the 

             7 & 18 Dec. 1807 

         Elijah Sr., 600a on Long Branch in Darlington, 5 Dec. 1814. 

         Elijah, 614a on Sparrow Swamp in Darlington, 5 Oct. 1818. 

         Ephiram, 319a in 96 District, 5 Apr. 1790. 

         Henry, 365a in Pendleton Dist., 2 Dec. 1799. 

         Henry, 554a on Keowee River in Pendleton, 1 Feb. 1802. 

         James, 141/2a on Cane Creek in Union Co., 1 Feb. 1819. 

         Jesse, 22a on Stephens Creek in Edgefield, 2 Dec. 1805. 

         John O., 270a on Enoree River, 7 Apr. 1794. 

         John, 122a and 50a in Edgefield, 6 Feb. 1791. 

         John, 81/2a in Edgefield on Turkey Creek, 2 May 1803. 

         John, 86a in Newberry County on Saluda River, 6 June 1803. 

         John, 263a in Orangeburg on Edisto River, 1 Apr. 1805. 

         John, 327a on Carpenter Creek in Pendleton Dist., 2 Dec. 1816 

         John Sr., 300a in Edgefield, 5 Sept. 1790. 

         John Jr., a 14a island called Pearson in Broad River, 1 Apr. 

              1805. 

         Jonas, 498a in Pendleton Dist., 2 Dec. 1799. 

         Joshua, 117 in Abbeville, 3 Apr. 1797. 

         Lazarus, 34a in Laurens Co., 5 Dec. 1803. 

         Michael, 500a in Cheraw Dist., 6 July 1795. 

         Nathaniel, 198a & 310a in Cheraw Dist., 5 July 1790. 

         Robert, 182a in York Co., 4 May 1807. 

         Samuel, 202a on Stevens Creek in Edgefield, 7 Mar. 1791. 

         Samuel, 493a on Steven Creek in Edgefield, 4 Mar. 1810. 

         Samuel, 18a on Savannah River, 4 Mar. 1810. 

         Samuel B., 25a on Rayburn Creek in Laurens or Greenville, 

             5th June 1820. 

         Solomon, 330a & 55a on edge of Spartenburg-Union, 4 June 1790 

         Solomon with James Burns & George Galbreath, 194a in 

             Spartenburg, 4 June 17?? 

         Solomon, 820a & 992a in York Co. on Allison Creek, 2 May 1814 

         Solomon with James Burns & Wm. Hopkins, 1000a in Spartenburg 

             on 4 June 1802. 

         Thomas, 490a in Abbeville on Saluda River, 2 June 1817. 

         Thomas, 472a      "        "     "     "   6 Apr. 1818. 

         Thomas P., 160a in Chester Co., 2 July 1821. 

         Uel, 120a in Abbeville, 4 Feb. 1793 & 470 at Long Canes on 

             4 Sept. 1797. 

         William, 476a at Long Canes in Abbeville, 3 July 1809. 

         William, 200a in Edgefield, 3 Dec. 1792 & 500 a in Edgefield, 

             1 Dec.  1800 

         William, 35a, 75a & 83a in Camden Dist, 1791-92-97. 

         William, 123a & 260a in Orangeburg, 6 Feb. 1792 & 2 Sept. 

             1793. 

         William Jr., 500a in Spartenburg, 6 May 1799. 

 

         12. HILL LAND GRANTS AFTER REVOLUTION IN INDEX III. 

 



         Ann, 100a in Orangeburg, 3 Dec. 1787. 

         Asaph, 114a in Camden Dist., 20 Jan. 1789. 

         Ephiram, 250a on Dutchman Creek in 96 Dist., 21 Jan.1785. 

         Ezekiel, 500a in Georgetown Dist., 24 Feb. 1800. 

         Henry, 100a on Enoree River in 96 Dist., 3 Apr. 1786. 

         Isaac, 50a on Shaw Creek in Edgefield of 96 Dist., 2 Oct. 

              1786. 

         Isaac, 100a in Georgetown Dist., 1 July 1793. 

         John, 200a in Beaufort Dist., 21 Jan. 1785. 

         John, 196a on Turkey Creek, a Revolutionary Bounty, 4th July 

               1785. 

         John, 640a on the Edisto River in Orangeburg, 5 June 1786. 

         John, 2 grants of 1000a each between Mountain & Rockey Creek, 

              5 May 1788 and 1 Jan. 1787. 

         Jonathan, 172a in Colleton Co., 1 July 1800. 

         Joshua, 2 grants in Edgefield on Stevens Creek, 542a 6 Nov. 

              1786 & 210 a. 

         Josiah, 520a & 12.7a on Fishing Creek in Camden Dist. 6 Feb & 

              6 Nov. 1786. 

         LEONARD, 82a on Little River in Camden Dist., 5 June 1786. 

         MARY, 315a on Little River in Camden Dist., 6 June 1786. 

         MOSES, 315a on Little River (in Camden Dist.) 6 June 1786. 

         Richard, 31a, 990a & 954a in Colleton Co., 1837 & 1840. 

         Robert, 200a on Colonels Creek in Camden Dist., 3 Apr. 1786. 

         Robert, 400a on Colt Creek in Camden Dist., 5 June 1786 (see 

               MOSES 6 June-). 

         Thomas, 710a in Richland Co. of Camden, 1 June 1787. 

         Thomas, 150a on Eden Creek in Camden Dist., 21 Jan. 1785. 

         Thomas, 100a in Camden Dist., 2 June 1788. 

         Uel, 133a on Bold Branch in 96 Dist., 3 Dec. 1787. 

         William, 640a on Clark River in 96 Dist., 5 Sept. 1785. 

         William, 200a at Penn Fork in 96 Dist., 3 Apr. 1786. 

         William, 251a at the Long Canes in 96 Dist., 3 July 1786. 

         William, 200a & 421a in Orangeburg Dist., 5 June 1786. 

         William, 362a, 252a, 80a, 639a & 1000a in Orangeburg Dist, 1 

              Jan. 1787 

         William, 107a on Saluda River in 96 Dist., 2 Oct. 1786. 

         William, 225a      "      "       "   "    1 Dec. 1788. 

         William, 2 grants of 205a each on Saluda River in 96 Dist., 

              2 Mar. 1789. 

         William, 257a in Charleston Dist., 6 Nov. 1797. 

         William, 536a in Marion Co., 6 May 1805. 

         William, in Colleton Co., 592a, 2 Apr. 1810 & 685a on 

              13 Feb. 1819. 

 

         13. HILL LAND PLATS AFTER THE REVOLUTION ON FILE IN S.C. 

         HISTORICAL COMMISSION. THE FIGURES AFTER EACH NAME INDICATES 

         HOW MANY PLATS. 

 

         Abraham        Adam           Alexander 2        Amos 3 

         Andrew         Ann 2          Asaph              Benjamin 2 

         Elijah 2       Ephiram 2      Henry 4            Henry H. 3 

         Isaac          James 6        Jesse              Jesse M. 

         Jonas          John 13        John O.            Joseph 



         Josiah 2       Joshua 3       Leonard            Lewis ET.Al. 

         Mary           Michael        Moses              Nathaniel 2 

         Robert 3       Samuel 3       Samuel B.          Solomon 5 

         Theophilus     Thomas 6       Thomas O.          Uel 

         William 23     William Jr.    William R.         Zachariah 

 

         14.  MARY HILL, a plat surveyed 20 Aug. 1784 by Alexander 

         Johnston upon an order from John Winn, dated 9 Aug. 1784 for 

         100a in Camden Dist., on branch waters of the Wateree River 

         and (bounded) by lands of Abraham Gibson, Meredith Taylor, 

         Jasper Rogers & Joseph Helms (The plat for additional 215a is 

         not on file...granted to Mary Hill 6 June 1786. 

 

         15.  LEONARD HILL, a plat surveyed by James Winn 23 Feb. 1785 

         upon an order from John Winn 29 Dec. 1784 for 82a of land in 

         Camden District (Fairfield) on the Little River and by lands 

         of William McClintock, vacant lands and lands of Leonard 

         Hill.* (Shows Leonard Hill already owned lands adjoining this 

         grant made 6 June 1786. 

 

         16.  MOSES HILL (See #1) a plat surveyed 16 Nov. 1785 by 

         James Dougherty upon an order by John Winn for 315a of land 

         on Little River in Camden Dist. (Fairfield) and by lands of 

         George Evans, John Lee, Mr. Shaw & Sealy DeLashmith. 

 

         (NOTE BY ANDREA) It seems to me that perhaps Leonard Hill and 

         Moses Hill may be brothers and that Mary Hill is of some 

         relationship and perhaps their widowed mother.  (Maybe a 

         sister). 

 

         17.  Some years ago in the Public Library in Jacksonville, 

         Fla., I saw & read some pages and chapters on the S.C. 

         Families of the HILLS OF NEW ENGLAND and perhaps published 

         before 1900. The book has more than 700 pages. I took some 

         notes from this book for Miss Fay Hill, The Inn, Ware Shoals, 

         S.C. This book had the complete lineage of Miss Hill back 

         into England. In the book, in the S.C. Chapters, was 

         mentioned both MOSES & LEONARD HILL. Perhaps in your library, 

         in Memphis, you may obtain a copy of this book and check to 

         see if your MOSES HILL has his line traced. If you write to 

         Miss Fay Hill, she may have some data and the notes I made 

         for her several years ago. 

 

         18.  The Index of names connected with the Revolution in the 

         S.C. Historical Commission....many of these names are for 

         several distinct persons by same name and as for William 

         Hill, I noted at least ten by that name. Often the names are 

         for supplies furnished or as witnesses to claims and not for 

         service to the Revolution...HILL NAMES INDEXED. 

 

         Abraham        Aaron       Adam         Burrell 

         Charles        Daniel      David        Dorcas 

         Edward         Ewell (Uel) George       Hannah 

         Isaac          James       John         Joseph 



         Josiah         Lodowick    Leonard      Mary 

         Mel (Uel)      Mrs. Milley MOSES        Phillip 

         Robert         Samuel      Theophilus   Thomas 

         Therresa       William     Jeremiah Hills 

 

         19.  SAMUEL HILL was listed on the Tory List of Col. Robert 

         Anderson. 

 

         20.  Mrs. Dorcas Hill was listed in the file of a William 

         Hill and likely as his widow. There was so much in the file 

         and so many different William Hills that I did not attempt to 

         find the data on Dorcas. 

 

         21.  MARY HILL and listed as MRS. MARY HILL, File # 3607 and 

         for 2 cows furnished for the troops of Gen. Thomas 

         Sumpter...enclosed was a receipt for these cows and signed by 

         Capt. Samuel Watson in Camden District on 8th Sept. 1780. The 

         other papers in this file are missing. 

 

         22.  MOSES HILL (See #1) File 3609 for 120 days service with 

         the Militia and duty at the Congarees and at the Four Holes 

         (Swamp)...sworn to by Moses Hill on 12 March 1784 before 

         Thomas Baker, J.P....Richard Winn of Winnsboro, Camden 

         District and Fairfield County, certifies as to this 

         service...5 Mar. 1784. Moses Hill sold this indent claim to 

         Richard Winn, who on 5th July 1785 sold the indent claim to 

         W.J.S.S. Cooke and witnessed by John Popplewell of Darlington 

         District and by James Falone. 

 

         23.  LEONARD HILL for service at the siege of Augusta and 

         also service at the Four Holes in Orange burg and also for 

         service under Gen. Andrew Pickens, who with Richard Winn 

         certifies this service of Leonard Hill...Sworn to 12 Mar. 

         1784 before Thomas Baker, J.P....Leonard Hill sold this 

         indent claim to Richard Winn and sale certified by John Winn, 

         J.P. 

 

         24.  HILL MEN WHO DREW REVOLUTIONARY PENSIONS AS RESIDENTS OF 

         S.C. OR FROM S.C. 

 

         Abraham Hill # S 7 015 

         John Hill (wife Savery Hill) # R 5 012 

         Joshua Hill # R 5 003 and from N.C. 

         Thomas Hill # S 31 131 

                               End of Revolutionary Pensions 

 

         25.  Miss Eliza Hill 12 Dec. 1838 married to Isaac McWhorter 

         and both of Pickens County...from files of the Pendleton 

         Messenger. 

 

         26. HILL ITEMS FROM FILES OF THE CAMDEN CHRONICLE 

         Miss Margaret Ann Hill, the daughter of Green Hill, was 

         recently married in Raleigh N.C., to William T. Bain of 

         Pittsburg.. Issue 21 Sept. 1833. 



 

         The Rev.  Isaac Smith died 20 July 1834 at the age of 76, at 

         the home of his son in law, the Rev.  W.C.  Hill in Monroe 

         Co., Ga. The Rev. Isaac Smith served in the Revolution under 

         Gen.  Washington and had for more than 30 years been a 

         resident of Camden District, S.C. He was a Methodist 

         minister. 

 

         27.  Sumter Co., S.C. Will of John W. Faris signed 1806 

         mentions a sister as Mrs. Sarah Hill. 

 

         28.  S.C. MARRIAGES BY SALLEY 

         Elizabeth, widow of Charles Hill. m. 27 Apr. 1747 to Rev. 

              Samuel Quincy 

         Charles Hill m. 10 Mar. 1746 to Sarah Smith 

         Mary Hill m. 22 Nov. 1742 to John Beswick 

         The Rev. Thomas Hill m. 7 July 1785 to Jane Wells 

         Mrs. Sarah Hill, widow of Francis Hill m. 15 Aug. 1785 to 

              William Semple. 

 

         29.  HILL ITEMS FROM HISTORY OF ORANGEBURG CO. DATA FROM 

         EPISCOPAL CHURCH REGISTER OF THE CHURCH OF REDEEMER. 

          a.    Miss Ann Hill wed Henry Young of the Forks of the 

                Edisto on 9th Apr.  1754. 

          b.    Miss Sarah Hill m. 14 Mar. 1754 to Daniel Lindar 

                (Linder) and wit by John Burdell, James Tilly & 

                Alexander McCord. 

 

         29a.  OTHER ITEMS FROM SAME HISTORY 

          a.    William Hill & Henry Felder were named Tax Collectors 

                for Saxe-Gotha District of Orangeburg 9 Sept.  1779. 

          b.    William Hill, Donald Bruce & Samuel Rowe were named as 

                members of the S.C. General Assembly from Orangeburg 

                District in December 1779. 

             SHERMAN DESTROYED ALL RECORDS OF ORANGEBURG AND HENCE NO 

             WILLS 

 

         30.  HILL ITEMS FROM HISTORY OF ANDERSON CO., S.C. 

              (PENDLETON) 

              a.  Joshua Hill with Joseph Woodall or Wadall, William 

                  Hammond, James Martin & Samuel Taylor were the first 

                  settlers on 6 & 20 Creek. 

              b.  Elizabeth Hill wed William Halbert and they had a 

                  daughter, Susannah H. Halbert, who wed in Virginia 

                  in 1786 to Peter Acker & came then to reside in old 

                  Pendleton District. 

         NOTE BY ANDREA: The two above, a. & b., were children of 

         William Hill of Surry County Virginia or N.C., probably N.C. 

 

              c.  Eunice Hill with Emily Divver, Anna Humpherys & 

                  Mamie Andrews were the flower girls in 1850 when the 

                  cornerstone of the Masonic Temple was laid.  Dr. 

                  R.T.  Divver was in charge of the ceremonies 

                  (where?) 



 

                        HILL COLONIAL WILLS OF CHARLESTON 

         31.  John Hill, of St George Parish, Dorchester, Berkley Co., 

         (see#10) a will signed 26 Sept. 1729 and no probate date. 

         "All to my wife, Mary Hill." No children named. lands by 

         Daniel Stewart, Gilson Clapp & Thomas Sabur....brother 

         Michael Hill. /wit. Thomas Waring, Thomas Way, John Garton & 

         Daniel Stewart. (NOTE: This John Hill came down from New 

         England with Dorchester Colony). 

 

         32.  Richard Hill will signed 2 June 1746, probated 3 April 

         1747...wife deceased. "Grace Farmer Hill who was Grace Farmer 

         & she had an annuity of 30 Pounds yearly from estate and 

         named in our marriage settlement at Bear Forest, otherwise 

         called Carriange, Shonienbegg, Mallow Parish in Cork Ireland 

         and said lands she owned which I bought of Robert Farmer and 

         his wife, Grace." This estate of his wife is entailed to 

         their children: 

              my eldest son Charles Hill 

              my 2nd son Robert F. Hill 

              my youngest son William Hovell Hill, not yet aged 21. 

         IF my sons die without heirs this estate of my late wife will 

         revert back to Grace, wife of Robert Farmer in Ireland.  (Did 

         not state relationship) 

              my nephew & namesake, Richard Guerrard not yet 21, son 

                 of John Guerrard 

              my kinsman, Jacob Motte. 

         Exs: My son, Charles Hill & brother in law, John Guerrard & 

         my kinsman Jacob Motte. Gives each a diamond ring, valuable 

         silver plate and lands in S.C.  by Wm.  Cattell....also my 

         hand painted Coat of Arms given to me by my dear father (not 

         named). /Wit. David Hext, John Dart & John Mckinzie. 

 

         32a. Likely sons of Richard Hill...Taken from Register Book 

         of St. Phillips Episcopal Church in Charleston. 

              Buried today, 27 Nov. 1729/30, Farmer Hill & John Hill, 

         twin children. 

 

         33.  Charles Hill (Perhaps son of #32) will signed 18 Nov 

         1750, probated 22 Nov. 1751, wife Sarah Hill, Ex., and to her 

         heirs (none named). "Bury me in our family vault at 

         Hillsborough." Executors: Charles Faucherand & Richard Gough. 

         Parts of the will are missing. Signed by Andrea. /wit. Jane 

         Stanyarne, B. Stanyarne & Ann Smith. (see #28 Sarah Smith). 

 

         34. John Hill of Padget Creek (Union Co. S.C.) Merchant. Will 

         signed 6 May 1754, probated 23 July 1754...Has a large 

         estate. Wife, Sarah Hill Ex. with her **Capt. Roger Padget & 

         he to collect my debts. ALL my children (none named) to share 

         equal and but a new rifle gun for eldest son (not named). He 

         speaks of the indenture & my wife will teach the apprentice 

         the trade. /wit. John Martin, Samuel Wilson & Conrad Burton. 

         **Likely he meant her father or her brother. 

 



         35.  Francis Hill of Charleston, a will signed 15 May 1783, 

         probated 8 Sept. 1783, wife Sarah Hill & see #28. No mention 

         of children. EX: Wm. Fair. /wit. James Lynah, L. Sobgar & 

         Joseph Lloyd. 

 

         36.  Duncan Hill of Charleston, a will signed 5 Dec. 1797, 

         probated 3 May 1799, wife Elizabeth Hill Ex...1 child a minor 

         son. Henry Duncan Hill & if my son die before reaching age 21 

         to: 1/5 to Ann Hill of Grenocl, 1/5 to Thomas Hill of 

         Bristol, 1/5  to Jennet & Wm. Reid of Genrock, children of my 

         sister. 1/5 to stepson, Samuel Butler, 1/5 to step daughter 

         Mary Ann Kerr. EXS:  with wife, James Hamilton & Charles P. 

         Butler. /wit. John Manson, Hester Armstrong & Thomas Hunter. 

 

                            CHARLESTON WILLS 

         37.  Mrs. Elizabeth Hill of Charleston, will signed 15 Jan. 

         1802, probated 7 May 1802, (widow of #36). 1/2 to my son 

         Samuel G. Butler; 1/2 to my grandchildren, Elizabeth Kerr, 

         Mary Ann Kerr, & Margaret Kerr. EXS: Charles P. Butler & 

         Thomas Bass. /wit. Joshua Leavitt, Elizabeth Buckles & 

         Elizabeth Courtney. (NOTE: She does not list her son, Henry 

         Duncan Hill). 

 

         38.  Henry Duncan Hill (son of #36 & 37) will signed 22 Jan. 

         1808, probated 29 March 1820. "Bury me in the Baptist Church 

         Yard beside my dear wife, who was Mary Blanford."...No 

         children. "What my father left to me was entailed and will go 

         as his will directed. My estate in three parts and one part 

         each to: Mary Butler, dau. of Charles P. Butler; Wm. Henry 

         Inglesby; Henrietta Kerr, dau. of Andrew Kerr. My friend, 

         Capt. Ebenezer McIntosh, I give my double barreled shot gun. 

         All my clothing and $ 80.00 each to my faithful slaves, 

         Samuel, Samuel (JR.) son of Samuel; Adam & Sue. EXS: Charles 

         Paxton Butler & Wm. Henry Inglesby. /wit. J.L. Snowden, Wm. 

         M. Scott & Henry Inglesby. 

 

         39.  Asa Hill of Orangeburg, will signed 18 July 1807, 

         probated 10 Nov. 1809. Wife Jane Hill Ex. "When my wife dies, 

         then my estate in equal shares to my brothers & sisters (none 

         named) Wit. A. Burckmeyer, A. Newton & Martyn Alken. 

 

         40.  MARY HILL (I could not determine whether single or 

         widow) will signed 20 June 1833, probated 24 Dec. 1842 (She 

         was a very wealthy woman) Estate to and no relationship 

         stated for any. ????? Susan Harstead and her minor daughter, 

         Caroline Elizabeth Service but if she dies, to Sarah & 

         Margaret Dew, daughters Edward Dew Sr. 

              Dr. Edward Dew Jr., M.D. of London and to have what his 

         father, Edward Dew Sr. holds in trust for me in London. 

              Sarah & Dew daughters of Edward Dew Sr. and they to have 

         all the residue of my estate after the legacies paid, and 

         MARY DEW. 

              Sarah Margaret Dew, dau. of Dyer Dew of London. 

              Thomas Hill Adams of London. 



              Amelia Bullin of Charleston. 

              Emma wife of Robert Stanley of Alabama. 

              Mary S. O'Neal, dau. of James O'Neal of Charleston. 

              Elizabeth, Mary & Jane Williamson of State of S.C. 

              Raymond la de Vege of August (Augusta?), Ga. 

              Paul Gareschi of N.Y. City. 

         Several thousand dollars are willed to each and then the 

         residue to Mary & Sarah Dew, daus. of Edward Dew Sr., of 

         London. 

             EXS: Wm. A. Caldwell & John Phillips 

             Wit. Andrew Moffitt, Wm. Calder & Stephen Thomas Jr. 

 

         41.  John Hill of Charleston, a will signed 17 Sept. 1856, 

         probated 6 Oct. 1856, wife Maria Louisa Hill Ex. with Charles 

         F. Westerlund...1 child, Anna Elizabeth Hill. Mentions 

         plantation near Charleston, lands at Meseph at Winfield at 

         Flushing, N.Y. /wit. Wm. Ham, Wm. Hislop & James Loffin. 

                           End of Charleston wills 

 

         42.  I have not found MOSES HILL nor his parents in the 

         Charleston files. Of course I worked only one day. I am 

         hoping to find him upon my return. 

 

         43.         ABBEVILLE COUNTY S.C. WILLS (HILLS) 

         John Hill will signed 15 Oct 1812 probated 16 Apr. 1813...Ex. 

         Thomas Wilson with wife Susannah Hill...children and no 

         surnames, some minors. 

         Samuel               William         John Jr. 

         Joseph               Bluford         Betsey * 

         Nancy                Sally           Susannah Jr. 

         Fanny                Rebecca         Polly 

         /wit Dudley Mabry, Samuel Rosamond & Samuel Hill 

         * Betsey was evidently wed for her portion entailed to heir 

         heirs. 

 

         44.  Samuel Hill (likely the wit to #43) will signed 5 Aug. 

         1821, probated 14 Nov. 1823...My dear wife (not named) to 

         have slave Dinah and her issue but entailed to her 

         children...If my wife wishes to follow her friends to live in 

         the western country, then she can sell Dinah & have the 

         money.   Children and no surnames. 

         William & his children        Thomas 

         Willis                        James * 

 

         Elizabeth Pollard, my daughter died without issue, I will 5 

         shillings to Marteal (likely Marshall) Pollard, her husband. 

         EXS: Archey Mayson & Samuel Hensley. /wit. Nathan Chaney, 

         Thomas H. Carson & Beaufort Chiles. 

 

         * James "My son James, I do not know whether he is dead or 

         alive since he removed to the western country, but if he is 

         alive, for love for him, I will him 5 shillings with what I 

         gave him when he departed to the west. 

 



         45. Bluford Hill (Son of #43) will signed 2 Aug. 1824, 

         probated 3 Jan 1825. Mother, Susannah Hill and rest equal to 

         following brothers & sisters. 

         Samuel Hill          John Hill & he to pay my bill to Dr. 

         Joseph Hill          Nash & what I owe at Smith's Store 

         Rebecca Hodges /wit. James Wilson & Samuel Hill. 

 

         46.  John Hill (Son of #43) will signed 3 Aug. 1824, probated 

         27 Aug. 1825. Mother Susanna Hill & brothers & sister. 

         Samuel Hill         Bluford Hill         Joseph Hill 

         Rebecca Hodges EXS: Reuben Hodges & Samuel Hill & Wm. Barmore 

         /wit. Richard Hodges, Wm. Hodges & Wm. Barmore. 

 

         47.  James Hill, will signed 6 Nov. 1829, probated 7 Dec. 

         1829..wife Katherine Hill Ex.....Children: 

         Jacob Hill          John Hill            Samuel Hill 

         Thomas Hill         James Hill Jr.       Caroline Hill 

         Daniel Hill         Henry H. Hill        Margaret Hill 

 

         I lived some years as a man & wife with Margaret Darroh until 

         she left me to take up with another man, as she did with me. 

         I had five children by her and to keep them from breaking my 

         will, I give each $ 1.00 

         Jesse Hill          Eleanor Hill             Susie Hill 

         Manos Hill          Malinda Hill 

         /wit. James A. Black, A.W.Lynch & Pickard Ashley or Richard 

         Ashley 

 

         48.  Joseph Hill will signed 13 June 1825, probated 20 Nov. 

         1825...wife is simply referred to as "My dear wife." 

         children: 

         Wm. Hill            Wiley Hill    Helen w of Isaac Bunting 

         Isaac Mitchell Hill Milton Hill   Joseph Hill, a minor 

 

         Mentions lands by Simeon Chaney and the Mitchell lands..EXS. 

         with my sons to be son in law, Isaac Bunting, James Gillam. 

         /wit. Peter Cheatman, Wm. Fooshe & Wiley Caley. 

 

         THIS ANDREA COLLECTION CONTINUED ON NEXT ADATA 006. 

End of ADATA.005 

 

         ADATA.006     PART 2 OF ANDREA COLLECTION (CONTINUED FROM 

                           PART 1 IN ADATA.005) 

 

              CONTINUING ABBEVILLE COUNTY (S.C.) WILLS OF HILLS 

 

         49.  Andrew Paul Hill Sr., will signed 8 Oct. 1822, probated 

         5 Feb. 1825...No wife is listed. Equal among my six children 

         & but five named to have a slave. George Paul Ex. 

         Eliza Wharton            Jenny Hill w of Hamilton Hill Ex. 

         William Pressly Paul     Andrew Paul Jr. 

         Ex. with the above to be John Hearst Jr. /wit. A.G. Hamilton, 

         Hugh Wardlaw & James Wardlaw. 

 



         49a. The other child was Mary Ann Paul...In a receipt to 

         Hamilton Hill, Ex. of will of Andrew Paul Sr., signed 22 Dec. 

         1831 & signed by Mary Ann Paul, now wife of James Devlin, who 

         signs with her, for our interest in the estate of Andrew Paul 

         Sr., Estate of Andrew Paul Jr., who has since died with no 

         living issue...Signed by James Devlin and wife, Mary Ann 

         Devlin. 

 

         50.  Hamilton Hill, (son of # 52) will signed 4 May 1839, 

         probated 19 May 1839....my wife Peggy Hill. All of my 

         children to share equal. 

 

         My children by my first wife (Jenny Paul as in #49) are to 

         have  the slaves entailed to them by their grandfather Paul. 

         The other children by my last wife, Peggy, are minors and are 

         to be educated from my estate as were the children of my 

         first wife. (No children named). EX: Samuel L. Hill /wit. 

         John H. Armstrong, C.J. Cannon & H. Hill. 

 

         51.  UEL HILL, will signed  22 Aug. 1832, probated 3 Nov. 

         1832...My deceased wife is spoken of but not by name...one 

         child listed, Elizabeth, wife of James Hughes. My 

         grandchildren and named as: Ann, wife of Willis Palmer; 

         Catherine, wife of Singleton Hughes; Julie, wife of W.G. 

         Williams; Thomas Hughes; James Hughes Jr; & Pamela Hughes. 

 

         Nephew, William P. Hill Ex. with my brother, Joshua Hill & 

         Abner Perrin. I am guardian to my two nieces, children of 

         Alsa Hartsfield: Miss Sarah Ann Hartsfield & Miss Miriam 

         Hartsfield. /wit. Jacob B. Britt, R.W. Corley & A.W. 

         McCraven. UEL HILL WAS IN REVOLUTION AND NOTE HIS LAND 

         GRANTS. 

 

         52.  Benjamin Hill, will signed 18 July 1838, probated 14 

         June 1839...Bury me by my deceased wife (not named) 

         ...children: Charity Fulton; Elizabeth Manty; Christianna 

         Davis; Hamilton Hill Ex. & same as #50; Richard Hill; Samuel 

         L. Hill & see # 50; Francis Hill; Lucretia Hill.  Grandson: 

         Richard B. Fulton /wit. John H. Armstrong, Frederick S. 

         Lucius & Samuel L. Hill. 

 

         53.  Richard Hill, will signed 19 Jan. 1841, no probate date 

         given, wife: Sarah J. Hill Ex. with James Thompson. ALL MY 

         CHILDREN (not named) are to share equal. My minor son, Andrew 

         M. Hill, to have same education from my estate as the other 

         children had. /wit. H.H. Penny, Andrew Monroe & Blassinghame 

         Hodges. 

              End of Abbeville Wills but other wills follow. 

 

         54.  Abel Hill, of Pendelton County, a will signed 18 July 

         1799, probated 14 March 1803. Wife Elizabeth Hill Ex. with my 

         son Reuben Hill. Son James Hill to have the home place. All 

         my living SONS and all my living DAUGHTERS are to share equal 

         (none are named) /wit. Thomas Cureton, Mary Cureton & Rachel 



         Harkins. 

 

         See data on Anderson in # 30 

 

         55.  George Hill, of Pendleton District & Pickens County, 

         will signed 13 May 1834, probated 23 July 1834, no wife 

         listed.  Children: Lewis Hill; Asaph Hill; Melinda Hendrix; 

         Rachel Hill. The above given special legacies. ALL my sons 

         and daughters are to share equal after these have their 

         special legacy..son Lewis to have the land got of William 

         Reid being the John Yager original grant...Melinda Hendrix to 

         have a slave woman...Rachel to have my home place, being the 

         original grant to Dominico Holland...Asaph not to have to pay 

         the $ 300 advanced to him. 

         EX: My son in law, Moses Hendricks. /Wit. Susan Huff, Wilson 

         Lesley, Rosewell Hill & C. Packard. 

 

         56. Samuel B. Hill, of Greenville, will signed 23 Apr. 1845, 

         probated 28 Aug. 1846. Wife Letecia Hill & my three children: 

         Charles I. Hill Ex. with John L. Westmoreland; Mary Ann L. 

         Hill; James B. Hill.  Mention is made of lands by Duncan land 

         and land bought of James McCreary. /Wit. E. McHugh, John 

         Baldwin & Simeon Ranson Westmoreland. 

 

         Hill data from Landrum's History of Spartenburg County 

 

         57.  Leonard Hill, with other relatives came from New England 

         to Charleston and hired conveyances and drove up state to the 

         Tyger River, about 1817, where they built the HILL COTTON 

         FACTORY....With Leonard Hill was George Hill, William B. 

         Shelton, John Clark, William Bates, John Weaver and James 

         Edward Henry.   In 1820, William Sheldon sold his interest in 

         the mill and removed to Mass. GEORGE HILL sold his interest 

         in 1825 and removed to Rhode Island.  In 1830 John Clark (he 

         wed a Hill) sold his interest to Leonard Hill.  When Leonard 

         Hill died, the mill went to his four oldest sons: James Hill, 

         Albert Hill, Whipple Hill & Leonard Hill Jr.  Whipple Hill 

         sold his interest to his brothers, James & Albert Hill.  The 

         mill is at Enoree, S.C. 

 

         57a. Samuel F. Hill, in a letter dated 21 Aug. 1874 from 

         Carrolton, Pickens County Alabama, written to Miss Elizabeth 

         Wright, he tells of the churches in 1838 in Spartenburg 

         County. He refers to: John Watts; Samuel Armstrong; John G. 

         Landrum; Joseph Moore; John Walker; David W. Moore & Joseph 

         Michael. 

 

         58.  Leonard Hill Sr., will in Spartenburg, signed 20 Mar. 

         1839, probated 5 Oct. 1840, wife Harriet Hill...In the will 

         he gives birth dates of all his children who are then alive. 

         The dead children are not named but he provides for 

         tombstones to be placed to the graves of all my children now 

         dead. James L. Hill Ex., b. 15 May 1815; Albert Hill Ex., b. 

         22 Oct. 1820; Leonard Hill Jr., b. 9 Mar. 1825; Lucena Hill, 



         b. 20 May 1829; Mrs. Almira Morgan, b. 22 Feb. 1819; Whipple 

         Hill, b. 20 Feb. 1822; Orilla Hill, b. 14 June 1827; Levi 

         Hill, b. 22 Sept. 1832.  Thomas Young Ex. with sons. /Wit. 

         Thomas Young, Russell Briggs, Antoine Becco & James I. 

         Simmons. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: I believe his wife was Harriet LaPham, 

         even though there seems to be some confliction on the dates 

         of his birth and death.  See Leonard Hill on page 35 

 

         The Hill Book gives full details of all these children and of 

         a MOSES HILL, but I do not know whether the MOSES #1 or 

         not...The handsome old HILL house and large family graveyard 

         is still standing at Enoree, S.C. (COMMENTS BY ROBERT R. 

         HILL...Could this possibly be the Leonard & Moses Hill that 

         Mr. Andrea read about in the Jacksonville Library, in the 

         book HILLS OF NEW ENGLAND)? 

 

         (NOTE BY ROBERT HILL: No, it is not the Leonard Hill, who was 

         associated with Moses Hill.  That Leonard Hill moved to Clark 

         County Kentucky and died there ca.1825-27). 

 

         59. From a sketch of the Brockman Family I recalled this data 

         on William Allison Hill, a grandson of Leonard HILL, #58... 

         William Allison Hill m. Nancy Ann Billings, a daughter of 

         Frances Brockman Cannon and her husband, Rutherford 

         Billings... 

 

         59a.  ISSUE OF WILLIAM ALLISON HILL and wife, Nancy Ann 

         Billings Hill....Charles Chicester Hill 1866-1908; Harrison 

         Hillard Hill m. Mattie Gilreath Roberts & family in Greenwood 

         Co., S.C.; Infant son who died after birth; Bernard 

         Breckenridge Hill m. 1. Levica Rebecca Cooper and m. 2 to 

         Sara Knight; Alice Adalaide Hill m. J. Russell Miller; 

         Merrimon Montgomery Hill m. Fanny Jane Gordon; deTreville 

         Dilling Hill m. Alice Hiffman; Eva Eudora Hill m. Julius 

         Dewitt Burgess; Fama (Fay) Fostilla Hill, teacher at Ware 

         Shoals, S.C. 

 

                           LAURENS COUNTY S.C. WILLS 

         60.  Thomas Hill, will signed 30 Nov. 1820, probated 14 Dec. 

         1820, wife listed as Polly Hill and to have what is due her 

         from Estate of Robert Pollard & the lands from Josiah Cason. 

         He names no children but what is due my wife at her death to 

         go in equal portions to: William Norsery Leek; William 

         Atwood; Robert Hill; James Hill Ex. /Wit. Marshall Pollard & 

         see #44, Daniel Jones & Josiah Cason. 

 

         61.  Mrs. Ellender Hill, will signed 30 Aug. 1828, probated 2 

         Nov. 1829. Children: William Hendricks Hill; David Hill; 

         Stephen Hill; Catherine Hill; Isaac Hill; Mary Burns & see 

         Burns in #11; Benjamin Hill Ex., Plantation on Enoree River. 

         Grandchildren: Mrs. Mary Turner, dau. of David Hill and wife 

         Anna; Anna Childson-dau. of son Isaac Hill; Jacob William & 



         Elizabeth Eveline Hill, children of Benjamin & Susey Hill. 

         /Wit.  John F. Kern, Alfred A. Kern & Jno. L. Kennedy. 

 

         62.  Silas Hill, will signed 9 June 1845, probated 18 Dec. 

         1845, wife Rebecca Hill Ex...All my children & minors to 

         share equal (none named).  EXS: with my wife will be my 

         brothers, Thomas Hill Ex., James Hill Ex/, John Hill Ex/. 

         /Wit.  John G. Klink, Samuel R.  Todd, John D. Wright. 

 

         63.  David Hill of Newberry County, (Son of # 61) will signed 

         4 Sept. 1834, probated 24 Oct. 1834. Wife deceased and bury 

         me beside her (Name was Anna. See # 61). Children: Polly 

         Turner & see #61; Rachel Hill, minor; King David Hill; Henry 

         Hill, not yet 21; Nancy Hill, minor; and John Hill. /Wit. 

         Joseph Duncan, James Roberts & Samuel Vance. 

 

         64.  Joseph Hill, of Newberry, will signed 30 Sept. 1839, 

         probated 9 Oct. 1839. No wife...four children: Elizabeth 

         Prewitt; Elijah Hill Ex.; Rachel Fowler Ridglet Valentine; 

         Nathan Hill. /Wit. William Whitmire, John C.C. Enlow & John 

         N. Henderson. 

 

         65.  John R. Hill, a marriage settlement dated 14 Feb. 1867 

         with Temperance Reeves & filed in Columbia. 

 

         66.  John Hill, of Middlesex England, dated 1 Jan. 1795, a 

         Power of Attorney to Samuel Scottowe for my dealings with 

         Humphery Courtney, James Thomas & William Walter in the 

         Province of S.C.  (See Courtney in # 37). 

 

                             WILLS (RELATING TO HILLS) 

                        FROM CROSIER (MS) MISC? ON BAPTIST 

 

         67.  The Raburn Creek Baptist Church in Laurens County was 

         organized by 1772...Members of this church were: John Hill 

         and Nicholas Hill, who had a plantation on Reedy River, a 

         grant in 1787. 

 

         68.  The Reverend James Hill, a Baptist minister, was 

         residing in Newberry County in 1790 and was pastor of the 

         Cloud Creek Baptist Church in Edgefield (now Saluda Co.). In 

         1787 the Rev. James Hill, David Lilly & John Rowland were at 

         a Presbytery of the Bethel Baptist Church, which was located 

         between the Tyger and Enoree Rivers. 

 

         69.  W. Hill with Thomas Berry were delegates from the Mill 

         Creek Baptist Church, in the Saluda Association in 1796. 

 

         70.  In the great hurricane in Charleston on 19th Sept. 1752, 

         a boat was blown from the harbor and landed near the First 

         Baptist Church and by the house of Dick Hill. 

 

         71.  James Hill was a delegate to the Bethel Association in 

         1799 from the Bethabara Baptist Church, which was located on 



         the banks of the Salude River. The Rev. John Waller was 

         pastor that year. 

 

                              RICHLAND COUNTY S.C. 

         72.  From Green's History of Richland County, he states: 

         Isaac Hill had 100 acres, which he took 4 Feb. 1770 and by 

         the lands of Henry Fox. 

 

         Robert Hills had 200a, which he took 13 July 1764 by John 

         Simmons. 

 

         Theophilus Hill had 200a, which he took 7 Feb. 1770, by the 

         lands of John Simmons, Robert Hill, Strother, Hopkins and 

         Singleton lands. 

 

         73.  Robert Hills, a will signed 15 Apr. 1795, probated 6 

         July 1795 in Richland County. No wife is listed. Children: 

         1/3 to Robert Hills, a minor; 1/3 to Jean Hills, a minor; 1/3 

         to James Raley, minor son of Ann Raley now living with me. 

         Special legacies to these children: Andrew Hills; John Hills; 

         Elizabeth Ross; & Mary Hills.  Robert Knox is to account for 

         the slaves lent to him (perhaps son in law) EXS: Joel Adams, 

         Daniel O'Quinn & James Denton. /Wit. William Meyer, Silas 

         Campbell & John Landenham. 

 

                             EDGEFIELD COUNTY 

         74.  From Chapman's History of Edgefield County: "Enoch 

         Grigsby wed Susan Butler and they had a daughter (not named) 

         who wed Lod. Hill, who lived at Richardsonville. Lodowick 

         Hill was a soldier in the Revolution. He had a son 

         Theophilus Hill and a son Henry Hill.  One of the daughters 

         (not named) of Lodowick Hill married Capt. Bryan Dean and she 

         had two children, Capt. A.B. Dean and Theophilus Dean.  Henry 

         Hill, the son, had a son, Dr. Lovick Hill or Lovett Hill. 

 

         75.  Theophilus Hill, the son of Lodowick Hill, had several 

         sons and they were: Rhyden Grigsby Hill; Dr. Walter Hill of 

         Edgefield Court House; Benjamin Hill; Henry Hill of Johnston 

         S.C.; James R. Hill; Thomas Hill, killed in Battle while 

         serving in the CSA. 

         NOTE: Reference Page 628 of "OLD ALBEMARLE AND ITS ABSENTEE 

         LANDLORDS" by Worth S. Ray (under # 324, the genealogy of 

         John Thomas & His Family) shows that John Thomas married 

         Christina Roberts and among their children was a daughter 

         TERESA THOMAS, who married THEOPHILUS HILL. This THEOPHILUS 

         HILL & Thersa Thomas were the parents of the above Lodowick 

         Hill.  Theophilus Hill (m. Thersa Thomas) was son of Abraham 

         Hill of Chowan Co., N.C. and his wife Judith (Hunter?). 

         Abraham Hill was son of Henry Hill (b.  Nansemond Co., Va. 

         and wife Mary).  This information very obvious in my 

         researching the William Thomas Family of Virginia and by 

         putting together the Hill Genealogy that was established by 

         others. 

 



 

                             EDGEFIELD COUNTY WILLS 

         76.  Mrs. Sophia Hiles (Indexed as Hill, but I doubt whether 

         she was a widow Hill) widow, will signed 30 Apr. 1788, 

         probated 15 July 1788, Children: John & George, children of 

         William Shenholser Ex.; John & George, children of John 

         Stare, my son in law, Ex.; Mary Meyer Hovler. EXS: John 

         Stare, William Shenholser & John Sturengger. /Wit. Isaac 

         Ardis, Christianna Tobler. 

 

         77.  Dannett Hill (son of #76) a will signed 15 July 1807, 

         probated 7 Aug. 1807. Wife was Martha Hill, Ex. Children were 

         all minors: Dorcas Hill; Lethe Hill; William Hill; Samuel 

         Hill.  The slaves entailed from my mother, Dorcas Hill, are 

         mentioned. /Wit. Samuel Mays, Hazel Culbreath & William Mays. 

         EXS: With my wife, my brother Samuel Mays with Elisha Brooks. 

 

         (NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: Dannett Hill may be son of Thomas Hill 

         of Cumberland County Virginia.  The name Dennett was named in 

         his father's Virginia Will). 

 

         78.  Abney Mays in a will signed in 1804 with wife Elizabeth 

         Mays, calls Dannit Hill "my brother," who with my brother 

         Samuel Mays and my son William Abney will act as executors. 

         children: William Mays; Gardiner Mays; James Hill Mays; 

         Tabitha Mays; Sally Mays; Meda Mays, a son; Maddox Mays; John 

         Mays; Abney Mays; Elizabeth Whitley**.  /Wit. were Dannett 

         Hill, Dorcas Hill & Jesse Mays. 

 

         (NOTE: Abney Mays calls Dannit (Dannett) HIll brother and he 

         was probably a brother in law to Dannett Hill...in these 

         times a brother in law was often referred to as just simply 

         "brother." 

 

         Reference to **: Mrs.  Elizabeth Whitley, in a later will, 

         named one child as Whitley as Stephen Cash Whitley and my 

         children by my first husband, Abney Mays as: Meda Mys; Nancy 

         Mays; Maddox Mays; John Mays; & Abney Mays. 

 

         Evidently Elizabeth Mays was second wife of Abney Mays and 

         she also had a stepdaughter Elizabeth Mays, who also wed a 

         Whitley. 

 

         79.  John Hill Sr., a will signed 23 Aug. 1804, probated 7 

         Oct. 1807, wife Jeane Hill & she to have what is now occupied 

         by Nancy Stidham. All my children have gifts from me of 

         senior date and are not named. Grandsons: John Hill & William 

         Hill, sons of deceased son, John Hill. EXS: My sons, William 

         Hill, Frederick Hill & Travis Hill. /Wit. Burrell Ross, 

         Stephen Elmore & John Matthews. 

 

         (NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: Mr. Andrea had the word "INCORRECT" 

         typed at the end of this section but gave no explanation. I 

         believe he was correcting himself, regarding the fact that 



         he listed Dannett Hill as son of # 76 (Sophia Hiles when in 

         fact he was not but may be son of Thomas Hill of Cumberland 

         County Virginia.. 

 

         79a. John Hill Sr., a will signed 23 Aug. 1804, probated 7 

         Oct. 1804, wife JEANE HILL Ex., and to have the place now 

         occupied by Nancy Stidham. Children & no surnames for any: 

         John, Nancy, Thomas & Polly. /Wit. John Blocker Sr., William 

         Glenn & John Mitchell. 

 

         80.  John Hill, will signed 16 Oct. 1812, probated 4 Aug. 

         1813, no wife listed. "My children have from me gifts of a 

         senior date, which I confirm." Grandsons: John Hill, William 

         Hill, sons of John Hill, deceased. EXS: my sons, William, 

         Travis & Frederick Hill. /Wit. Burrell Ross, Stephen Elmore & 

         John Matthews. (NOTE: In other words, there were originally 

         four sons, but John Hill (Jr.?) died, leaving only William, 

         Travis and Frederick Hill as survivors. 

 

             EDGEFIELD COUNTY S.C. WILLS RELATING TO HILL FAMILIES 

 

         81.  Abel Hill, (likely kin to # 54) will signed 24 Aug. 

         1818, probated 13 Jan. 1819. My beloved wife (not named) Ex. 

         My estate between my dear children (not named) in equal 

         shares.  /Wit. E.L. Cratledge, William Hardy & Robert 

         Crawford. 

 

         81a  In will of Mrs. Mary Hill, a share is given to daughter 

         in law, Margaret Hill (Perhaps wife of Abel) and her nine 

         children (no surnames given).: Samuel, Priscilla, Naza, a 

         dau., John, Elizabeth, William, Mary, ABEL & Sarah. 

 

         82.  Mrs Mary Hill, widow of Samuel Hill. I suppose she 

         speaks of the Estate of Samuel Hill, my deceased (Did not 

         complete whether he was husband?) Will signed 22 Dec. 1822, 

         no probate date given. Children: Nancy Cox, Mary Loveless **, 

         Elizabeth Talley, Hulda Tompkins, Susannah Kilcrease, Visay 

         Jennungs, Sarah Blalock and Hamatta Hill. My son is deceased 

         (not named) and I will his share to his widow, Mrs. Margaret 

         Hill, for the nine children of my deceased son...My grandson, 

         ABEL HILL, is to have the slave I gave his father in addition 

         to his share. Grandchildren, being children of my deceased 

         son. Samuel, Naza, John, Mary, William, Sarah, Abel, 

         Priscilla & Elizabeth.    EXS: Charles Hammond & John Key 

         /Wit. Hillary M. Collins, Thomas Kilcrease * Willis 

         Kilcrease. 

 

         NOTE BY MR. ANDREA Reference to** (underlined) I was not sure 

         as to Loveless for WPA had it Sovnless & Soueness and as 

         Lovelefs and all spellings made by WPA. 

 

         83.  Jesse Hill, a will signed 13 July 1818, probated 4 Jan. 

         1821, wife is listed as Elizabeth Hill. Children: Susanna 

         Cossy or Casey **; William Hill; Sally Garrett; Joel Hill, 



         minor* & John Hill. 

 

         (Wife was second wife and evidently not mother of any of the 

         children). "My youngest son, Joel Hill, is to reside with his 

         stepmother and to heir the home plantation when she dies." 

         EX: Son in Law, Thomas Garrett. /Wit. Joshua Hill, James 

         Oliver & Jno. Simpkins. 

 

         Additional information found and added by Robert Hill Sr 

         Information & Abstract of Will of Jesse Hill #83...  (not 

         part of Andrea's work) Taken from Book "EAst Goes West," by 

         Alta Craft. (page 102) 

 

         Jesse Hill was born ca. 1759-1761, was son of the son of 

         William Hill Sr. of Surry Co., N.C. was born in Caroline Co., 

         Va.  His mother was Susannah Smither. 

 

         First wife of Jesse was named Mary, (maiden name unknown) but 

         they had a daughter Saley, who is named as Saley Garrett. 

 

         Mary Pittman, 2nd wife,  married Jesse Hill before 1794. 

         Their three sons were John Hill, William P. (Pittman) Hill 

         and Joel Hill, all named in the will. 

 

         Colonel John Hill, son of Jesse Hill & 2nd wife Mary Pittman, 

         was born in N.C.  between 1756 and 1763 (over 45 in 1810). He 

         died in Edgefield, South Carolina on 17 August 1820. 

 

         Col. John Hill had a son, Thomas Jefferson Hill, born 29 June 

         1802 in Edgefield, S.C., died near Maretta (sic), Cobb 

         County, GA., on 28 July 1873 and his second wife was 

         Elizabeth Weldch, born ca. 1812, Edgefield Co., S.C.  She 

         died on 20th August 1849.  They were married 16th February 

         1832 (DAR #434303-Helen (Hill) Warwick). 

 

                          Will of Jesse Hill 

 

         Will dated 13 July 1818 in Edgefield Co., S.C., proved 14 

         August 1820, recorded in Will Book C, #10. 

 

         I Jesse Hill...do make and ordain this my last Will and 

         testament 

 

         Item...I will that my wife, Elizabeth (third wife) ..have... 

         possession of all the premises where I now live during her 

         natural life or widowhood. 

 

         Item..I give unto my daughter, Susannah Cossy (mother was 

         Jesse's first wife, ? Mary),) a piece of land..(and two 

         slaves). 

 

         Item..I give to my daughter, Saley Garrett (mother was first 

         wife), all that plantation or tract of land whereon Thomas 

         Garrett now lives...and a Negro girl. 



 

         Item..I give unto my sons John and William, (mother was 

         second wife..Mary Pittman) have the land I now live after the 

         decease of my wife, and I wish him to make his home and take 

         up his residence with his step mother (underlining supplied) 

         during her life or until he becomes of age. 

 

         Also I give to my wife, Elizabeth (third wife) during her 

         life or widowhood." 

 

                          end of will 

 

         84.  Lodowick Hill (see #74) will signed 29 Nov. 1817, 

         probated 23 Dec. 1822, no wife is listed. Children: and not 

         named save three: My daughter Polly is to have the Negro man 

         I gave her when she wed. My daughter Tressa Lewis is also to 

         keep the Negro I gave her. My daughter Sarah is to have the 

         Negro man I gave her. My estate to go equal to all my 

         children (none named). EXS: my sons (not named) /Wit. 

         Theophilus Hill, Hugh Neal & Ranson Melton. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT HILL Sr: Wife of Lodowick Hill (# 84) was Susan 

         Grigsby). 

 

         85.  Theophilus Hill (son of #84 & see # 74a), wife Susan 

         Hill, will signed 10 Sept. 1852, probated 13 May 1853.  All 

         my sons and all my daughters (none named) to share equal.  My 

         son, Henry Hill already has $ 1500. EXS: My sons, Rhydon 

         Grigsby Hill and Lodowick Hill Jr. /Wit. James M. Richardson, 

         James C. Adams & Henry Hill. 

 

         86.  Joel D. Hill (Likely son of # 83) will signed 10 May 

         1848, probated 12 July 1848, Wife, Mary Hill, Children: John 

         D. Hill Ex; Mary Ann w. of Benjamin Hall Ex.; Sabra w. of 

         William H. Matthews Ex. The children (not named) of my first 

         wife, I do not give anything. /Wit. Elizabeth Hall, Charles 

         Hammond & Lucius L. Hall. 

 

         87. Aaron Hill, will signed 14 Jan. 1851, probated 3 Mar. 

         1851, no wife listed. EX: My friend Ransom Timmerman, estate 

         into 9 equal portions and 1/9th to each of my children: 

         Eleanor Burnon; Lewis Hill; Elizabeth (no surname given; 

         Sarah Huskey; William Hill; Levi Hill & James Hill. 

         A share to Oliver Perry Hill, Elizabeth Hill, Susannah Hill & 

         Sarah Hill, the children of my deceased son, Benjamin Hill. 

         /Wit. J. Shepard, A.L. Oxner & Jarriot Nobles. 

 

         NOTE BY ANDREA: In some McClendon work I did several years 

         ago, I recall some Hill data. I will add it now. These 

         McClendons came from N.C. to Sparrow Swamp in Darlington and 

         on to Richland-Kershaw (Counties) and were near Bear Creek, 

         along the Fairfield County line S.C. and on to Barnwell and 

         Edgefield in S.C. Eventually they went to Wilkes Co., Ga. 

         NOTE: Theophilus Hill listed in names in Darlington & 



         Richland & Edgefield in S.C. and again in Wilkes Co., Ga. 

 

         88. Abraham Hill, a will in Wilkes County Georgia, signed 25 

         Nov. 1790, proved 24 Nov. 1792, Wife Christian Hill, Children 

         and no surnames: Abraham Jr. Ex.; Noah; Thomas; Henry Ex.; 

         Wylie, a minor; Mary; Theophilus; Myles, a minor. Wives of my 

         sons in law (not named): Benjamin Blake; Henry Pope & Josiah 

         Blake. Grandchildren listed were: Mary Blake; Patesy Jordon; 

         Henry Blake; William Cocke; John Pope & Sarah Pope.  (See 

         notes at end ) 

 

         89.  Jacob McCleandon, will signed 9 Mar. 1799, probated 9 

         July 1799, no wife listed. Children: Francis McCleandon; Amy, 

         wife of Theophilus Hill. 

 

         90.  Spring Court in Wilkes Co., Ga., in 1812, Henry Hill 

         (d. 1805) & Sarah Hill (d. 1812) were named the legal 

         guardians of the minor children of Theophilus Hill, deceased. 

         (son of #88 seemingly) and of Amy Hill (Daughter named in 

         # 89).  Children: Elizabeth Hill; Mary Hill; Harriet Hill; 

         Nancy Hill; Winnefred Hill; Greenberry R. Hill; & Patsey 

         Hill. 

 

         (NOTE BY ROBERT HILL...I believe this is the same Henry Hill 

         named as a son of Abraham Hill (#88) and the minor children 

         also belonged to Abraham Hill (#88).  Believe that Theophilus 

         Hill is his son too. 

 

         (NOTE: Written below, the above in handwriting (by whom?) was 

         "See Jasper Co., Ga. Probate of this Family. Henry, Sarah 

         were grandparents of children listed above." 

 

                     WILLS OF CHERAW DISTRICT S.C. 

 

         91.  The Old Cashway or Mt. Pleasant Baptist Church on the 

         Pee Dee River, was set off from the Welch Neck Church before 

         the Revolution. Some members were: John & Lucy Chamliss, John 

         Paget, Chamliss Hill, Jemima Hill & Jane Hill. 

 

         92.  James B. Hill of Malboro Co., will signed 2 Oct. 1830, 

         probated 9 Nov. 1820. All to my wife, Mary Elizabeth Hill and 

         she Ex. /Wit. William J. Forniss & Charles S. Strother. 

 

         93.  Benjamin Hill, of Darlington and on the Pee Dee (River), 

         will signed 8 Nov. 1794, probated 11 Nov. 1795, wife Ann Hill 

         & Ex. with Jonathan Bowell. Children: Priscilla Miles; Nancy 

         Hill; Theophilus Hill; Millie Hill; John Hill; Mary 

         Chestnut*; Elijah Hill; Elisha Hill; Nathaniel Hill; Joel 

         Hill & see # 86 & Rachel Hill. (NOTE: Reference to Mary 

         Chestnut  *, at the bottom of this section, written in hand 

         writing & with an arrow pointing to her name, was the name 

         Mary Clements).. 

 

         A foot note has Michael Hill added in, but his name is not in 



         the will and I was unable to determine why added unless as a 

         witness. /Wit. Joseph Chandler Jr & John Chandler. Note how 

         familiar some of these names are with Richland-Edgefield set 

         (of Hills). 

 

 

                        DARLINGTON COUNTY S.C. WILLS 

 

         94.  Elijah Hill Sr., on Sparrow Swamp and called "My father" 

         is mentioned in will of John Hill. 

 

         95.  John Hill, (son of # 94) will signed 4 Aug. 1847, 

         probated 3 Nov. 1848, mentions his plantation on Sparrow 

         Swamp in Darlington, where my father Elijah Hill Sr. lives, 

         and by lands of Ezekiel Hill. No wife is listed. Children: 

         James Hill; Memberence Hill, my son is dead and his share to 

         go to his widow, Anna Hill for his only child, Emily Salina 

         Hill; Elijah Hill Jr; & Levi Hill.  /Wit. James D. Sansbury, 

         James Sansbury & J.D. Sansbury. 

 

         96.  Amos Hill, of Sparrow Swamp, will signed 23 Sept. 1853, 

         probated 17 Oct. 1853, Wife simply referred to as my beloved 

         wife and not named. Children: Issiah (Isaac?) Hill; Elizabeth 

         Ann Sansbury; John Ellis Hill Ex.; William Thomas Hill; 

         Michael Record Hill Ex. & see as Ex. in # 95; Eliza Phillips; 

         Moty Rogers; Calvin Hill; Zaccheus Hill; James Hill; Comfort 

         Jones, deceased; Amos Hill Jr.; & Emily Adaline Jones. 

         (Perhaps Amos is brother of # 95). /Wit. Elias Phillips, 

         Martin Morris & J.E. Byrd. 

 

         97.  John Schaf or Schaif of Darlington & Sparrow Swamp, a 

         will signed 12 Dec. 1846, probated 15 Feb. 1849, wife Emmili 

         Schaif, Children: Choloe Hill; Zelpha Seymour; Mary Hill; 

         Riley Schaife; Ezekiel Schaff & Saram Morris. Grandchildren 

         named were: Sarah Oliver, John Riley & Morris & William 

         Seymore.  EXS: son Riley Scaife & son in law, William Morris. 

         /Wit. James Newberry, William Sanders & Robert Lawhorn. 

         I wonder if these two daughters, Choloe and Mary Hill are 

         wives of the John Hill (# 95 and the Amos Hill # 96)? 

 

           CAMDEN DISTRICT WILLS AND SEE RICHLAND COUNTY, # 72 & 73. 

 

         98.  YORK COUNTY IN CAMDEN DISTRICT, William Hill, will 

         signed 1 Jan. 1799, no probate date given, wife Elizabeth 

         Hill, Ex. with my brother Samuel Dinsmore (Perhaps brother in 

         law). Children: (and no surnames), William Jr., Ex.; Hugh; 

         Agnes, a minor; Elizabeth; & Keziah, a minor. 

         I appoint for my appraisers, John Sawn, Joseph Sawn & James 

         Carruthers. /Wit. John Porter, John Sawn & Joseph Sawn. 

 

         99.  William Hill, who lives between Biggers Ferry & the Hill 

         Iron Works, will signed 21 May 1814, probated 2 Jan. 1817, 

         wife Jane Hill, Children: Solomon Hill; Robert Hill; Andrew 

         Hill; William Hill Jr., "Somewhere in western country." 



         Grandchildren: a share to each set. Francis Ross, the son of 

         Alexander Ross; Maragert Malvena Allison & Betsey Adelin 

         Allison, daughters of the late Dr. John Allison. EXS: Mt 

         friends, Solomon Hill & Robert Clendennin. /Wit. Samuel 

         Melton, Robert McElwaine & Hilliriah McCall. (NOTE By Robert 

         R. Hill Sr, This William Hill was a Revolutionary Soldier and 

         was married to Jane McCall). 

 

         100. Solomon Hill, will signed 5 Oct. 1825, probated 18 Oct. 

         1825 in York (County) wife, Nancy Hill Ex. with my son, W.R. 

         Hill,  equal to all my children (not named) My minor son, 

         Albert Potts Hill, to be educated. /Wit. Samuel H. Barry & 

         H.G. Catheart, M.D. 

 

                          CAMDEN DISTRICT S.C. 

 

         101. Nathaniel Hill, with Thomas Padget (See # 34), Luke 

         Gibson, Roger Gibson, William Paine, Charles Russell and 

         others were the first settlers in West Wateree Township of 

         the present Kershaw County, and (where the) counties of 

         Richland, Fairfield & Kershaw meet. These settlers came and 

         had plantations by 1748/49. 

 

         101a. Capt. Joseph Hill with Hubbard Rees, Thomas LeNoir, 

         John & Samuel Dinkins, J. Calbreath and others, signed a 

         petition for clemency for John Adamson, the Tory, soon after 

         the Revolution, when John Adamson was wanting to return to 

         claim his estate. 

 

         There were no Hill wills for Sumter or Kershaw (Counties) in 

         Camden District. 

 

                          CHESTER COUNTY S.C. 

 

         102. William Hill, of Sandy River in Chester, will signed 13 

         Oct. 1804 and no probate date given.  Wife, Molly Hill. 

         Children: Stark Hill; Sally Atterbury; Rachel Hill; Magor 

         Hill; Hepsabeth Milchel (LIkely Mitchel); Amy Clark; William 

         Hill and Hiram Hill.  Lands by Hopkins & DeGraffenreid are 

         listed also by Mayfield.  EXS: Sons, Hiram Hill, Stark Hill & 

         William Hill (Jr.).  /Wit. E. Vann, Joshua Kirk & Stephen 

         Kirk. 

 

         103. Benjamin Hill, will signed 9 Feb. 1834, probated 17 Feb. 

         1834 in Chester. Wife, Abigail Hill. All my children are 

         minors (none named) and will share equal. EXS: Mordicia 

         Holzel & Littleton Hill. Mentions lands on the McCaw Road by 

         John Wallis and formerly the DeGraffenreid land.  /Wit. John 

         P. Rawdon, Samuel Morris & William Hill Jr. 

 

         104. William Hill of Sandy River in Chester. Will signed 24 

         May 1831, probated 25 Dec. 1834. Wife Armemel Hill Ex. 

         Children: Maria Hill; William Hill; Mary Meadows; Emeline 

         Hill; Anna Halsey & Littleton Hill Ex. & see (# 103). /Wit. 



         Matthew Williams, William McClure & William A. Roseborough. 

 

                           FAIRFIELD COUNTY S.C. 

 

         105. William Hill, will signed 1 July 1790, probated 14 Aug. 

         1790. No wife listed. "I give all I possess to my son, 

         William Hill Jr. and make him Ex. I revoke my other will in 

         which I divide my estate among my heirs for now I desire my 

         son William Hill Jr. to have it all."  /Wit. William Alsop, 

         Adam Effurt & Richard Odom. 

 

         106. Richard Hill, will but not completed. Wife, Mary Hill, 

         my 5 sons and my 3 daughters, no surnames: William, Jehu, 

         Susannah, Simeon, Schen (Sion?, a son), Sarah, Richard Jr. & 

         Dorcas. 

 

         22 Jan. 1810, John McCully, George S. Smith & Daniel A. 

         Mobley make sworn statement that they were present when Mr. 

         Richard Hill had John McCully to write this will but before 

         Mr. McCully could complete the will, Mr. Hill lapsed into an 

         unconscious state and died before the will could be 

         completed. The will was probated 5 Fe. 1811. Ex. not given. 

 

         107. MOSES HILL (See # 1) died in Fairfield County on 1 July 

         1821 and no will found for him. 

 

         IMPORTANT NOTE BY ROBERT R. HILL SR.: Moses Hill died 

         intestate, and there are several papers (Package 18, Box 252 

         Fairfield County Records) relating to the estate which was 

         probated from Aug. 1821 through 1825. His two sons, Moses 

         Berry Hill & George Washington Hill were appointed Executors. 

         Another son, James Hill, of Union District, posted the 

         Security Bond along with Splisby Glenn. 

 

         After the estate was finally settled (in 1825) the family 

         stayed in Fairfield until about April or May of 1831, when 

         George W. Hill moved his family to Green County Alabama. 

         Along with him went his widowed mother, Savilla N. Hill, and 

         the families of his two married sisters, Sarah Hill and her 

         husband,  Rev. John Pearson and his youngest sister, Rebecca 

         Carlisle Hill, who married Dr.  John Trezevant DeGraffenreid, 

         M.D.. 

 

         They all died there and Savilla Hill along with son George W. 

         Hill & daughter Rebecca Hill, are buried in a cemetery near 

         Pleasant Ridge, known as the "Old Bigsby Cemetery." It also 

         has been called the "Old Williams Cemetery." 

 

         My son and I visited this graveyard in July 1986 and found 

         the three graves. The markers are in reasonably good shape, 

         considering the age etc., although George Hill's marker is 

         lying on the ground. (A large tree had fell on top of 

         Savilla's marker, which was intack and holding the tree up, 

         however it had knocked George Hill's marker down). 



 

         The cemetery is adjacent to the side of a church, where 

         blacks worship in.  The cemetery itself is in very bad shape, 

         badly over grown with tree, bushes with thorns etc.  Silt and 

         leaves are about 4 to 6 inches deep and markers are scattered 

         about randomly.  Just about all of the graves belonged to 

         people from the area of Chester and Fairfield County S.C., 

         who also had moved to this once popular area.  (End of note) 

         _____________________________________________________________ 

         Comments by Andrea: This completes all HILL data and will 

         abstracts to be found in the S.C. Archives. These wills are 

         WPA copies and I find them to be about 5% inaccurate, when 

         compared to the original wills on file in the various 

         county seats.  I have a few more items to add from Charleston 

         trip when I edit the further data found on my second trip. 

 

                  THE 1790 CENSUS FOR HILL IN SOUTH CAROLINA 

         The 1st # indicates all males over age 16, including the head 

         of the house. The 2nd # indicates all males under age of 16. 

         The 3rd # indicates all females including the wife. The 4 # 

         IF SHOWN indicates other white people in the home. 

 

         108.  Abbeville County in 96 District and then included 

         present Abbeville, Greenwood and parts of McCormick Counties. 

            Adam Hill   1-1-2    James Hill 1-0-0   Jesse Hill 1-1-3 

            William Hill 1-1-1   Capt. Nel Hill 1-0-2 & likely for Uel 

            Hill 

 

         109. Pendleton County in 96 District & included present 

         counties of Picken, Oconee & Anderson. 

            David Hill 1-1-2    Thomas Hill 3-0-1     Jonas Hill 1-2-1 

            Mary Hill 0-1-3     William Hill 1-3-1 

 

         110. Edgefield County in 96 District & included present 

         county of Edgefield, parts of Aiken, Saluda & McCormick. 

          Ann Hill  0-0-4    Ebenezer Hill 2-1-2  George Hill 1-0-1 

          William Hill 2-0-1   John Hill 2-1-3      Samuel Hill 1-1-4 

          Lodowick Hill 1-1-4 

 

         111. Newberry County in 96 Dist. 

          Anna Hill 0-3-2    Edward Hill 1-3-4     Henry Hill 2-2-4 

          John Hill 1-1-5    James Hill  2-3-3     Henry Hill 1-4-2 

          John Hill 1-0-2    Nicholas Hill 2-2-0   Samuel Hill 1-0-1 

 

         112. UNION County in 96 District & included parts of present 

         Cherokee County. 

          Henry Hill 1-1-2     Thomas Hill 1-4-3     John Hill 2-0-2 

          Henry Hill 1-4-3 

 

         113.  Charleston District & included present Charleston, 

         Berkley, Dorchester & Colleton Counties. 

         Duncan Hill 1-4-2   Eleanor Hill  0-0-1  Joseph Hill 2-0-4-1 

         Paul Hill 1-2-2     Joseph Hill 1-0-4  Jno. Hill 1-1-2 of 

         Beaufort District. 



 

         114. Richland County of Camden District 

            Robert Hills 4-1-5 

            Sumter (Cleremont) "    "      "    Joseph Hill 1-3-4 

 

         115. Orangeburg Dist. & included present Orangeburg, Calhoun, 

         Barnwell, Lexington and portions of Newberry, Saluda, Aiken & 

         Edgefield Counties. 

            Ann Hill 1-3-5     William Hill 1-2-8   John Hill 1-0-2 

            Rachel Hill 2-1-3 

 

         116. Cheraw Dist & included present counties of Chesterfield, 

         Darlington, Malboro, portions of Florence, Dee, Marion & 

         Dillion Counties. 

           Benjamin Hill 2-4-3   Elijah Hill 1-2-1   Thomas Hill 1-0-0 

           John Hill 1-1-2       Michael Hill 1-1-4 

           Isaac Hill 1-1-1 in Prince Frederick Parish 

 

         117.  omitted by Andrea ???? 

 

         118. Lancaster of Camden District & Included present counties 

         of Kerhsaw and Lancaster. 

         Aquilla Hill 1-2-2    Augustus Hill 1-2-3   Jno. Hill 0-0-0-1 

 

         York County of Camden District & includes parts of Cherokee. 

         Edward Hill 2-2-5     William Hill 5-1-3 & 82 slaves 

         William Hill 2-1-3 

 

         119. Chester County of Camden District 

         George Hill 2-0-2    James Hill 2-1-3 

 

         120. Fairfield County of 96 District 

         Asaph Hill 1-0-0     William Hill 1-0-0    William Hill 1-6-2 

         John Hill  1-2-2     Mrs. Hill  1-0-7**    Richard Hill 1-2-1 

         Thomas Hill 1-0-1    Thomas Hill  2-3-6    Richard Hill 1-1-3 

         Thomas Hill 1-3-4 

         **Reference to Mrs. Hill: She & perhaps Mrs. Mary Hill # 21 

         and residing with her Moses Hill for he does not show up in 

         the Census (1790), neither does Leonard Hill # 15 & 23. MOSES 

         HILL & LEONARD HILL do not show up in S.C. at all in 1790. 

             Williamsburg County of Prince Frederick Parish in 1790. 

 

         121. Patience Hill is named as sister in the will of Solomon 

         Rhodus, signed 18 Sept. 1804. 

 

         122. Isaac Hill 1-1-1 was a resident of Prince Frederick 

         Parish in 1790. 

 

         THIS ENDS THE 2ND PART OF THE ANDREA COLLECTION AND IS 

         CONTINUED ON THE 3RD PART, LISTED AS ADATA.007 

 

END OF ADATA006 

 

         ADATA.007    3RD PART OF THE ANDREA COLLECTION (CONTD FROM 



                         PART 2 AND LISTED AS ADATA.006). 

 

          Williamsburg County in Prince Frederick Parish (S.C.) 1790 

 

         121. Patience Hill is named as sister in the will of Solomon 

         Rhodus, signed 18th Sept. 1804. 

 

         122. Isaac Hill 1-1-1 was a resident of Prince Frederick 

         Parish in 1790. 

 

         123. The Rev. Thomas Hill was pastor of the Bethel 

         Presbyterian Church in Williamsburg County in 1783 and 1784. 

 

         124. Elizabeth Clement wed Hezekiah Ford in Virginia and 

         removed to Fairfield County S.C., where she was still alive 

         in 1794. Elizabeth Clement Ford had a brother, Capt. Benjamin 

         Clement (1700-1780), who died in King William County and his 

         wife, SUSANNAH HILL, a daughter of Col. Isaac Hill of King & 

         Queen County Virginia. 

 

         125. John Hill, was witness to a will of Robert Hammock in 

         Wilkes County Georgia in 1779. Augustus Hill was witness to 

         will of Sarah Fitzpatrick in Morgan County Georgia in 1830. 

         In 1812, Nancy Hill married Alexander Fitzpatrick in Morgan 

         County Georgia. He was born 4 July 1791. 

 

         126. Pheriba Hill, b. 2 Jan. 1767 in Granville Co., N.C., 

         married to Randall Robinson and they removed to S.C. and then 

         to Putnam County Georgia. 

 

         (Letter by Andrea) 

         Dear Mrs. Nicholson, 

              I had to read all possible papers to try to find the 

         parents or reference to the parents of your MOSES HILL. I 

         make abstracts of all as I went along. 

              I have some further work to do in Charleston and will 

         add it as separate pages. I have also checked all RHODEN data 

         as you asked but so far to no avail. I will send what I have 

         on RODEN soon. 

              When your Hill line is established, I will type it out 

         for you. I am merely sending this carbon for your convince in 

         making a study of what is to be found in the S.C. Archives on 

         Hill. 

 

                              Your sincerely, 

                              Leonardo Andrea 

         4202 Devine Street 

         Columbia 50, S.C. 

         2 Nov. 1947 

         ____________________________________________________________ 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT R. HILL SR.: (In the following note, the 

         figure that follows a name (viz Robert Hill 3/, shows that he 

         belongs to the 3rd generation of that family).   In Craven 



         County S.C., later known as Camden District and located today 

         in the general area of Fairfield County S.C.,  resided a man 

         named Matthew Gibbs, along with his wife Milbry Hill 4/. 

         They removed there from Halifax County N.C.  by 1769.  Milbry 

         Hill 4/ was the daughter of Robert Hill 3/ (1678-1765) & his 

         wife Tabitha.  Robert Hill 3/, in turn was son of Sion Hill 

         2/ (1654-1705) of Isle of Wight & Surry County Virginia and 

         his 2nd wife (widow) Mrs.  John Spiltimber. Sion Hill 2/, was 

         in turn the son of the immigrant & patriarch of the famous 

         Hill family of Surry County Virginia, ROBERT HILL 1/ & wife 

         Mary Webb. They immigrated into Va. ca. 1642. 

         ____________________________________________________________ 

         127. HILL INDEX for books from 1680 to 1799 in Charleston 

         Office of the Judge of Probate....No dates are given, however 

         the first books are A up thru Z.  the begin A thru 2Z, then 

         begin 3A thru 3Z and on....15A thru 15Z takes one to 

         1800.....These books have been rebound and the original names 

         are not on the book.  More than half the time I was not able 

         to find the items in INDEX, EXCEPT the wills, for the wills 

         are kept in a separate set and have a master 

         index.....However some of the wills were not found.  I did 

         not undertake to copy any of the data on HILL, in order to 

         save time for you.  I would have copied in full, in case I 

         had found a MOSES HILL, which I did not find. Here follows 

         all HILL (data) in an old master index made in 1799. 

         Thomas Hill J45....Inventory Ambrose Hill M17...Will 

         John Hill L35......Inventory 

         Richard Hill N11...Inventory                 NOTE: 

         William Hill N42...Will               Inventory with will as 

         Richard Hill T19...Will               you will note: then an 

         John Hill N17......Will               inventory with the 

         John Hill W22......Inventory          Administration, when no 

         William Hill 2A-12.Inventory          will...double check and 

         John Hill 2c-43....Inventory          note will followed by 

         John Hill 2Q-1.....Will               inventory...Inventory 

         John Hill 2Q-18....Inventory          & no will, denotes an 

         Charles Hill 3B-30.Will               Administration. 

         Samuel Hill 30-41..Will 

         Thomas Hill 3N-20..Will 

         Thomas Hill 3X-15..Inventory 

         Richard Hill 4Z, page 6, Inventory 

         John Hill 4Z-41....Inventory 

         Charles Hill 5M-14.Will 

         Littleton Hill 5N-14..Inventory 

         Charles Hill 5N-8..Inventory 

         John Hill 5W-33...Will 

         John Hill 5X-5...Inventory 

         John Hill 5X-7...Sale 

         Robert Hill 6X-38...Inventory 

         Robert Hill 60-25...Sale 

         John Hill 8K-36.....Inventory 

         Samuel Hill 8Q-20...Inventory 

         Jonathan Hill 9E-46.Inventory 

         Francis Hill 11N-27..Inventory 



         Christopher Hill 11W-49...Inventory 

         Duncan Hill 13W-26....Will 

         Elizabeth Hill 14G-21...Will 

         Duncan Hill 14H, page 20, ...Inventory 

 

         128. There are more than a hundred land deeds to Hill 

         (Hills?) more from  HILL...Since none had a MOSES HILL, I did 

         not attempt to check any deeds. The deeds are in 400 books 

         and each has a separate index, for some years a master index. 

 

         129. Samuel Quincy and his wife, Elizabeth Quincy, as 

         executors of the last will and testament of Richard Hill, 

         deceased and of Berkley County, a deed signed 21 June 1751 to 

         themselves. /Wit. Robert Roper & John Guerrard. The deed to 

         the heirs of Charles Hill estate (Heirs not named).  SEE NOTE 

         BELOW: 

 

         130. Jonathan Hill, of the Parish of St. John's, Berkley 

         (County) on 5 June 1755, sells 13 slaves to Richard 

         Richardson. /Wit. John Cantey, John Cantey Jr. before William 

         Simpson J.P. 

         _____________________________________________________________ 

 

                               CHARLESTON DATA 

         131. Inventory of the Estate of Robert Hill, of Ashepool? 6 

         Mar. 1759, Administered by Robert Bolton. The inventory 

         contained a list of more than 100 people who owed Robert Hill 

         money. Some were: Alexander Eveleight, John Hunt, John Litte, 

         Joseph Ladson, Primus Humphrey, Jacob Turner, William Webb, 

         George Pope & James Talbot. 

 

         132. Sarah Hill, of Berkley County. A marriage contract with 

         Benjamin Coachman of Craven County. Trustee was Charles 

         Faucheraud and he to hold 19 slaves and lands in trust for 

         Sarah Hill, soon to become wife of Benjamin Coachman. /Wit. 

         Edward James & James Edwards. Dated 25 May 1758. 

 

         133. These Hill notes I did take down, perhaps your MOSES 

         (HILL) might have shown up in some Hill administrations, I 

         could not locate. Recall that there are hundreds of books and 

         files in the Office of Probate. It would take me a week, to 

         take down each book and examine it carefully. I knew that you 

         did not want to run up so high a bill. All wills that could 

         be found, are already in this paper on Hill. NONE HAD A MOSES 

         HILL. 

 

         134. My suggestion to you would be to secure a Charleston 

         genealogist and have records checked carefully. You may find 

         what you want and then again you may not. The Court of Equity 

         Records, I did not even attempt, nor did I go to the 

         Charleston Historical Society Library. That library has a 

         building of its own and has much published and typed data. 

         Charleston is a Historic and antiquated city...the records 

         are kept also in an antiquated method. 



 

         (The above wrote by Mr. Andrea) 

 

         HILL DATA: (BY ANDREA)           Hill Data; Chowan Co., N.C., 

                                          Edgefield Co., S.C., Saint 

         This family originated in        Augustine, Florida. From the 

         Chowan County, N.C. and from     files of Hugh B. Johnston 

         there to Edgefield County, S.C., Jr., of Wilson, N.C. 

         hence to St Augustine Florida. 

         Most of the data is taken from the 

         Catholic Cathedral of St. Augustine 

         Church Register in St. Augustine, Fla. 

 

         THEOPHILUS HILL (1742-1791), the son of Abraham & Nancy Hill, 

         was married 3 Sept. 1762 to Theresa Thomas (1743-1826) of 

         Edgecomb County, N.C., the daughter of Christena Roberts and 

         the Rev. John Thomas, of Dobbs Co., N.C. 

 

         Note by R. Hill: Believe the mother of Theophilus Hill was 

         named Judith Hunter, not Nancy. 

 

         LODOWICK HILL, born 1763, married Susan Grigsby and remained 

         in Edgefield, S.C. 

 

                  THE CHILDREN OF LODOWICK HILL 

 

         ________Hill who is said to have married a DeWitt. 

 

         MARIA del CARMEN HILL, daughter, born 1770 in Edgefield 

         County S.C. and married 28 Dec. 1787 in St. Augustine, 

         Florida Cathedral to FRANCISCO XAVIER SANCHEZ. She died at 

         St. Mary's in Camden Co., Ga. before 31 Aug. 1813. 

 

         CHRISTINA HILL, daughter, born Edgefield Co., S.C., was 

         baptized in St. Augustine Cathedral 8 July 1787 and was 

         married 4 Feb. 1799 to BERNARDINO SANCHEZ de ORTEGOSA. 

 

         ISABELL HILL, Daughter, born 1781 in S.C.  and was baptized 

         in St.  Augustine Cathedral 8 July 1787 and was married 7 

         Feb.  1797 to JOSEPH BURNELL, son of John Burnell and wife 

         Isabel Raven of Lynn, Norfolkshire. 

 

         (a twin) ANNA MARIA HILL, daughter, born in St. Augustine on 

         6 June 1787 and baptized in Cathedral on 8 July 1787 and died 

         in St Augustine in June 1849. She married first to SAMUEL 

         WILLIAMS and second to GEN. JOSE MARIANO HERNANDEZ on 25 Feb. 

         1814. 

 

         (a twin) THOMAS HILL, son, born in St. Augustine on 6 June 

         1787 and baptized 8 July 1787. No record of marriage. 

 

         Note by R. Hill: I suspect Mr. Andrea has made a mistake in 

         naming the above as children of Lodowick Hill.  Notice that 

         he and Susan Grigsby did not even marry until 30th June 1785 



         and these above children were born before that date except 

         for the twins, Anna Maria & Thomas Hill, which is still 

         questioned.  (See list below). 

 

         (St. Augustine?) Cathedral Register...Rev. Thomas Hassett, 

         Rector.  Baptized 11 Dec. 1790, Theresa Thomas, wife of 

         Theophilus Hill of the Lutheran Religion & daughter of Juan & 

         Christina Thomas. 

 

         Marriage contract 3 June 1792 for Donna Theresa Thomas Hill 

         to Don Manuel Marchal. 

 

         Mr. Johnston also has a copy of the Lodowick Hill Bible data 

         and see page 2. 

              Continuing Hill data from files of Hugh B. Johnston Jr. 

 

         LODOWICK HILL, born Edgecomb Co., N.C. on 2 Nov. 1763 and 

         died in Edgefield Co., S.C. on 27 July 1822.  He married 

         Susannah Grigsby in St. Augustine Cathedral in Florida on 30 

         June 1785. 

 

         SUSANNAH GRIGSBY, the daughter of Enoch Grigsby & Mary 

         Butler. Their children were all born in Edgefield County, 

         S.C. (Marriage & death pages missing). 

 

         Mary Hill, daughter, born 3 Aug. 1786. 

         Theresa Hill, daughter, born 27 Sept. 1787 

         Theophilus Hill, son, born 10 Feb. 1790. 

         James Hill, son, born 21 May 1792. 

         Sarah Hill, daughter, 18 Feb. 1796. 

         Henry Hampton Hill, son, born 22 Mar. 1798. 

         Rhydon Hill, son, born 22 Mar. 1800. 

         Jonathan M. Hill, son, born 19 Nov. 1803. 

         William B. Hill, son, born 14 Nov. 1806. 

 

         I am sure that I can obtain from Mrs. Cleora Tompkins of 

         Edgefield, S.C., the dates of Susannah Grigsby and also the 

         names of whom each of these Hill children married and also 

         perhaps the death dates....ANDREA. 

 

         The following data was copied in long hand by Mr. Andrea, on 

         stationary showing the letter heading of C. H. Gresham, House 

         of Representatives, State of South Carolina, home address 

         given Ware Shoals, S.C.  (It is difficult to copy). 

 

         Joseph Hill, son of George Hills of Great Burstead, 

         Billicary, Essex County, England and Mary (Symond) Hills. She 

         was a widow. of Wm. Symond. Joseph was baptized at the Parish 

         of Great Burstead, Billicary, Essex County, England in 1602. 

         He died at Newberry Mass., on February 5th, 1687/8. Married 

         first Rose Clark in Great Burstead 1624, died at Malden, 

         Mass. 24 March 16--? 

 

                        BIRTHS        DEATHS            MARRIAGES 



         NAMES     Mo.  Day   Yr      Mo.  Day  Yr 

         Mary, Great Burstead 1625:   Nov.  25 1674:    John White 

         Elizabeth  "    "    1627:   ?????????????:    John Blanchard 

         Joseph,    "    "    1629:   Apr.  19 1674:    Hannah Smith 

         John,    Maldon, Eng.????:   July  11 1674: 

         James,    Apr.  21   1631:   July  28 1652: 

         (b. Maldon Eng.)r        :                : 

         Rebecca,  Apr.  20   1634:   Jan   16 1674: Capt. Thomas 

         she b., m. & d. in Maldon England.        :     Green 

         Steven, May 1   1636    :             1637:died young 

         Sarah,     Aug.  14 1637:    same day in Maldon, England 

         Gersham,    July 27 1639: 1721:Elizabeth Chadwick 

                                 :                 :on 11-11-1667 

         Mshitabel Jan.   1   1640:            1652: 

         ____________________________________________________________ 

 

         THE SECOND WIFE OF JOSEPH HILL WAS HANNAH MALBOURNE? OF 

         MALDEN. MASS. BORN        :   DEATH        :  MARRIAGE TO 

         Samuel, (See 2012)        :                : 

                   July        1652:   Aug.  16 1732:  Abigail Wheller 

         Nathaniel,                :                : in Newberry 1632 

                 Dec.   19   1653  :   Dec.  19 1664: 

 

         JOSEPH HILL'S THIRD WIFE WAS HELEN ATKINSON IN MALDEN, MASS. 

         1655-56.  FOURTH WIFE WAS MRS. ANN LAMB (LUHT?) IN NEWBERRY, 

         MASS MARCH 6, 1664, BY WHOM NO CHILDREN WERE BORN. 

 

         CHILDREN OF THIRD WIFE: 

         Deborah,    Mar.     1657    Dec.   1   1622 

         Abigail     Oct.  6  1658    Oct.   7   1622 

 

         Helen Atkinson was daughter of Hugh Atkinson of Kendall, 

         Westmoreland County England. Joseph Hills officiated at 

         magistrate at this marriage (that is married himself). Joseph 

         Hills 4th wife Ann Lamb, was widow of Hugh Lamb, a passenger 

         on the ship "Mary & John" who took the oath of allegiance on 

         March 26, 1634. 

            Joseph Hills went from Malden to Newberry, Mass in 1657. 

 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT R. HILL Sr:  Again Mr.  Andrea wrote out the 

         following in long hand and both his writing and format is 

         very difficult for me to follow:  I suspect that the figures 

         in front of Joseph Hill (2001) (and others) might be a 

         paragraph or section number of a Volume of Books, or perhaps 

         a section in a book, that relates to that person.  I also 

         believe that this information came out of the following book, 

         but admit that I have no proof. 

 

         Reference???  The Hills of America" by W.S.  & Thomas Hills, 

         Published by The Grifton Press, N.Y.City 1906. 

 

         2001  Joseph Hills came over on the "Susan & Ellen." Speaker 

         in Honor of Deportion 1647, Colonial Assembly of Mass. 



 

         2012  Children of Samuel Hill & wife Abigail Wheeler 

               Samuel (See 2062 below), Joseph, Nathaniel, Benjamin, 

               Abigail (died young), Henry, William, Josiah, John, 

               Abigail, Jane & Hannah (twins?), Daniel & Sinth? 

             (Cynthia?). 

         Samuel Hills II, was a sergeant in the Indian War with 

         King Phillip. 

 

         2033 Family of Samuel Hill & wife Ann Margaret 

         Samuel (See # 2062) 

         Abigail 

         Ann 

         Hannah 

         Benjamin m. Elizabeth ??? 

         Phobe 

         William 

         James m. Eunice Walker 

 

         2062 Children of Samuel Hill & wife Debroah 

          Samuel, (See 2174) 

          Sarah 

          Barbara 

          Ann? 

          by second wife Sarah (Hor--?) 

          Comfort m. Polly Larosn? 

 

         2074 Family of Samuel Hill and wife Rhoda.  (Changed spelling 

         to Hill)? 

         Samuel 

         John (See 2396) 

         Lydia 

         Rufus 

         George 

         Joshua 

         Thomas 

         Barbara m. Benjamin Shaw 

         Asa 

         Sarah m. Stephen Wheeler 

         Anna m. David Kelly or Kilbry? 

         Rhoda 

         Deborah m. John Jenkin 

         Freelove? m. John Parker 

         Daniel 

 

         2396 John Hill Family (wife's name is not legible but 

         apparently known by Mr. Andrea. 

         Leonard Hill (See 2847) 

         Rhoda married Albee Brown 

         William (did not marry) 

 

         2012 

         Samuel Hills  born, July 1652, died Aug. 18, 1732, buried 

         Newberry. Mass.  Wife Abigail Wheeler born July 2, 1655, died 



         April 13, 1742. They married May 20th 1679. 

 

         Samuel Hill (# 2033) was born Feb. 16, 1680, died July 27th 

         1732. Wife Ann, who died Dec. 3rd, 1747 

 

         Lieutenant Samuel Hill (4th) born Feb. 19, 1714, died Nov. 

         12th, 1758 son of Samuel Hill (# 2033) & wife Ann.  His wife 

         was Deborah Cushing, born 13th Nov. 1746, she died 16th May 

         1828. She dau. of Matthew & Mary Cushing. 

 

         Samuel Hill 5th (Son of Samuel Hill 4th) born 14 Dec.  1740, 

         married Jan.  or June 8th 1766 to Rhoda Phillips (b. 20 Dec. 

         1746-d. 16 May 1828).  He died 14th March 1833. 

 

         John Hill ( Son of Samuel Hill 5th) born 29 April 1768, died 

         9th October 1806. Wife Lucena Ramsey, b. 23 June 1773, d. 

         18th Aug. 1834. 

 

         Leonard Hill, son of John Hill & Lucena Ramsey. He was born 

         6th Sept. 1791, died 18th August 1834.  Wife Harriet LaPham, 

         dau. of James & Jemima LaPham. She b. July 11th, 1794, d. 

         27th December 1873.  (SEE ITEM # 58 ON PAGE 17). 

 

         James L. Hill, son of Leonard Hill, was born 13th May 1815, 

         d. 14th November 1889 (Wrote here was "my grandfather." Wife 

         was Jemima B. ???? She d. Jan 1853. 

 

         William A. Hill, son of James L. Hill. He was born 27th March 

         1842. Wife was Nancy Ann, b. 8th June 1843. 

 

         John Wheeler came to New England in 1638 on ship "Confidence" 

         (see pages 253 to 254, Edition 1897, Old Families of 

         Solisbury & (last name not legible). Hand writing slurred. 

 

         NOTE BY ROBERT R. HILL SR.: The following is a typed note of 

         some sort.  I do not believe it was typed by Andrea 

         (different typewriter used) but wonder if it were not typed 

         by Mrs.  Nicholson, in response to Mr.  Andrea's notes. I 

         also wonder if perhaps Mrs. Nicholson was a genealogist, 

         searching for MOSES HILL for a client in Memphis, Tenn. She 

         may have hired Andrea to do her S.C. research. This suspicion 

         is based solely on this note. 

 

         I mentioned this will below to you when here-it included in 

         my clients data.. 

 

         SURRY COUNTY, N.C. 

         Will of William Hill dated 1777, filed Feb. 1787. 

         Sons: 1. Daniel            6. Jesse 

               2. Thomas            7. James 

               3. Smithers          8. Joshua 

               4. Robert            9. Joel 

               5. Uel 

 



         no daughters sent to me. (Then in long hand was wrote by name 

         of Joshua, "(d. Abbeville Co., SC on 20 June 1855, b. 26 May 

         1763)." 

 

         Also wrote at bottom of article was " Elizabeth married 

         William Halbert (See #30) also will. I have certified copy." 

         In your Hill paper, you have wills for-- 

         Item 51. Abbeville , UEL HILL, received 3 Nov. 1832. (In long 

         hand here was wrote by Andrea "See Uel Above." 

 

         Item 83. Edgefield, JESSE HILL, pro. 4 Jan 1821. note he 

         names a son JOEL, he should be son of above will. (ANDREA 

         Wrote by her name in long hand  " also daughter Susannah & 

         son William)." 

 

         # 86. Edgefield, Joel Hill, dated 1848. Can as you say be son 

         of Jesse above-or could be son of William of Surry...he seems 

         to be youngest son -named last. 

 

         #47. James Hill will, he with 2 sets of children, note he 

         names a son Jesse, could be?? also son of William Hill of 

         Surry. 

 

         On your Jesse Hill will # 83, a Joshua Hill is a witness--son 

         of William of Surry--possible????? 

 

         In Abbeville, you have a will for John Hill and wife 

         Susannah--note deed my data-for their deed. 

 

         THIS APPARENTLY CONCLUDED THE PART OF MR. ANDREA'S SEARCH FOR 

         MOSES HILL & READERS SHOULD VIEW THIS AS IF THEY WERE A 

         CLIENT OF MR. ANDREA'S AND HE IS SENDING THEM HIS REPORT ON 

         MOSES HILL (#1). THIS PART IS KNOWN AS HILL 1 IN THE ANDREA 

         COLLECTION. 

 

 

         THE FOLLOWING ARE NOTES BY ROBERT R.  HILL SR.: Over the 

         years, I too have researched for information on MOSES HILL 

         (#1) in Mr. Andrea's collection. Moses Hill was my 4th great 

         grandfather, and as a result I am a member of the Tampa 

         Chapter of the Florida Society of the Sons of the American 

         Revolution. (Joined in Nov. 1985). 

 

         In my research, I have found additional information not 

         included in Mr.  Andrea's data, and therefore have added or 

         made the entries.  I have made NO CHANGES in Mr.  Andrea's 

         data.  I also have come across information on several 

         members of the Hill Families (not related to Moses) and for 

         the sake of making it available to others, make those entries 

         too. 

 

         In Clarke County Alabama, a Moses Hill is listed in the 1830 

         Census as aged 70-80 with a female aged 50-60 (wife?). 

 



         This Moses Hill died in 1832 and an Inventory of his Personal 

         Property was taken on October 17th, 1832 by James Daniel, 

         Abner Wislon & John Easley, Appraisers. Several notes were 

         filed including one from Sterling Hill (son). on 31 Dec. 

         1830. (Reference "Alabama Records" by Gandrud, Vol 239, page 

         15 & 16). 

 

         In Surry County Virginia, on 21 January 1782, a Moses Hill 

         made a will that was proven on 24 Sept. 1782, naming sons: 

         Lewis Hill and Sterling Hill and children of a deceased son, 

         Benjamin Hill. 

 

         Note the name of Sterling Hill as son of the Moses Hill of 

         Clarke County, Alabama. It is said that the father of this 

         Moses Hill was a S. Hill, who came to Georgia at age 17 or 

         18. It appears that this Moses Hill, of Alabama,  may be 

         related to the Moses Hill of Surry County Virginia as well as 

         his son Lewis, Sterling & Benjamin (deceased son). The names 

         are identical to those in Alabama. 

 

         REFERENCE # 20 of Andrea's Report, This Dorcas Hill was the 

         widow of William Hill Jr., of Fairfield County S.C. He died 

         ca. 1795 and her maiden name was Moberley (Mobley): Children 

         named in will were: Richard Hill (m. Mary Mabry); Samuel & 

         Elijah Hill (minors); Elizabeth Hill; John Hill; Mary Hill 

         (m. Matthew Hosch) & Abel Hill. IGI Index of LDS Church shows 

         other children as Charles Hill, b. 1769; Robert Hill. b. 1770 

         & William Hill, b. 1772, all born near Monks Corner in 

         Berkley County S.C. (If this is so, why were they not named 

         in the will?) (Ref IGI Index of LDS Church). 

 

         REFERENCE # 77 of Andrea's report, Dannet Hill, the spelling 

         is very simular to Dennett, and that name is found in a will 

         of Thomas Hill, made in Cumberland Co., Va. on 6 Oct.1770, 

         proven 25 Oct. 1773. Thomas names his wife as Barchany and 

         children as John, DENNETT, Mary, Thomas, William, Joseph, 

         James & Ann. It was witnessed by John & Joseph Starky and 

         John Spearman. It is known also that a Starky Hill lived in 

         the area of Camden District S.C. and it therefore appears 

         that Starky Hill and Dannet Hill of Edgefield County might be 

         related to this Virginia Family.  (Data furnished me by Mr. 

         Jonathan Butcher, Genealogist, of N.C.) 

 

         REFERENCE # 88: This Abraham Hill (b. 23 April 1732, d. 4 

         Feb. 1792) married Christian Walton and was originally from 

         Chowan Co., N.C. (Revolutionary Service). He is known as 

         Abraham Hill Sr. 

 

         REFERENCE TO # 129.  to Elizabeth Quincy.  This was her 

         second marriage.  Her maiden name was Elizabeth Godfrey and 

         she first married Charles Hill. 

 

         Charles Hill was a wealthy planter who lived in St.  Andrews 

         Parish, Berkley County, S.C.  The Register of St.  Andrews 



         Parish (Published in S.C. Historical & Genealogical Magazine) 

         shows that Charles Hill and Elizabeth Godfrey were married on 

         13 Jan.  1714/15.  A later deed (RR:345) shows she was the 

         daughter of Captain John Godfrey. 

 

         On 5 March 1728, Charles & Elizabeth Hill purchased a lot in 

         Charleston from William Harvey. However Charles Hill Esquire 

         was buried in St. Andrews Parish on 27 July 1734. An 

         informative deed of 4 March 1757 (RR:350) shows that Charles 

         left a will dated 12 April 1734. 

 

         Elizabeth (Godfrey) Hill, widow of Charles Hill secondly 

         married Reverend Samuel Quincy and returned to England. She 

         apparently left a will in England, according to the deed. 

 

         The record of St. Andrews Register is some what damaged but 

         does show the following children of Charles & Elizabeth Hill: 

         a. Elizabeth, baptized 19 Nov. 171- St Andrews Parish 

         b.  Charles Jr., baptized 13 Feb_______ 

         c.  Jane, baptized 24 May 1718. 

         d.  John, born 21 Dec.  1719 

         e.  Sarah, born 17 Apr.  1721.  In 1757 she was the wife of 

             John Lining of Charleston. 

         f.  Mary, born 15 Jan.  1722/23. 

         g.  Robert, baptized 17 Apr.  1726, buried 16 May 1727. 

         h.  Judith, buried 25 May 1732. 

         i.  William Jeffries Hill, born 29 Jan.  1729/30 St. 

         Phillips Parish, buried 5 April 1734 St.  Andrews Parish. 

 

         In the deed of 1757 (RR:350) it is stated that when widow 

         Elizabeth (Godfrey) (Hill) Quincy returned to England, she 

         deeded her lot in Charleston to Jacob Motte, in trust for her 

         daughter Sarah. This may tie in with a reference in the will 

         of John Abraham Motte of Berkley Co., dated 24 Aug. 1710, who 

         appointed as executor his brother in law, Charles Hill, "now 

         of Jamaica, merchant." 

 

         It appears that Charles Hill was somehow related to Richard 

         Hill of Charleston, and perhaps Jonathan Hill too (#130). On 

         2 September 1717, a deed for a lot in Charleston from John 

         Kinard to Charles Hill, was witnessed by Richard Hill (A:10). 

         "Mrs.  Hill, ye wife of Mr.  Richard Hill," was buried in St. 

         Phillips Parish on 21 July 1734.  Richard Hill Esquire, of 

         "Charles Town, Berkley County" made a will on 2 June 1746, 

         proven 3 April 1747. This refers to a marriage settlement 

         made with his late wife, Grace Farmer, for lands in Bear- 

         forest, called Carrigane Shonennberg, in the Parish of 

         Mallow, County Cork Ireland.  Reference is made also to the 

         land purchases of Robert Farmer Esq., and wife Grace, of the 

         city of Cork.  Richard appointed as his executors his son 

         Charles Hill, John Guerard and JACOB MOTTE.  Richard Hill 

         left his property to his sons Charles, Robert & William 

         Howell Hill and his nephew, Richard, son of brother in law 

         John Guerard. 



 

         REFERENCE TO CHARLESTON INFORMATION: Additional information 

         on Charleston shows that on 4 December 1751, a Littleton Hill 

         was buried. He was apparently a British Naval Officer. P.W. 

         Coldham's "English Estates of American Colonist," in the 

         Prerogative Court of Canterbury, 1700-1799, shows that in May 

         1752, administration on estate of Littleton Hill, widower, 

         late Lt. on the H.M.S. Scorpion, who died in S.C., was 

         granted to George Hill, uncle and guardian of the deceased 

         only child, also a Littleton Hill. Unfortunately it is not 

         clear from Coldham's abstract if the administrator was also a 

         resident of S.C. 

 

         REFERENCE TO #130.  Jonathan Hill was married to Margaret or 

         Miriam Hall, daughter of George Hall of Berkley County, and 

         Jonathan later moved into Craven County, Camden District. 

 

         In Berkley County S.C., will abstracts show a will of George 

         Hall, dated 24 Dec.  1753, proven 15 April 1754. It names as 

         heirs his wife Miriam, daughters Margaret & Miriam, and sons 

         Joseph, George & Thomas.  Executors were the testator's wife, 

         his SON IN LAW JONATHAN HILL, & Dr.  William Keith: Witnesses 

         were John Cannar, RICHARD (X) HILL and David Lafons. 

 

         Probate records shows that Jonathan Hill died in Camden 

         District. (Journal of the Court of Ordinary for 1771-75, page 

         72, by Holcomb, Probate Records for S.C., 2:47) we find a 

         citation granted to Joseph Kershaw to administer the estate & 

         effects of Jonathan Hill, late of Camden, as great creditor, 

         to be read in said Parish church of St. Marks. Dated 10th 

         Nov. 1772. (VERY IMPORTANT: Proof of this being the same Hill 

         Family that later moved to Camden District, is found in a 

         copy of the Bible Record that I have obtained, showing this 

         to be the same Thomas Hill that is the son of Jonathan Hill). 

         Thomas states he was born near Monks Corner, in Berkley 

         County S.C. Church Records of the LDS Church show that 

         Jonathan Hill had three sons: MOSES HILL, born 1749; THOMAS 

         b. 11 Nov.  1750 & JOSEPH, born 1752. I have been unable to 

         show a Moses Hill was a son of Jonathan Hill 

 

         **Reference to Thomas Hill, son of Jonathan and underlined 

         above:  Thomas Hill stated on his application that he lived 

         in Camden District S.C before, during and after the war. He 

         stated that he later moved to Kentucky, where he applied for 

         and received a pension ( Number S-31131) for his 

         Revolutionary War Service.  I have a copy of the Family Bible 

         of this Thomas Hill. 

 

         On his application though, Thomas Hill stated he was born 

         near Monks Corner (Berkley County) S.C. on 6th March 1758 

         (not 11 Nov 1750 as the LDS Church Records shows). Thomas 

         stated that he did indeed move to Camden District before the 

         war, lived there until after the war, then removed to 

         Kentucky. 



 

         Another thing of interest about the Will of George Hall, 

         (father in law of Jonathan Hill) is that it shows a Richard 

         Hill as a witness, proving that a Richard Hill was in the 

         area of Berkley County in 1753 as well as Jonathan Hill.  (Is 

         this Richard Hill the one that later moved into Fairfield 

         County of Camden District about 1760, and who was married 

         Dorcas Mobley?) 

 

         LDS Church Records shows also that a William Hill & Dorcas 

         Moberley (not the same as above) gave birth to a son, William 

         Hill in 1772 in Berkley County S.C.  Since it is known that 

         they also later lived in Fairfield County (Camden District), 

         it certainly adds support to the possibility that this could 

         be the place or origins of several of the Hill Families of 

         Fairfield County??? 

 

                 End of Andrea Report on Hill Families. 

 

END OF ADATA007 

 

END OF ADATA FILES. 

 

 

 

 


